# e - Society Journal Research and Applications

- - - - -

Volume 3 Number 2 December, 2012 E-society Journal

Research and applications Volume 3, Number 2, December 2012

ISSN 2217-3269 COBISS.SR-ID 255833863 **E-society Journal** Research and applications

#### **Publisher:**

University of Novi Sad Technical faculty "Mihajlo Pupin" Djure Djakovica bb, Zrenjanin, Serbia

#### **Editor:**

Miodrag Ivković University of Novi Sad Technical faculty "Mihajlo Pupin" Zrenjanin

CIP – Каталогизација у публикацији Библиотека Матице српске, Нови Сад

621.3 004.4

E-society Journal: research and applications / editor Miodrag Ivkovic. - Vol 3. No. 2 (dec. 2012) - . – Zrenjanin: University of Novi Sad, Technical faculty "Mihajlo Pupin", 2012-. – 25 cm

Dva puta godisnje. ISSN 2217-3269

COBISS.SR-ID 255833863

Printed by: PC centar Magus, Zrenjanin Printing: 50 copies Zrenjanin, 2012.

# Contents

| Information Systems Framework Synthesis on the Base of a Logical Approach<br>E.A. Cherkashin, V.V. Paramonov, R.K. Fedorov, I.N. Terehin, E.I. Pozdnyak, D.V. Annenkov   | 1   |
|--|-----|
| A metrics framework for measuring changeability of UML class diagrams<br>A. Pajić, S. Babarogić, S. Nešković   | 15  |
| Design, Implementation, and Evaluation of a Web-Based System for Alumni Data<br>Collection<br>Danijel Mijic  | 25  |
| <b>E-Business and Business Process Change in companies in the Republic of Macedonia</b><br>K. T. Blagoeva, S. Josimovski, M. Mijoska   | 33  |
| Importance of the Social Media and their Integration in the Internet Marketing<br>Strategies of the Companies<br>Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska, Zoran Janevski, Monika Angeloska Dichovska                                | 43  |
| Managing critical infrastructure for sustainable development in the<br>telecommunications sector in the Republic of Serbia<br>Nataša Gospić, Goran Murić, Dragan Bogojević   | 51  |
| Development of Multiplatform CMS System with Zend Framework<br>S. Vuković, M. Löberbauer, Z. Čović, M. Ivković   | 61  |
| Extraction of a Thesaurus and a Project Structure from Open-source Software GIT<br>Repository<br>A.Y. Sokolov, E.A. Cherkashin   | 69  |
| A Case Study from Iskratel: Improving the User Experience in a Telecommunications<br>Company<br>Emilija Stojmenova, Jože Guna, Dejan Dinevski, Matevž Pogačnik   | 77  |
| Simulating e-Commerce Client-Server Interaction for Capacity Planning<br>Ilija S. Hristoski, Pece J. Mitrevski   | 85  |
| Remote Visualization of Finite Element Calculation Results in Vascular Interventions<br>Decision Making<br>Milan R. Blagojević, Aleksandar V. Nikolić, Miroslav M. Živković, Milorad N. Živković, Goran<br>R. Stanković, | 95  |
| Use of information technology in hydrological analysis<br>M. Stojkovic, N. Milivojevic, Z. Stojanovic  | 105 |
| Energy-Efficiency Study of Power-Aware Software Applications<br>M. Marcu   | 117 |

# Information Systems Framework Synthesis on the Base of a Logical Approach

E.A. Cherkashin\*, V.V. Paramonov\*, R.K. Fedorov\*, I.N. Terehin\*\*, E.I. Pozdnyak\*\*\*, D.V. Annenkov\*\*\*

\* Institute of System Dynamics and Control Theory SB RAS, Irkutsk, Russia
 \*\* Institute of Mathematics, Economics and Informatics of Irkutsk State University, Irkutsk, Russia
 \*\*\* National Research Irkutsk State Technical University, Irkutsk, Russia

**Abstract**—We consider an approach to the information system framework synthesis. This approach implements OMG's Model Driven Architecture transformation on the base of combination of logical and imperative programming languages. Information system is modeled using UML Class Diagram. The transformation procedures are represented as rules and source code templates. The generated framework is a set of source code modules, which form libraries for further development. An example of approach application and further improvement of the transformation implementation are considered.

Keywords-Software engineering, MDA, Model-driven development, Code-generation.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Information systems (IS) at present are constructed on the base of a common scheme, where IS consists at least of the following three subsystems:

Most of the information systems also have analytical and report generation subsystems.

- 1) *Data Warehouse (Storage)* provides persistent data layer for program objects, storage formats, and productive access to the stored data.
- 2) *Application Control Layer*, which usually is referred to as business-logics layer; it is a domain object interaction model implemented as a program. The layer mainly realizes changing the warehouse data, providing the soundness with respect to domain.
- 3) *User Interface represents* stored and processed data for users and propagates events initiated by users to application control layer.

At present there are popular approaches used in construction of complex IS, rising development performance, namely

- 1) Component architectures and environments, which allow high code reuse,
- 2) Visual modeling of various aspects of the project under development followed by a code generation.

Complex environments such as SAP R/3, JavaBeans, EJB, CORBA, COM/DCOM/ActiveX, .Net are examples of the first approach. Their libraries include professional grade relatively abstract implementations of key subsystems. Developers combine and specify predefined behavior of the library modules to the problem domain. We consider that Rapid Application Development (RAD) systems belong to the component environments. Famous examples of RAD-systems are Borland Delphi/C++ and their contemporary derivatives, as well as Microsoft Visual Studio.

Visual modeling techniques, e.g. Computer Aided Software Engineering (CASE), allow one to deal with complex systems and projects, representing them as an abstract formalized model. CASE-systems use UML to model IS implemented in object-oriented programming and storage environments. CASE instrumental software has code generation routines to convert visual models into source code modules. Usually, the generation routines are mutually independent and represent a viewpoint of CASE-system manufacturer to the process of the visual model representation. There is no standard approach to user interface generation in popular CASE-systems.

Visual modeling is intended for takeover the complexity problem during software design and manufacturing, as well as it is a way of formalized communication between developers and customers. Model Driven Architecture (MDA) [1] is a further development of CASE-system aimed to provide solution for the following problems of IS development:

- 1) Rapid development of software construction technologies and programming techniques, results in frequent change of software development platforms and accumulation of legacy source and binary code.
- 2) Necessity to support a number of parallel versions of the software on various hardware platforms and operating systems; for example, most of popular Internet services have applications for mobile platforms (iOS, Android).
- Reuse of models and corresponding implementation source code in new projects, and accumulation of formalized knowledge on designing and implementation of IS subsystems.

Key concepts of MDA are CIM, PIM, PSM, and PDM. Computation Independent Model (CIM) reflects software's external requirements – its interfaces. CIM hides internal structural elements, and therefore can be used to define specifications and checking requirements. Platform Independent Model (PIM) is a model of the software reflecting most of the structural and some semantic aspects of the software, but this model contains no information about implementation of the structures on the target program architecture. UML Class Diagram, which is extended with some tag values and additional stereotypes, is a relatively common example of PIM. The extension (marking) allows one to denote implemented as a source code of the subsystems, e.g., it could be a physical structure of a relational database, which is directly (algorithmic or by means of code templates) translated into DDL SQL-requests.

MDA formalizes part of Software Life Cycle concept [2], which reflects a path from domain to results of implementation stage (see Fig.1). Initially an idea of a program is proposed. On the first step basic terms and functionality requirements are iteratively collected, which correspond to MDA's CIM. The next step is a requirements analysis, which results in forming a general project outline corresponding to PIM. The developer's design activity results in detailed system design, i.e., PSM, followed by the implementation stage of the software components.

MDA is a methodology for developing software by means of partial automatic source code generation of IS from visual models, so it can be considered as an approach to generative programming [3,4]. The main distinction from generic CASE-systems is that the code generation routines are not fixed and can be extended and adapted to the project requirements and developers' way of structures and functions implementation. It can, e.g., be adapted to describe even IS based on component architectures.

The transformation of the PIM into PSMs is carried out under control of a Platform Description Model (PDM). PDM contains information and algorithms of PIM's structure analysis and generation of corresponding data structures in PSMs. Sometimes PSM is understood as specific variant of PIM. The tag values and stereotypes are used to direct the transformation of PIM's structures into certain frames.

The aim of our research is to create a complex integrative MDA technology to support designers and programmers with flexible transformation technique, which is by nature adaptive to their peculiar way of software development. Especial interest for us is adaptation of the MDA to extreme and agile programming. This paper devoted to consider our experience of an approach to transformation implementation based on substantial use of a local language and rule-based inference systems.



Fig. 1. MDA reflects the Software Life Cycle

#### **II. TRANSFORMATION IMPLEMENTATION**

There are a number of approaches to the transformation implementation. Algorithmic approach, where all the transformation procedures are implemented with an imperative programming language; XSLT transformations allow to represent transformation as production rules; graph theory and graph transformation; usage of domain specific language [5]. We use logical approach to define transformation as a set of productions and a pattern-directed inference engine [6] and a transformation scenario.

```
class RulesMixing: # Set of patterns
  def rule_primitive_class(self, cls, oid, oidType):
    # figure out the basics of relation coding
    # in relational tables
    """ % this starts __doc__ string
    primitive_class(Cls, OIDAttr, OidType):-
        element(Cls, 'Class'),
```

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

```
\+stereotype(Cls, 'abstract'),
          stereotype(Cls, 'OODB'),
          \+internal only(Cls),
          stereotype(Cls, 'primitive'),
          attribute(Cls, OIDAttr),
          type(OIDAttr, OidType),
          stereotype(OIDAttr, 'OIDkey'),!.
       """ # this ends __doc__ string
      self.BASE CLASS = cls
       # we found the root of the class hierarchy
      self.BASE CLASS NAME = self.getName(cls)
      self.OID NAME= self.getName(oid)
       # attribute for object reference
      self.OID TYPE = self.coerceAttrType(oid, oidType)
       # choose a type for the object reference
      return self.BASE CLASS NAME, cls, oid,
             self.OID NAME
       # the values are passed to a for statement.
   def rule persistent class(self, cls):
       # a class is persistent if its instances
       # are to be stored and it is not a type.
       .....
      persistent class(Cls):-
          element(Cls, 'Class'),
          \+stereotype(Cls, 'abstract'),
          stereotype(Cls, 'OODB'), \+internal only(Cls).
       .....
       # this pattern has no body
   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
class SQLTranslator(Translator, RulesMixing): # a module
  # it generates SQL-script of database structure
  def genClass(self, cls):
       # Generate SQL-script for a class cls
      answer = [] # list of source lines
      if cls in self.generated: # is it already
          return answer # generated?
      for , parent in self.query('class parent',
          (cls, '#')): # generate all ancestors
       name=self.getName(cls)
                               # name of the class
      doc=cls.getDocumentation() # documentation
      if doc:
                                 # is it not empty?
          answer.append('/*\n%s\n*/' % doc)
      attribs = self.genSchema(cls)
       # generate table attributes
      if not self.isEmpty(attribs):
          answer.append("CREATE TABLE %s (" % name)
          answer.append(attribs) # table attributes
          answer.append(")%s;" %
              self.getTableType(cls))
      else:
```

```
print "The class has no attributes."
self.addFact("oodb_table('%s', '%s')" %
    (cls.getId(), name)) # assert conclusion
# on a relation of class to table
self.generated.append(cls)
return answer # return generated code
```

Method *genClass* is executed from outside for each answer *Cls* of *persistent\_class(Cls)* query. Structure of the base class, recognized by rule *rule\_primitive\_class*, greatly affects a way of object references representation of the rest of the relational database tables.

This approach has cumulative advantage over above mentioned techniques: expressive production-like transformation representation, powerful imperative and retrospection abilities of Python, existing template engines used in Python web frameworks, and it is a tool, which is not tied to specific set of development environments.

We develop a software designing technique for MDA based on multistage transformation of PIM into a PSM consisting of specific submodels (Fig. 1). To transform the UML models its XMI (XML Metadata Interchange) file is loaded. This format is a kind of XML, so DOM2 API is used to access PIM's structure. XMI is a standard data format supported by various proprietary and free software technologies and libraries. The DOM2 tree is translated into Prolog facts by means of requests from patterns. Object Constraint Language (OCL) expressions are extracted from PIM and represented as syntax trees.

At first a general reasoning about object structure is carried out, basic properties are recognized. Other modules use the reasoning results to refine implementation variants of synthesized program objects. Each module specifies PIM's structures with additional facts about existing structures and creates new objects and relations. For example, SQL database transformation module merges inherited abstract part of attributes to the class and generates table description on the base of the merge. The process is controlled by scenario represented as a list of leaf nodes to be executed.



Fig. 2 Architecture of transformation engine

If all nodes of the scenario are executed and all their solutions (queries) are satisfied and processed, then the set of all the facts in working memory defines PSM. The source code is generated on the base of obtained PSM. A generator module executes a query and fills in a source code template with query results.

Results of transformations and code generation are combined in object libraries. Objects from libraries are used in construction of business-logics of developed IS. Programmers supplement generated code by inheriting it in new classes. This approach partially solves the problem of generated source code modification by programmers.

The XMI file can contain not only the structure information, but also some semantic values for its elements. This information used to increase the control over the transformation procedure, in particular, for filtering information by using some criteria. UML have the following semantic definition language structures:

- 1) Stereotypes to create new elements of UML;
- 2) Tagged values to create properties for the elements;
- 3) Constraints to formally define logical constraints, invariant, pre- and postconditions for a method invocation.

Let us consider a simple example. Assume that there exists a class in an UML Class Diagram that has at least a string field *name*. If we mark the class with, e.g., «Reference Book» stereotype, then all many-to-one relations to the class can be interpreted in relational database context as many-to-one relation and corresponding tables, and reference fields *ID* are generated. Having recognized the stereotype and the relation, user interface generator can construct a widget and its controller (in sense of Model-View-Controller paradigm) to select appropriate record from the reference book and store the reference book *ID* in corresponding table and object. Now, the generated code in various subsystems is logically and mutually depended.

In order to adopt the transformation engine and its knowledge base to developer's instrumental software and technologies, one imports Python module, inherits and modifies its set of patterns and generation modules, specifies new module in scenario. In the application example in the following section we used inheritance to refine a generic SQL relational table transformation to specific properties of MySQL server.

# **III.** APPLICATION OF THE TECHNIQUE TO CONSTRUCT A FRAMEWORK OF AN INFORMATION SYSTEM IN MEDICINE

In 2005 we applied our transformation engine in the life cycle of medical IS named "Population cancer registry" development for recording cases of cancer incidence in Irkutsk Regional Oncology Center (hereafter hospital). The IS was to accumulate data on the cases happened in Irkutsk Region (Irkutsk Oblast). The territory is about 768 000 km<sup>2</sup>, and its population is about 2 500 000 people (2011); every year around 8000-9000 cases are recorded. The necessity of the development is dictated by Ministry of Health and Social Development of the Russian Federation by a corresponding directive in 1999.

Previous version of the IS was based on Microsoft Access'95 and designed as stand-alone applications with common server database developed since 1999. As in 2005 there were no high bandwidth channels to the hospitals subordinate clinics and oncology medical offices, as well as most of the offices were not connected to Internet at all, the input data came to the clinic as filled in printed forms by regular mail or with courier every month. Then all the forms

were recorded into database by stuff of organizational-methodical department of hospital. The IS and operating system peculiarities did not allow the usage of the system for medical doctors directly in their offices: response time of IS was very low and there were no obvious ways of overcoming that problem; the system had also closed proprietary design.

In that time Russian government began to support a number of programs of development, including digital medicine and communication channels quality and productivity improvement. In the same time Internet technologies and software as a service started to dominate on market; a number of open-source technologies become mature. Hospital and regional administration decided to realize new version of IS, which are to be the international platform of network infrastructure accumulating all oncology data streams from various medical information systems in the region. There was also financial support in amount of 10 400 euro for the initial state of the project.

Initial condition to the IS development was somewhat indefinite: there were a diversity of hardware and software (out-of-date personal computers and operating systems); structures of input documents though were approved by the above mentioned decree, but they were informal; there was a lack input data to required report forms; also there was no standard strategy of IS implementation as an application for user. In this situation we decided to organize development mostly on an abstract level, which would allow generating frameworks for randomly appeared new requirements.

As the UML editing tool we used Gentleware Poseidon for UML Community Edition v. 3. The IS's PIM was presented as the marked UML Class Diagram and contained more than 100 classes, interfaces and other auxiliary structures. PIM represented whole class/instance, records and enumeration structures. Most of the classes were marked by «OODB» stereotype to be stored in relational database MySQL-4.1 as objects. Some of the classes were marked as «Reference book». Records represented joined lists of attributes, which were included in class as a complex structural attribute (e.g. passport data), but stored in the same table as their class.



Fig. 3. Architecture of Population cancer register medical IS

Enumerations are structures, whose attributes used as constants in database, business logics code and user interface.

Attributes of classes were marked with various tag values. For example, tag value "name" denote a notation of the attribute in user interface forms, "index" (true or false) suggested to the transformation engine to add an index in database definition for the attribute; "index\_kind" (btree, hash, etc.) refined the variant of index engine; set of "widget:..." tag values controlled variants of attribute user interface representation. By means of the tag values we denoted the storing engines for persistent classes, grouping attributes on user interface forms, the layout was implemented manually.

As target platform the following software were chosen: Gentoo Linux OS; MySQL-4.1/5.1 with InnoDB and MySAM engines as relational database server; object-oriented Internet application framework Zope-2.7.3 and Python programming language as business-logic implementation environment; XML as data presentation format. Transformation engine has about ten modules; each module has about ten original (noninherited) rules. In Fig. 3 architecture of the IS is presented.

The constructed transformation system has generated a complete DDL script for database, representing all the classes as objects referring each other through object identifier OID and some of retrospection instance data (inheritance between classes); complete set of business-logics Zope objects represented as Zope folders with full support of contexts; complete flexible templates for object-relational layer between MySQL tables and Zope objects, the layer engine based on Zope SQL Methods; set of markup Zope Page Templates for the presentation format for export/import objects; template of Pascal language program for data export from previous version of IS; C-language efficient data importer from XML-representation; templates of input fields for user interface. For Zope objects we have also generated methods reflecting class-to-class relations, e.g., methods to get all tumor cases for a patient. The transformation engine has also generated the metadata, which used by Zope methods for special utility purposes. Our instrumental software has generated 91 tables for database and more than 8000 lines of source code. The kernel of the transformation engine and most of the rules was implemented in the context of the project for 3 human-months. The transformation cycles took about 1 minute.

The generated source code, methods and modules were integrated into IS with calling the code or inheriting it, so we could regenerate the framework without loss of later made changes of source code. Database data integrity supported manually and was periodically reimported from the database of the previous version. User interface was constructed manually from widgets, supplied by object's methods.

Using the MDA in this project we faced a number of problems. To the end of the design stage PIM occupied 4  $m^2$  and could be displayed only partially on the screen, some time was spent for periodical layout adjustment (location and color) of the model classes by their properties. Memory integrated YAP (Prolog) and Python transformation engine started to crash on big-size input PIM, we switched to less productive process- and stream-integrated version of the engine. Practicitioner programmers did not share our optimism about MDA usage: they preferred verbal form of modeling; they were forced to implement report generation subsystem. Some years later Gentleware decided to charge for new and all old versions of Poseidon for UML CE, but none of investigated free UML editors can load our model now.

At the end of the design stage we had almost functional IS supporting most of required function but it have somewhat ugly interface: medical stuff was too busy to help us with testing and refining. Presently the PIM is used on-site programmers as source information for recreation of production grade version on Django/PostgreSQL platform. Now the IS is used in the oncology hospital.

#### IV. CURRENT DEVELOPMENT OF THE TECHNIQUE

Further development of the technique is aimed at raising performance and expressive abilities of the transformation system, as well as its reliability. Main problem is that it is hard to provide efficient and in the same time sound integration of Prolog and Python: both systems have its memory management units but different memory management strategies. We decided to shift the system to use powerful expressive abilities of LogTalk Prolog [7] macro package supplying it with an imperative subsystem and a template engine. LogTalk is an object-oriented logic programming language that can use most Prolog implementations as a back-end compiler and inference engine. As a multi-paradigm object-oriented language, it includes support for prototype and class inheritance, protocols/interfaces descriptions, component-based programming through category-based composition, event-driven programming, and high-level multi-threading programming.

In the new implementation [8] of the transformation we take advantage of the same objectoriented hierarchical modular architecture as before, but set up another goal - to support transformation in both directions: from abstract PIM to source code and from the source code to abstract models. This should partially allow developers to

- modify generated source code and conserve changes, i.e., account them in PSM and PIM;
- 2) develop software on the various levels of abstraction;
- 3) accumulate libraries of complexes of models and their implementations as well as transformation modules.

The results of the investigation will be realized in a software development environment, integrating UML design software and source code IDEs. The integration engine is to be based on change propagation [9]: the modifications made are recognized by the environment and pushed to other utilities.

#### A. LogTalk transformation module example

Let's consider a code example written in the LogTalk programming language. We have the following interface class for access to the loaded XMI DOM2 tree. This class is used in Model class, that is a primarily recognize the model in XMI file.

Next code is an example of a transformation procedure

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

```
:- object(TransformToSQL(Class, Type) )
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
%Parametric object allows to customize some parameters
        database(Database) :-
                 parameter(1, Database).
        class(Class) :-
                parameter(2, Class).
        databasetype(DatabaseType) :-
                parameter(3, DatabaseType).
        gen sql(Name, Attributes, Output) :-
                 append ("CREATE TABLE", class::Name,
                         Output),
                 append(Output, ::gen attributes(
                         class::attributes,
                         Attributes), Output),
        append(Output, ::databasetype, Output).
 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
:-end object
```

Call to the gen\_sql method looks like TransformToSQL(Student, "Inno DB").

#### B. Change propagation

Definition of change propagation in [9] from the MDA pint of view can be interpreted as a way of transformation. Transformation engine compares two versions of PIMs, recognizes the difference and corrects PSM and source code in the corresponding points of change. The transformation approach uses specially stored links between objects from PIM and corresponding generated object in PSM. When an object changes or deleted its image in PSM traced by its link.

We suggest extending this idea to allow the propagation in both directions, including from PSM to PIM. This should results in the following additional advantages:

- 1) Record the stages of the development as complexes of abstract models and corresponding source code fragments;
- 2) Allow designers to transfer the model complexes between projects.

To deal with stated extension and planned features we proposed to apply the theory of systems of complexes (configurations), successfully used in geography research [10], to software life cycle, implying that the software development is a natural process. The theory shows how to represent model elements, relations between elements, transformations and links as complexes, as an element of a category. In [10] we shown that as the model complex and a change are elements of the same set of complexes, hence the change is expressed with the same language structures as the model complex. Similar arguments are true for transformation modules; they can transform both the model and its change.

Some practical examples have been found, like *diffutils* package of any Unix distribution, which demonstrate the investigation results. The package allows programmer figuring out the differences between two versions of a source code text file (*patch file*) and apply the *patch file* to the sources. The package contains two main utilities *diff* and *patch*. The first utility compares two ASCII or Unicode texts and produces a new text file with a representation of the difference between input files.

In this example shows that the difference is shown with the same ASCII or Unicode characters: the text is shifted by one character right so the first column became control column, where characters define a modification. The space character denotes a context of the text part under change. The minus character denotes part that to be removed, and plus character denotes the new text composition to be added into the context. As in one patch file the whole project change set can be stored, special format substrings "---" and "+++" are used to denote the particular files, and "@@" is used to denote general relative position of the first line of the context in the files.

Links from PIM to PSM express context of changes more precisely than patch file format, and allow back transformation engine to recognize the differences. We suggest using an intermediate text format between PSM and generated source code. This format reflects the links and also account that the generated source code in a general case is not a flat text anymore. The format can be constructed on the base of a D.Knuth's Literate programming [11] implementation. Literate program itself is a tagged tree representation of computer program, and those tags can be generated from PIM and PSM and reflect the links and abstract objects of the model. In opposite direction the changes of the source code now can be more precisely recognized having the tags at hand. There are well developed tangling and untangling algorithms (reverse direction), e.g. in [12].

#### C. UML plus BPMN

BPMN is a Business Process Model and Notation [13]. This notation is quite popular in the enterprise development, but it has no capabilities to deal with the structural presentation and modeling computer systems, so, it cannot override UML in this task. An example of a BPMN notation application is as follows (Fig. 4) [14]:



Fig. 4. BPMN diagram example.

The BPMN is well suited for creating a description of business processes. In our opinion, it is better than UML action diagrams, which is very complicated and not very useful. One can use the BPMN in business process describing, and it can be integrated with UML. In the future version of our tool, we will present the capabilities for processing the BPMN and to produce code from their model complex. Many open-source tools are capable to produce code, so we can adopt their approach into our engine of the code generation. Therefore, the main feature of the future version of our model transformation instrumental software under development is to produce code from both, UML and BPMN models of information system.

#### V. CONCLUSION

We have considered an existing implementation of transformation engine for Model Driven Architecture approach to software development in the case of information systems. The approach is based on mixing high level object-oriented programming language Python and logic language Prolog. The transformation is represented as network of modules. Each module carries on a subtransformation and implemented in a pattern-directed fashion. An example of application in medicine and further development of the system is considered.

One of the aims of the research is to construct a software development tools based on analogy. For example, having stores in a revision control systems all the states, models and stages of MDA software development as change complexes, it probably be possible to construct new sequence of differences for new original model.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research is supported by Russian Foundation of Basic Research, grant No 10-07-00051-a.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] D.Frankel. "Model driven architecture : applying MDA to enterprise computing". New York: Wiley, 2003.
- [2] Si Alhir. "Understanding the Model Driven Architecture (MDA)" URL: http://www.methodsandtools.com/archive/archive.php?id=5. (access date-29.09.2012)
- [3] M.M.Gorbunov-Posadov, "The way to grow a program", Open Systems Journal, 2000, N. 10, pp. 43–47. (in Russian) [English version URL: http://www.keldysh.ru/pages/softness/growE.htm (access date-29.09.2012)]
- [4] K.Czarnecki, U.Eisenecker. "Generative Programming: Methods, Tools, and Applications", Addison-Wesley, Reading, MA, USA, 2000. 864 p.
- [5] M.B.Kuznetsov. "UML Model Transformation and its Applications to MDA Technology", Programming and Computer Software, Russia, Vol.33, 2007, pp. 44-53.
- [6] I.Bratko. "Prolog Programming for Artificial Intelligence". Addison-Wesley pub. co. 1986, 423 p.
- [7] P.Moura "Logtalk: Design of an Object-Oriented Logic Programming Language". PhD thesis. Universidade da Beira Interior, 2003. [See also, "Logtalk. Open source object-oriented logic programming language". URL: http://logtalk.org/ (access date-29.09.2012)]
- [8] E. A. Cherkashin, S. A. Ipatov. "Logical Approach to UML-model processing of Informational Systems". Journal of Conterporary Techologies. System Analysis. Modelling. 2009. N 3 (23). pp. 91–97. (in Russian)
- [9] M. Alanen, I. Porres, "Change Propagation in a Model-Driven Development Tool," in Presented at WiSME part of UML 2004, 2004.
- [10] E.A.Cherkashin, V.V.Paramonov, et al, "Model Driven Architecture is a Complex System", E-Society Journal Research and Applications. Volume 2, Number 2, 2011, pp. 15-23.
- [11] D.E.Knuth. "Literate programming". The Computer Journal, 27(2), 1984, pp. 97-111.
- [12] E.K.Ream. "Leo's Home Page" URL: http://webpages.charter.net/edreamleo/front.html (access date-29.09.2012)
- [13] "BPMN 2.0 Specification URL: http://www.omg.org/spec/BPMN/2.0/ (access date-8.12.2012)
- [14] "BPMN 2.0 FTF: Examples Sub-Group" URL: http://www.omgwiki.org/bpmn2.0-ftf/doku.php?id=public:sub-teams:examples (access date-8.12.2012)

## A metrics framework for measuring changeability of UML class diagrams

#### A. Pajić, S. Babarogić, S. Nešković University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Belgrade, Serbia

**Abstract**— The growing attention on modeling in software development calls for establishment of quality frameworks and metrics at all levels. The paper addresses the issue of quality model metrics in an early stage, focusing on changeability goal as ability of model to evolve rapidly and continuously. We propose a comprehensive flexible metrics framework, consisting of several model characteristics, capable to adjust to a number of modeling purposes. The framework defines complexity as a key quality characteristic which affects model changeability, viewed as one of modeling purposes. Our approach is illustrated through case studies of UML class diagrams from the practice, measuring corresponding complexity metrics. The first results indicate that degree of model changeability closely depends upon different kind of relationships among classes. The paper points out the necessity of assessing the quality of models built at the very beginning of software design in order to get high quality software artifacts.

Keywords- changeability goal, metrics framework, quality model, UML class diagrams

#### I. INTRODUCTION

In today's changing and competitive business environment, organizations are in a constant struggle to obtain dominance in the market. Aware of the fact that information systems and technologies are one of the most dominate technology in the world, they invest substantial financial resources for delivering quality software as their competitive advantage.

The growing attention on modeling in software development has subsequently brought the quality of models in forefront. As a new paradigm, Model-Driven Software Engineering (MDSE) emphasizes the usage of models as primary artifacts when specifying, developing, analyzing, verifying and managing software systems. Models are expected to get more complex with time and their dynamic adaptation to everyday changing environment would be one of the most difficult challenges developers have to face. Therefore, there are a lot of concerns in regard to the quality of models.

Delivering high quality software in an economic way requires control measurements over the products in all stages of its life cycle. It is well known that, in order to develop high quality software system, the focus should be on measuring the quality of the models built at the very beginning of software design and analysis. As B. Boehm pointed out, unwanted complexity and problems in the artifacts produced in the initial stages have significant impacts on cost to detect and solve them in later stages of development [1]. This observation encourages the assessment of software products in an earlier stage and the paper will be addressing this issue.

In this study we focused on UML class diagrams, the tool for conceptual modeling, as a key artifact of business understanding and clarity. The basic question to be answered is what metric for UML class diagrams can help to assess the quality of early designs. We want to investigate existing metrics, in order to measure quality characteristics which have significant impact on the changeability as today's key model quality goal.

First, literature overview presents the scope of the work done in defining quality

frameworks and modeling goals in software engineering. Section 3 presents the interpretation of model quality characteristics through multiple perspectives in IT balanced scorecard framework with focus on future growth perspective. It provides a clear overview of model quality goals as a good basis for defining relevant metric in evaluating changeability. Section 4 examines existing metrics and contains an overview of UML class diagrams metrics regarding model complexity and size. A basic formula for measuring model complexity is given in section 5. In the conclusion, we discuss research outcomes and ideas for future work.

#### **II. LITERATURE REVIEW**

The problem of determining software metrics for UML class diagrams is receiving a growing attention. Until now, the greatest number of papers has been focused on defining quality frameworks and comparison of several metrics for class diagrams on complexity, while only a small number of them performed empirical and conceptual studies on the mentioned topic.

The quality of a model can be considered from many different perspectives. Models on different levels of abstraction and different viewpoints have specific quality goals. Claxton and McDougal have come to conclusion that assessing the quality of anything means measuring the right things in the right way, based on its future role and purpose. They highlighted the fact that quality model evaluation has to be based on the stakeholders' needs [2]. In this context quality model is defined as "the set of characteristics and relationships between them, which provides the basis for specifying quality requirements and evaluating quality" by ISO/IEC 14598 international standard. In the literature there are many proposed quality models oriented to set of characteristics of software quality and ISO 9126 is the one commonly used [3]. Therefore, measurements defined for quality of model should be related to specific quality goals.

Parastoo Mohagheghi, Vegard Dehlen and Tor Neple identified six basic quality goals of models widely used in literature for building high quality models. The most important goals for measuring the quality of models have been identified as correctness, completeness, consistency, comprehensibility, confinement and changeability. These quality goals focus on the quality of models describing the system [4].

The further subject of this research will be a review of existing metrics, model quality characteristics and their assignment to four different perspectives using IT balanced scorecard tool.

#### **III. MODEL QUALITY SPECIFICATION**

The multi-view and multi-abstraction level development approach means that each of the diagrams and abstraction levels might require specific quality goals and metrics. "Research on quality in MDE should take into account the various modeling purposes, relations of purposes to quality goals and the dependencies or conflicts between them" is the point that Mohagheghi and Dehlen highlight in their work [3].

Following ISO 9126, the quality model presented by Lange and Chaudron, consists of a set of quality attributes where similar are grouped into a same quality characteristic. They examined the relationship between purposes of modeling and model characteristics, showing influences of lower level concepts on the higher level. This quality model takes two uses into account: maintainability and development. For each phase some modeling purposes are defined and quality characteristics are related to each purpose. In Fig. 1 we can see how these two variables are connected. These characteristics are further related to metrics [5].

The field of research of this paper is the quality of conceptual models, which should be understandable for external stakeholders but not necessarily detailed. Therefore we propose a comprehensive framework for performance evaluation, the IT Balanced Scorecard (IT BSC), through which the vision and strategy of an organization are transformed into a set of strategic objectives and performance measures [6]. Looking through multiple perspectives on the problem we get clear overview of the goals and characteristics as a good basis for defining useful metrics. The originally defined concept of IT BSC, intended for profit organizations, does not fully suit the needs of software models and it is necessary to adapt balanced scorecard to corresponding stakeholders and business perspectives. The original IT BSC model is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 1 Model Quality



Fig. 2 IT Balanced Scorecard

Regarding model quality we introduce the following four perspectives: software designer perspective, client perspective, resource perspective and future growth perspective. The adapted IT BSC model with assigned model characteristics is shown in Fig. 3. Comprehensive analysis of characteristics shows that number of them has influence on more than one perspective goal since they are highly interconnected.

In environments, where business needs and requirements are frequently changed, the priority is to create a model with capability to evolve rapidly and continuously. Significant impact of complexity characteristics on modification purpose is shown on the presented quality model in Fig. 1. Further on we will focus on the changeability goal, covered by future growth perspective in IT BSC, addressing the question how to measure the level of model flexibility to changes.

#### **IV. EXISTING MODEL METRICS**

Today, a growing number of companies is using UML as a common language for their project artifacts and has adopted UML as their organization's standard. Need for measuring their characteristics has arisen, particularly for concrete UML class diagrams as the most important structural models. UML class diagrams play important role in the conceptual modeling phase and their quality can have a significant impact on the overall quality of the system.

Bearing in mind that what we measure and why we measure differs between models and source code, we thoroughly analyzed the existent measures that could be applied to class diagrams at the high level design stage. Although there is a number of metrics and rules in literature, a lack of studies that analyze the quality characteristics of UML class diagrams model on high conceptual level can be noted. Classification of model metrics detected in literature so far can be found in state of the art analysis regarding model metrics [7]. Beside model size and design metrics, a few model-specific metrics related to comprehensibility of models have also been discovered. A case study conducted by Genero *et al.* is one of the rare studies on this topic, where emphasis is given to the size and structural complexity of metrics of class diagrams in order to observe if any connection exits between the complexity and size of UML class diagrams and their maintainability. It confirms substantial correlation between complexity as independent variable and external characteristics of maintainability: understandability and modifiability. The obtained results show that the metrics related to associations, aggregations, generalizations and dependencies, are the most relevant [8].

Concerning these results we can conclude that the changeability quality goal also depends on complexity and size characteristics of a model. Thus we will use presenting metrics in Fig. 4 for overall calculation, where we exclude Number of Methods (NM) and Number of Dependencies (NDep) metrics since they are not suitable for class diagrams on conceptual level. On the other hand, we need to take into account association class element of UML class diagrams, so Number of Association Classes (NAssocC) metric is introduced.

| SOFTWARE DESIGNER PERSPECTIVE             | CLIENT PERSPECTIVE                                     |
|---|--|
| Complexity<br>Modularity                  | Correspondence<br>Completeness                         |
| Consistency<br>Precisions<br>Detailednees | Self-Descriptiveness<br>Communicativeness<br>Esthetics |
| Balance                                   |  |
| <b>RESOURCE PERSPECTIVE</b>               | FUTURE GROWTH PERSPECTIVE                              |
| Complexity                                | Complexity   |
| Completeness                              | Modularity   |
| Detailedness                              | Correspondence   |
| Precisions                                |  |

Fig. 3 IT Balanced Scorecard for model characteristics

#### V. RESEARCH RESULTS

Very few empirical studies available on the Internet have been done to measure complexity of models from the practice, in order to assess their ability of adjustments to everyday changes in requirements. For the purpose of examining this quality characteristic, the following relevant case studies were set. In corporation with our industrial partners we conduct research on three existing conceptual models. The models are from different companies with the same domain. They cover supplying and warehousing functions and differ little in model size, which depends on business processes and documents types of each company.

|  | METRIC DESCRIPTION  |
|--|---|
| Number of Classes (NC)                       | The total number of classes.  |
| Number of Attributes (NA)                    | The total number of attributes.   |
| Number of Associations (NAssoc)              | The total number of association relationships.  |
| Number of Generalizations (NGen)             | The total number of generalization relationships, each "parent-child" pair.   |
| Number of Aggregations (NAgg)                | The total number of aggregation relationships, each "whole-part" pair.  |
| Number of Association Classes (NAssocC)      | The total number of association classes.  |
| Number of Generalization hierarchies (NGenH) | The total number of generalization hierarchies.   |
| Number of Aggregation hierarchies (NAggH)    | The total number of aggregation hierarchies (whole-part structure).   |
| Maximum DIT (MaxDIT)                         | Maximum DIT ( <i>Depth of Inheritance Tree</i> ) value<br>obtained for each class. The DIT value for the class<br>within a generalization hierarchy is the longest path<br>from the class to the root of the hierarchy. |
| Maximum HAgg (MaxHAgg)                       | Maximum HAgg value obtained for each class. The<br>HAgg value for class within an aggregation hierarchy is<br>the longest path from the class to the leaves.  |

Fig. 4 UML class diagram size and structural complexity metrics

As the basis for measuring complexity of class diagrams on conceptual level, we use appropriate metrics proposed by others which are selected and improved in this paper. Not all of existing metrics are suitable for this level of abstraction and we want to emphasize this fact. As already mentioned, number of methods in class and total number of dependency relationships are beyond the scope of our research. The key elements of class diagram are classes and relations. Essentially, there are three types of relationships: association, generalization and aggregation. They differ in dependency between the classes and therefore it is important to distinguish complexities of different kind of relationships.

Moreover we must not neglect aggregation and generalization hierarchy, which greatly affects the quality of model. On the other hand, aggregation class element plays an important role in model complexity and is necessary to be a part of our metrics framework. Obtained results for each model are shown in Table I.

From discussion above it is obviously that selected metrics have different influence on the overall model complexity degree. Different degree of their influence has to be concerned. Comparing complexity between metrics leads to characterize them by different weights specified by software decision makers. The reliance on experts' decision is considered very efficient in case of various decision making situations. Expert or group of experts assigns weights to indicators before aggregating them into a composite indicator. Weights should reflect importance of each indicator on composite one. Based on our experience and knowledge we evaluated metrics importance and weights that are presented in Table II.

|                                      | Case study 1 | Case study 2 | Case study 3 |
|--------------------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|
| Number of Classes                    | 26           | 31           | 20           |
| Number of Attributes                 | 119          | 83           | 85           |
| Number of Associations               | 28           | 17           | 28           |
| Number of Aggregations               | 13           | 7            | 7            |
| Number of Generalizations            | 0            | 10           | 0            |
| Number of Association Classes        | 0            | 3            | 4            |
| Number of Generalization Hierarchies | 0            | 3            | 0            |
| Number of Aggregation Hierarchies    | 10           | 6            | 5            |
| Maximum DIT                          | 0            | 1            | 0            |
| Maximum Aggregation Hierarchy        | 2            | 2            | 2            |

TABLE I Obtained Metrics Value Per Case Study

TABLE II EVALUATING METRICS WEIGHTS

| Metrics | NC  | NA  | NAssoc | NAgg | NGen |
|---------|-----|-----|--------|------|------|
| Weights | 0.6 | 0.2 | 1      | 1.4  | 1.6  |
|         | 0.0 |     | -      |      |      |

| Metrics | NAssocC | NAggH | MaxDIT | MaxHAgg | NGenH |
|---------|---------|-------|--------|---------|-------|
| Weights | 1.4     | 1.2   | 1.1    | 1.1     | 1.2   |

The idea is to introduce a flexible measuring framework which will be able to adjust to a number of modeling purposes and case studies by software design experts. No matter which method is used, weights are essentially value judgments and have the property of underlying different effects in the construction of a composite [9], [10].

Finally the outcome illustrates higher complexity of first model in comparison to other two. Lack of generalization relationships and association classes in first model does not seem to be important here. On the other hand, it makes the difference between second and third model although third model contains greater number of association relations. Therefore, a significant role in overall complexity is also played by number of associations. Despite our belief that they cause the lowest dependency between the classes, in large numbers their impact can be crucial for changeability feature. It should be noted that first model has almost twice more aggregation relationships than others. As we expected slightly variances in model size do not seem to be essential for determining complexity characteristic.

Brief analyses of obtained metrics value verify the importance of dependency level between the classes as the key factor to define complexity, having significant impact on model future growth perspective. Degree of changeability closely depends upon relationships among classes.

We use the following formula to obtain complexity characteristic value:

$$C_j = \sum M_i W_i. \tag{1}$$

Where:  $C_j$ = complexity characteristic value of individual conceptual model,  $M_i$ = metric value,  $W_i$ = weight assign to the concrete metric.

Here we show the final results of our research.

|    | MODEL C      | COMPLEXITY CALCULATION | N            |
|----|--------------|------------------------|--------------|
|    | Case study 1 | Case study 2           | Case study 3 |
| Cj | 99.8         | 96.3                   | 80.6         |

TABLE III IODEL COMPLEXITY CALCULA

#### VI. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK

In this paper, we analyzed quality frameworks and UML class diagram metrics based on existing literature, providing some initial observations on quality goals through IT balanced scorecard tool. The model covers all of the aspects that influence the quality of conceptual model, underlying changeability goal as essential in software engineering today.

The main contribution of this work is reflecting through the findings obtained from industrial models. The existing metrics regarding complexity of UML class diagrams were examined from different viewpoints, adjusted to conceptual level and different weights in participating in overall calculation of model complexity assigned to metrics. Considering previous results of structural complexity and size metrics as good predictors of understandability and modifiability model characteristics [8] and based on our findings, we can make final conclusion that degree of model changeability closely depends upon its complexity, particularly upon relationships among classes.

Despite a few number of industrial models applied here, the paper could be a good starting point for further research and case studies. Further steps in this research would be the improvement of overall complexity calculation, the inclusion of other quality characteristics and metrics which are important for assessing changeability quality goal, as well as the determination of each individual characteristics influence degree on final composition with observation of their mutual dependency.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Research presented in this paper was supported by Ministry of Science and Technological Development of Republic of Serbia, Grant III-44010, Title: Intelligent Systems for Software Product Development and Business Support based on Models.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] B. Boehm, "Software Engineering Economics," Prentice Hall, October 1981.
- [2] J. C. Claxton and P. A. McDougall, "Measuring the Quality of Models," In: The Data Administration Newsletter (TDAN.com), http://www.tdan.com/i014ht03.htm, visited on March 17 (2012).
- [3] P. Mohagheghi, and V. Dehlen, "Developing a Quality Framework for Model-Driven Engineering," Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 5002/2008, pp. 275-286, 2008K. Elissa, "Title of paper if known," unpublished.

- [4] P. Mohagheghi, V. Dehlen, and T. Neple, "Towards a Tool-Supported Quality Model for Model-Driven Engineering," presented at 3<sup>rd</sup> Workshop on Quality in Modeling, Co-located with MODELS 2008, Toulouse, France, 2008.
- [5] C. F. J. Lange, and M. R.V. Chaudron, "Managing Model Quality in UML-based Software Development," presented at 13th IEEE International Workshop on Software Technology and Engineering Practice (STEP'05), Budapest, Hungary, 2005.
- [6] W. Van Grembergen, "The Balanced Scorecard and IT Governance," published in Proceedings of the 2000 information resources management association international conference on Challenges of information technology management in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, 2000.
- [7] P. Mohagheghi and V. Dehlen, "Existing Model Metrics and Relations to Model Quality", published in WOSQ'09 Proceedings of the Seventh ICSE conference on software quality, IEEE Computer Society Washington, DC, USA, 2009.
- [8] M. Genero, E. Manso, A. Visaggio, G. Canfora, and M. Piattini, "Building measure-based prediction models for UML class diagram maintainability," Empirical Software Engineering, vol. 12, number 5, 2007, pp. 517-549.
- [9] E. U. Choo, B. Schoner and W.C. Wedley, "Interpretation of criteria weights in multicriteria decision making," Computers & Industrial Engineering 37,1999, pp. 527-541.
- [10] V. Vassilev, K. Genova, M. Vassileva, "A Brief Survey of Multicriteria Decision Making Methods and Software Systems," Cybernetics and Information Technologies, Vol. 5, No 1, Sofia, 2005, pp. 3-13.

## Design, Implementation, and Evaluation of a Web-Based System for Alumni Data Collection

#### Danijel Mijic

Faculty of Electrical Engineering, University of East Sarajevo, East Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

**Abstract**— Most standards for quality assurance in higher education area demand establishing and maintaining connections between higher education institutions and their stakeholders. For assessing quality of academic programmes and introducing changes and innovations into curricula connections to alumni are of special interest. Alumni employment rates and job position listings are useful indicators of quality of the institution and could be used for different purposes, like attracting prospective students and business partners. This paper presents the design and implementation of a web-based system that is used as an efficient tool for communication between higher education institution and its graduated students, and for collecting and analysis of alumni related data that could be used for different purposes, including improvement of academic programmes. The system was designed and implemented at the Faculty of Electrical Engineering East Sarajevo. Evaluation of the system performance showed good results in terms of data collected and attitudes of alumni with regard to introduction and use of the system.

Keywords-alumni, data collection, educational quality, web portal.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Maintaining connections to all relevant stakeholders is a requirement usually introduced by standards for quality assurance (QA) in higher education. European standards for internal QA in higher education demand significant role of students, graduated students, employers, labour market and other relevant stakeholders in the QA process [1]. Establishing and maintaining connections to these stakeholders enables getting valuable feedback that could be used for many purposes. One of the main uses of alumni and employer feedback is for analysis of quality of academic programmes and adapting curricula to new demands of labour market [2], [3]. This is especially significant in engineering education, where things are continually changing and new technologies are frequently introduced [4]. Graduate employment ratio and feedback from employers that are hiring new graduates could be useful indicators of an academic programme quality [5], [6]. Beside the quality assurance dimension, establishing and maintaining connections to alumni provides many other benefits to higher education institutions (HEIs), to their students, as well as to alumni. Alumni stakeholder group is considered as one of the most significant resources that HEIs have nationally and internationally because of the potential value they can add to HEIs [7]. The added value is not just a financial nature, but also includes enhanced social interaction, networking and knowledge sharing, promotion of an institution and participation in its strategic development.

A significant body of research deals with various aspects of using alumni feedback in higher education [2]-[10]. However, a limited amount of research is concerned with information technology supported means for alumni data collection [2], [7], [8]. In [11], graduate tracking systems (GTSs) were analyzed in 10 countries around the world in terms of their owners, objectives, and used methodology. Most GTSs at national level are used to provide information to policy makers, while almost all of them are also used for providing

information to universities for use in analysis and improvement of academic programmes. Most GTSs use paper-based or electronic surveys for surveying all students who have graduated in specific year. The methods of collecting alumni related data are mostly based on alumni surveys that are conducted within several years after graduation. Contact information from alumni databases or university career services are usually used for sending surveys to potential participants. In case when the information are out-of-date, or where alumni databases and career services do not exist, various methods are used for collecting alumni contact information, ranging from manual search for names on search engines [9], to harvesting LinkedIn alumni profiles [10]. Most of the related works were concerned on how the data collected from alumni could be used for improvement of academic programmes and institutions. Some of them were concerned with how the data could be collected. Many problems exist in alumni data collection process, mostly related to availability and accuracy of contact information of potential survey participants, as well as to efficiency and effectiveness of the process. This paper presents a web-based system that could be used to address some of the mentioned problems.

The Internet and Web facilitated communication giving the institutions possibility to easily reach their audience, disseminate relevant information and to retrieve feedback. Having this in mind, a web-based graduate tracking system was developed at the Faculty of Electrical Engineering East Sarajevo (FEE) in order to try solving the problem of missing connections between the institution and its stakeholders [3]. Main goals of the system were to create a human and professional network and to encourage all the stakeholders, at first the alumni group, to register their contact and employment information. The system was also intended to provide efficient means of communication between the alumni, and between the alumni and the institution. After the initial design of the system, that was presented earlier in [3], the system was improved with additional features providing advanced communication and alumni tracking features, as well as interoperability with other systems. This paper presents the design, implementation, and performance evaluation of the system. Although the proposed system has many features common to similar alumni tracking systems (e.g. alumni directory, alumni search), it offers some distinctive features such as significantly different approach in collection of alumni contact and employment data, integration with today's popular social networking sites, extraction of various reports that could be used for direct support to QA at HEIs, and interoperability with proprietary university information systems.

#### **II. SYSTEM DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION**

Main functions of the system are collection of alumni contact data, collection and analysis of employment data (e.g. employment ratio, average time of waiting for the first employment), collection and analysis of feedback from alumni using built-in survey module, and providing efficient means of communication between alumni and HEIs. Users of the system are alumni, university quality assurance and management staff, as well as other unregistered users in role of web site visitors. Most of the data is entered into the system by registered alumni users within their profiles. Personal data contained in alumni records is confidential and secured by appropriate security mechanisms. Unregistered users have limited access to data. Registered users are able to access more information, depending on their role and privacy settings in the alumni profiles. Architecture of the system is presented in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1 System architecture

#### A. Main functionalities of the system

Main functionalities of the system are separated into several groups: collecting alumni contact and employment data, reporting based on the collected data, collecting additional feedback from alumni using built-in survey module, and collaboration with other systems.

Alumni contact and employment data are stored within alumni profile. Alumni profile contains personal information, contact information, educational and employment information of each graduate. Alumni profiles could be generated in two ways. One way is to use existing data from the university information system and to automatically populate alumni profiles with personal and educational information. The other way is to create alumni profile manually during the alumni registration process. After initial creation of alumni profile, alumni are regularly reminded to update their contact and employment information.

Based on the collected personal and employment data, the system provides a number of listings and reports. Some of them are available to public, like alumni and job directories in textual and graphical form (Google Maps), while others are available only to registered users (e.g. employment statistics). An illustration of employment statistics screen is shown in Fig. 2.

#### A. Survey module

In order to automate collection of additional feedback from alumni, a special survey module was designed. This module enables users to easily create custom survey, distribute invitation to participants, collect, present and optionally export results of the survey for later use or analysis in other software (e.g. Excel or SPSS). A number of options is available for creating surveys, such as defining questions of different types, defining custom answering scales, setting date and time limits, security options, etc. A screenshot of the online survey form created by the survey module is shown in Fig. 3. Survey results are available in textual and simple graphical form (Fig. 4).

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

| ere ALTRIS - ETF Alumni baza · ×                                      |   |                          | - 0                |
|---|---|--------------------------|--------------------|
| Alumni baza<br>Elektrotehnički<br>Univerzitet u Istočno               | fakultet<br>om Sarajevu                         | ĺ                        | 11 262 -           |
| Naslovna Diplom   | ci Poslovi Kontakt                              | Ankete Admin             | Odjava [mdanije]   |
| Poslovi<br>Aktivni poslovi<br>Svi poslovi<br>Pretraga<br>Mapa poslova | Statistika<br>• Prosječno vrijeme čekanja n     | a prvi posao             |                    |
| Statistika  | Ukupno<br>Vrijeme čekanja [mjesec]              |                          | Broi diplomaca     |
| ∎≙ 50   | 1.73  |                          | 81                 |
| R Send  | Po studijskim programima                        |                          |                    |
|   | Studijski program                               | Vrijeme čekanja [mjes    | ec] Broj diplomaca |
|   | Racunarstvo i informatika                       | 0.02                     | 15                 |
|   | Elektroepergetika                               | 2.73                     | 30                 |
|   | Po godinama diplomiranja<br>Godina diplomiranja | Vrijeme čekanja [mjesec] | Broj diplomaca     |
|   | 2011  | 6.6                      | 5                  |
|   | 2011<br>2010                                    | 6.6<br>-2.28             | 5 11               |

Fig. 2 Employment statistics showing average time of waiting for the first employment after graduation

#### B. Collaboration with other systems

Collaboration with other systems is mostly performed by REST (Representational State Transfer) web services. The system is capable to import data from other systems, as well to export data for use in other systems. For importing alumni data from existing university information systems, the system acts as a web service consumer. The web service is expected to return JSON formatted result. For export of data, the system exposes a set of web services. The web services were easily created using CakePHP rapid application development framework features that enable returning various representations of resources (e.g. JSON, XML).

A widespread of social networking tools is evident in last decade, no matter if they were used at workplace, at home or at university [12], [13]. HEIs widely use social networks to interact with students, teaching staff and community [13]. For this reason, the proposed system is also integrated with some popular social networking sites and email providers. For registered users it is possible to use an existing Facebook, Google or Windows Live account to log into the system. Integration with the mentioned systems was done using appropriate APIs available for these systems and following the OAuth 2.0 authentication and authorization protocol. Beside remote authentication, the system provides automated distribution of selected information (posts, news, events) to Facebook users who have 'liked' the system web page. E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

|   |  |                                  |  | _                                  | _                            |
|---|--|----------------------------------|--|------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| C http://alumni.etf.unssa.ns.ba/surveys/survey/5ey2ek84v5/550e97flv5  |  |                                  |  |                                    |                              |
|   |  |                                  |  |                                    |                              |
| Anketa  |  |                                  |  |                                    |                              |
| trana 1/3   |  |                                  |  |                                    |                              |
|   |  |                                  |  |                                    |                              |
| Drocionite u kolal mlari ce clažeta ca navedenim turdnjama vezanim za   | Uopšte   | Uglavnor                         | n Ne mogu                                    | Uglavnom                           | Potpuno                      |
| održavanje kontakata i saradnju sa ETF-om   | slažem<br>1  | slažem<br>2                      | procijenim<br>3                              | slažem<br>4                        | slažem<br>5                  |
| Zainteresovan/zainteresovana sam za održavanje kontakata i saradnju sa fakultetom   | 0  | 0                                | 0  | 0                                  | 0                            |
| Želim da pomognem fakultetu u unapređenju kvaliteta studijskih programa i njihovom .<br>osavremenjavanju u skladu sa aktuelnim dostignućima u struci  | 0  | 0                                | 0  | 0                                  | 0                            |
| Ukoliko ste zainteresovani za saradnju sa ETF-om, odaberite vidove saradnje k<br>dučeće u anketama koje povremeno sprovodi fakultet<br>svjetovanje pri izradi studijskih programa, nastavnih planova i programa<br>obezbijedivanje stručne prake za studente fakulteta u instituciju i u jogi radm  | oji su var   | n prihva                         | tljivi                                       |                                    |                              |
| Ukoliko ste zainteresovani za saradnju sa ETF-om, odaberite vidove saradnje J<br>deštću u anietama koje povremeno sprovodi fakultet<br>avjetovanje pri izradi studjskih programa, nastavnih planova i programa<br>i programa u programa straniteri programa, nastavnih planova i programa<br>i prodenje laboratorijskih rezultati i programa<br>i prodenje laboratorijskih rezultati fakultet i<br>i prodenje laboratorijskih sakultet im pristup<br>i poslobnje sponzorstiva za konferencije i druge skupove koje organizuje fakulte   | oji su var<br>t  | n prihva                         | tljivi                                       |                                    |                              |
| Ukoliko ste zainteresovani za saradnju sa ETF-om, odaberite vidove saradnje k   | o <b>ji su va</b> r<br>t<br>Uopšte<br>se ne<br>slačen<br>1 | Uglavnor<br>se ne<br>slažem<br>2 | tijivi<br>n Ne mogu<br>da<br>procijenim<br>3 | Uglavnom<br>se<br>slažem<br>4      | Potpuno<br>se<br>slaže       |
| Ukoliko ste zainteresovani za saradnju sa ETF-om, odaberite vidove saradnje k<br>obeće u anketama koje povremeno sprovodi fakultet<br>sojetovanje pri izradi studjskih programa, nastavnih planova i programa<br>obećbjeđavaje stručne prake za studente fakulteta<br>i oničanje laboratnjskih resura fakulteta<br>i oničanje laboratnjskih resura fakulteti ma pristup<br>obečbjeđavaje sponzorstva za konferencije i druge skupove koje organizuje fakulte<br>procijenite u kojoj mjeri se slažete sa navedonim tvrdnjama vezanim za<br>drustvene aktivnosti i formiranje udruženja diplomiranih studenata ETF-a<br>(alumni asocijacije)<br>Smatram da bi diplomci ETF-a trebali više da se druže i međuzobno saraduju  | t<br>Uopšte<br>slažem<br>1                                 | Uglavnon<br>se ne<br>slažem<br>2 | tijivi<br>n Ne mogu<br>da<br>procijeni<br>3  | Uglavnom<br>se<br>slažem<br>4      | Potpuno<br>Se<br>slažem<br>S |
| Ukoliko ste zainteresovani za saradnju sa ETF-om, odaberite vidove saradnje k<br>odaće u anketama koje povremeno sprovodi fakultet<br>sojetovanje pri izradi studjskih programa, nastavnih planova i programa<br>obezbijeđivanje stručne prake za studente fakulteta<br>i oničanje i laboratnjskih resura fakulteta<br>i oničanje i laboratnjskih resura fakulteta<br>i obezbijeđivanje sponzorstva za konferencije i druge skupove koje organizuje fakulteta<br>procijenite u kojoj mjeri se slažete sa navnđenim tvrdnjama vezanim za<br>društvene aktivnosti i formiranje udruženja diplomiranih studenata ETF-a<br>(atumni asocijacije)<br>Smatram da bi diplomci ETF-a trebali više da se druže i međusobno saraduju<br>ukoliko se u narednom periodu potrene incijativa za formiranje alumni asocijacije,<br>potrželu incijetnu prati čina socijacije | t<br>Uopšte<br>se ne<br>slažem<br>1<br>O                   | Uglavnor<br>se ne<br>slažem<br>2 | ttjivi<br>da<br>procijenim<br>3<br>0         | Uglavnom<br>se<br>slažem<br>4<br>O | Potpuno<br>se<br>slaže<br>O  |

#### Fig. 3 Online survey form



Fig. 4 Survey results in textual and graphical form

#### C. Implementation

The system was implemented on a common open-source LAMP (Linux, Apache, MySQL,

PHP) platform using CakePHP rapid application development framework. The CakePHP framework is used for development of web applications based on MVC (Model-View-Controller) pattern. Client-side scripts are used at a view level for validation of input on the client-side and for improving look-and-feel of the user interface to the system. A publically available jQuery Javascript library is used for handling events and improving functionality of user interface elements, like calendars and auto complete drop-down lists. Another important component that is used at the view level is Google Maps Javascript API. Views that display pages with maps are using Google Maps Javascript API for displaying Google Map inside the page, placing markers at desired locations and for handling user generated events on the maps. Maps are used for displaying alumni residence and job locations, and for selecting exact locations of residence and job in alumni profile.

#### **III. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION**

Evaluation of the system performance was done by analyzing collected data and by conducting alumni survey. The system is in operation at the FEE since June 2011. The alumni database currently contains 3824 alumni records for the FEE graduates who have graduated in almost last 50 years, beginning from 1965 and up to 2012. Alumni profiles were imported from the FEE student information system with accurate information about the graduates at time of their graduation. Since the majority of the FEE graduates who graduated more than 20 years ago left Bosnia and Herzegovina, it was hard to get their contacts and to invite them to register at alumni web portal. In spite of this fact, 21 of these graduates registered after finding information about them on the FEE alumni web portal by using the Internet search engines. Situation with more recent graduates that graduated in last 10 years was much better since the FEE had official records with contact information that were used to send email invitations. At the time of writing, the total number of registered alumni is 226. Number of graduates per graduation year, and number registered and employed graduates for the last 12 years is shown in Fig. 5. Employment ratio of all registered alumni is 78.86%. Total number of registered jobs is 180, with 110 of currently active jobs.



Fig. 5 A total number of graduates and number of registered and employed graduates per graduation year Based on the alumni employment records, the system generates detailed employment

statistics. Some of interesting employment indicators are: an average time of waiting for the first employment; number of jobs by sector/industry; number of jobs in public/private sector and number of jobs in the field of study. In total, average time of waiting for the first employment is 1.73 months for 81 graduates. To calculate this indicator, it is required to register data about the first employment in the alumni profile. Almost half of registered and employed alumni did not enter this data into their profiles. The top three sectors by number of active jobs are: power sector (30.91%), public administration (23.64%) and education sector (20%). A total of 77 (70%) of active jobs are registered as jobs in the field of study. Number of active jobs in the private sector is only 18 (16.36%).

The alumni survey was conducted using built-in survey module. All registered alumni were invited to participate in the survey by sending them and email invitation with direct link for accessing the survey. The survey contained statements for getting the alumni feedback regarding their interest for maintaining contacts and cooperation with the FEE, participation in the alumni social events, ease of use of the system, and possible benefits that it could bring to alumni community and the FEE. A total number of respondents to the survey was 90 (42% of 214 registered alumni at the time of conducting the survey). The results of the survey showed positive attitude of alumni towards introduction of the system. There were several useful comments and suggestions from the survey participants regarding introduction of the system and intensifying social activities among graduates and between the FEE and alumni.

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

This paper presented a web-based system designed for efficient collection of alumni contact and employment data. Significance of the system for higher education institutions was discussed, the design and main features of the system were presented, as well as some results of the system performance evaluation. By using this kind of system, connections and relationships could be efficiently re-established and maintained for benefits of higher education institutions and other stakeholders. A confirmation of this is the 63% of registered FEE alumni and interest of almost 95% of the surveyed FEE alumni to maintain contacts and continue cooperation with their alma mater, which is a good starting point for the current situation in Bosnia and Herzegovina and the region. Employment information and feedback provided by alumni could be used for analysis of quality of academic programmes and introducing appropriate measures for their improvement. Employment rates depend also on many other factors in a country, but they could also be interpreted as useful indicators of an academic programme quality and labour market needs.

The system currently has features for connecting HEIs and alumni. Additional modules and functionalities are planned in future work to enhance existing features, and to add new features for involving additional stakeholders such as employers, labour market, relevant ministries of education, undergraduate students, prospective students and their parents. All of these stakeholders have specific roles in the institution activities, and specific needs for accessing information. For example, relevant ministries of education are interested in employment rates and demands of the labour market as input data for defining admission policies and quotes. On the other hand, prospective students and their parents are interested in the same data, but from the other perspective, when deciding which academic programme to choose. The role of the proposed system is to provide efficient means of communication between the institution and its stakeholders, and to provide tools for efficient collection and analysis of data that could be used for institutional advancement and for benefits of all relevant stakeholders.
#### REFERENCES

- Standards and guidelines for quality assurance in the European higher education area, European Association for Quality Assurance in Higher Education, 2009.
- [2] S. Bosshart, M. Wentz, T. Heller, "Using alumni perspectives for university evaluation and planning," College Student Journal, vol. 43, pp. 411-428, 2009.
- [3] D. Mijic, and D. Jankovic, "Towards improvement of the study programme quality: alumni tracking information system," Advances in Intelligent and Soft Computing, ICT Innovations 2011, vol. 150, pp. 291-300, 2012.
- [4] C. J. Marcarelli, and L. J. Carter, "Work in progress bridging the technology gap: an analysis of industry needs and student skills," 39th ASEE/IEEE Frontiers in Education Conference, pp. 1-2, 2009.
- [5] L. A. Storen, and P. O. Aamodt, "The quality of higher education and employability of graduates," Quality in Higher Education, vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 297-313, 2010.
- [6] B. Oliver, L. Hunt, S. Jones, A. Pearce, S. Hammer, S. Jones, and B. Whelan, "The Graduate Employability Indicators: capturing broader stakeholder perspectives on the achievement and importance of employability attributes," Proceedings of the Australian Quality Forum 2010, pp. 89-95, 2010.
- [7] Z. Barnard, Online community portals for enhanced alumni networking, Doctoral thesis, University of Johanesburg, 2007.
- [8] Z. Barnard, and C. Rensleigh, "Online community portals supporting CRM: the Gradnet case study," IADIS International Conference on Web Based Communities, pp. 157-165, 2008.
- [9] C. L. Daniel, C. M. Brooks, and J. W. Waterbor, "Approaches for longitudinally tracking graduates of NCIfunded short-term cancer research training programs," Journal of Cancer Education, vol. 26, pp. 58-63, 2011.
- [10] T. Case, A. Gardiner, P. Rutner, and J. Dyer, "A LinkedIn analysis of career paths of information systems alumni," Proceedings of the Southern Association for Information Systems Conference, pp. 45-50, 2011.
- [11] A. Usher, and P. Marcucci, "Survey of graduate tracking systems around the world," Management of Sustainable Development, Special Issue - UNESCO, pp. 7-13, 2011.
- [12] M. M. Skeels, and J. Grudin, "When social networks cross boundaries: a case study of workplace use of Facebook and Linkedin," Proceedings of the ACM 2009 international conference on Supporting group work, pp. 95-104, 2009.
- [13] M. D. Roblyer, M. McDaniel, M. Webb, J. Herman, and J. V. Witty, "Findings on Facebook in higher education: a comparison of college faculty and student uses and perceptions of social networking sites," The Internet and Higher Education, vol. 13, pp. 134-140, 2010.

# E-Business and Business Process Change in companies in the Republic of Macedonia

# K. T. Blagoeva, S. Josimovski, M. Mijoska

University Ss. Cyril and Methodius, Faculty of Economics/Department of E-Business, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia

Abstract—In order to survive and become more competitive in today's complex, dynamic and global environment, companies and their managers are forced to search for new ways of managing e-business initiatives. Companies are pressured to become more flexible, fast responding and customer oriented. To achieve these goals they should become process oriented. Business process orientation and process thinking help management to leverage the use of the information and communication technologies and the Internet, and hence to implement e-business with a greater success. Hence, the goal of this paper is to reveal the meaning and importance of business process orientation and business process change when transitioning to e-business. The main research question was to understand the potential benefits of business process redesign (BPR) projects when implementing integrated e-business solutions and their impact on competitiveness of companies. To achieve the goal of the paper, an interview with managers of Macedonian companies was conducted based on the previously prepared questionnaire for business process orientation, business process factor for higher level of e-business implementation. Based on the analysis of the results from the empirical study some general conclusion and future recommendations are given at the end of the paper.

**Keywords**— E-business, business process change, business process orientation, business process redesign.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Striving to survive and become more competitive in today's e-environment, companies and their managers should redefine their strategies, organizational structures and business processes and to build technological infrastructure necessary for successful implementation of e-business solutions.

In order to achieve better market position and satisfy customers' needs better than competition does, companies and their managers should simultaneously conduct two projects:

- 1) business process change/redesign and
- 2) implementation of e-business solutions.

In today's global environment, companies are pressured to become more flexible, fast responding and customer oriented. To achieve these goals they should become process oriented. Business process orientation and process thinking help management to leverage the use of the information and communication technologies and the Internet, and hence migrate to e-business with a greater success.

In that sense, business process orientation has become one of the most important management paradigms in the new millennium [1].

# **II. BUSINESS PROCESS ORIENTATION**

The competitive global environment of the 21st century has reraised attention to business

processes because companies primarily consist of business processes and not of products and services. Likewise, organization's performance nowadays is envisioned in the efficiency of its business processes that on the other hand requires a process orientation. Managing a business, means managing its processes [2]. Though, very important and key for the business survival and competitiveness, business processes has been neglected in the management literature for a long time, mainly because of the predominance of the functional organization of work.

Today, many companies worldwide have understood the meaning of their business process and are treating them as strategic assets. Very famous example is the dot-com company -Amazon.com which has patented its business processes: one-click ordering and internetcustomer-based referral system – known as "affiliates".

Companies competing in the new, digital economy should reassess the strategic importance of their business processes, and understand their organizations not only as constructions of functions and departments, but as highly integrated systems of business processes. In a word, they should become business process oriented. [2].

Although, business process orientation (further in the text BPO) is not yet recognized as an independent approach, it pulls significant attention from practitioners and researchers worldwide. BPO represents a generic concept of numerous management philosophies that use process perspective to improve business performance [3]. Many authors through time like Deming, Porter, Davenport, Short, Hammer, Byrne, Imai, Drucker, Rummler, Brache and Melan have viewed this concept as the new model of the organization. This new way of thinking and viewing the organization in the literature has been generally described as business process orientation.

In the extensive literature on business process management, there are numerous definitions of BPO that vary, but one that is more generic and comprises all the elements of the concept is McCormack's and Johnson's [2] definition of process orientation: An organization that, in all its thinking, emphasizes process as opposed to hierarchies with a special emphasis on outcomes and customer satisfaction. The concept of BPO is based on the assumption that the value to customers is delivered by streamlining and accelerating work patterns [2], [4]. Placing the focus directly towards customer and managing end-to-end processes provides a strategic approach in achieving a competitive advantage in the current customer-centric business environment.

It is worth mentioning that the concept of business process orientation should not be equalized with a process-based organizational structure, since one company can reach a certain level of BPO maturity without formally being organized horizontally [5]. Due to that it can be concluded that process approach can be applied to any organization.

Moving towards process orientation for companies means numerous benefits like more efficient execution of work resulting in cost savings, improved customer focus, better integration across the organization and increased flexibility of the company accompanied with improved customer satisfaction. Another benefit from process focus is improved flow of hand-offs between functions that leads to cycle time reduction [6]. Process orientation reflected in processes that are broadly defined eliminates redundant activities, verifying inputs one time for all functions within organization [7].

Although empirical evidence is lacking, several models have emerged during the last few years proving that process-oriented organizations have better organizational performance rather than the ones that are not process oriented. They indicate positive impact of BPO on

organizational performance [8], [9]. Further, it is indicated that investments in business processes creates competitive advantage for companies and provides significant improvement to the overall system [8], [9].

## **III. BUSINESS PROCESS CHANGE**

Today, e-business initiatives have made the need to streamline, integrate and automate business processes even more pressing. As mentioned, business processes are crucial for organization's success. In order to maximize its competitiveness companies need to have business processes which are both well designed and work effectively.

In the literature, there are two basic ways of business process change. One is improvement and the other is innovation. But most of the companies when changing their business processes are placing themselves somewhere in the middle of these two concepts. This methodology is generally recognized as business process redesign [10]. Although these methodologies have different names in the literature, they are mainly recognized as business process improvement and business process re-engineering.

Business process improvement (BPI) is a systematic approach that helps organizations makes significant changes in the way they do business. Business process reengineering (BPR) is the radical redesign of organizations processes i.e. radical change rather than a series of incremental changes. BPI is the process of developing and implementing incremental improvements for a process and it is used when business is manageable and processes are relatively consistent. There is low risk associated with BPI and it starts with the existing process. Opposite, BPR is a fundamental corporate reorganization based upon the processes that deliver value to customers. It typically involves re-orienting a business from a product or location viewpoint to a customer focus which means achieving some degree of business process orientation.

The major difference between these two methodologies is that BPI is based on problem solving, and BPR is based on radical change of the overall process. BPI is a tactical and BPR is strategic undertake for the company. Business Process Re-engineering is generally used at the strategic level, when major threats or opportunities in the business's external environment prompt a fundamental re-think of the large-scale core processes critical to the operation of the value chain. Business Process Redesign is an intermediate scale of change operation, appropriate for medium-sized processes that require extensive improvement or change. Redesign efforts often result in changed job descriptions and the introduction of some automation. Business Process Improvement represents a tactical level, incremental technique that is appropriate for developing smaller, stable, existing processes.

Depending on the complexity of business processes, Harmon [10] proposes the following matrix of business process change:



Source: P. Harmon, Business process change: A manager's guide to improving, redesigning, and automating processes, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Boston, 2003, p.39

Fig 1 Business process re- engineering, business porcess redesign and busines process imporvement

In order to achieve effective and efficient process change, it is very important that the level of process change fits the process itself. But, the level of required process change is also likely to reflect the process capability maturity of the business. If the business has mature process capabilities, process improvement efforts will be more or less continuous, undertaken by managers and their process teams. If a business has a low degree of process maturity then a process redesign effort might be required to establish the initial process capabilities.

Since business process re-engineering efforts of the 1990's didn't met the expectations, business process redesign and integration of business processes have become a vehicle for achieving sustainable value for companies.

Implementing integrated e-business solutions in companies requires business process orientation and organizational transformation. Business process redesign is a pervasive but challenging tool for transforming organizations. BPR is a change management approach aimed at achieving quantum improvements in overall organizational performance [11].

## IV. E-BUSINESS AND BUSINESS PROCESS CHANGE IN COMPANIES IN THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA – SURVEY RESULTS

#### A. E-business in companies in the Republic of Macedonia

The process of creation and implementation of an integrated e-business solution nowadays is imperative for organizations. Information and communication technologies are implemented in great extent in each organization regardless its size, industry type and its market position. For organizations of leading market economies, the implementation of ICT and e-business in all aspects of the society and business is not new. Hence, in the time when technology is not a choice but an imperative for doing business, only the way of using it will be a considerable competitive advantage, and not the technology itself.

The correlation between the level of usage of ICT and competitiveness is familiar in the

literature (Sharpe, 2006), as well as there are specific empirical evidence for the correlation between knowledge management tools, inter-organizational relationships and innovation with firm performance [12]. It is worth mentioning that the implementation of ICT is generally analyzed from innovation of business process management perspective. The competitive advantage of a company can be reflected in aligned business processed.

The level of implementation of ICT in organizations can vary. The fully –flagged ebusiness solutions are the best choice, since they provide synchronization of all business processes and activities and integration of all data form business operation of the companies. The integration of ERP systems with CRM modules in companies is becoming a common practice, but the trend of the extended enterprise where an overall integration with suppliers as well is provided, is not yet a case for companies in the Republic of Macedonia.

According to the data of the State Statistical Office of the Republic of Macedonia, in January 2011, electronic transmission of data suitable for automatic processing, i.e. sending and/or receiving of data via any computer network (Internet or other), in an agreed or standard format which allows their automatic processing (e.g. EDI, EDIFACT, XML), to or from systems out of the enterprise, was performed by 37.4% of the enterprises. E-invoices suitable for automatic processing were more frequently received (by 9.3% of the enterprises) than sent (by 6.0%). Sharing information electronically and automatically between different functions of the enterprise was performed by 47.0% of the enterprises. Their own website/home page had 58.9% of the enterprises, and 10.4% had online ordering enabled via their website. During 2010, 6.9% of the enterprises with at least 10 employees had web-sales i.e. have received orders for goods or services via website, while 7.1% sent orders for buying goods/services via website. [13].

| Enterprises<br>(number of<br>employees) | Open source<br>ERP or CRM<br>applications<br>for business<br>process<br>automation | Electronic<br>transmission of<br>data suitable for<br>automatic<br>processing (EDI,<br>XML, etc.) | Automatic<br>share of<br>informatio<br>n within<br>the<br>enterprise |
|---|--|---|--|
| 10 - 49                                 | 12.8   | 31.9  | 40.4   |
| 50 - 249                                | 13.3   | 39.8  | 49.6   |
| 250 +                                   | 19.5   | 51.0  | 65.1   |

 TABLE I

 ICT USE IN COMPANIES IN THE REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA IN 2011, (% OF TOTAL)

## Source. www.stat.gov.mk

It is evident that large companies (with more than 250 employees) have higher levels of implementation of ERP and CRM applications for business process automation, as well as higher level of electronic transmission of data (EDI, XML, etc.) and automatic share of information within the enterprise than the medium and small companies.

In the Republic of Macedonia, although the necessity of using ICT and integrated ebusiness solutions is recognized from many managers of companies of all sizes, Macedonian companies are still legging behind the world. This situation is not surprising, having in mind the level of countries' overall economic development. The extensive use of ICT and integrated e-business solutions represent an imperative for the survival of Macedonian companies, not only on global market, but on the regional and domestic market as well.

# B. Business process change/redesign in companies in the Republic of Macedonia

The goal of this paper is to consider the potential benefits of BPR projects when implementing integrated e-business solutions and their impact on competitiveness of companies in the Republic of Macedonia, as well as an initial estimation of process orientation of Macedonian companies. In this part of the paper, the results of the empirical study will be presented. The main research question was to understand whether the business process change/redesign is a necessary project when implementing integrated e-business solutions in companies i.e. whether business process change is a critical factor of successful e-business implementation in companies in the Republic of Macedonia.

In order to understand the relationship between BPR and the level of e-business, an interview with managers in Macedonian companies was conducted based on the previously prepared questionnaire for business process orientation, business process change i.e. business process redesign, in order to confirm the assumption that BPR is a success factor for higher level of e-business implementation.

Since the research question was whether the higher level of e-business implementation is resulting from the BPR effort, the sample was chosen based on the previous selection to estimate the level of e-business implementation in companies in the Republic of Macedonia. The chosen sample was 30 companies with higher (highest) level of e-business adoption in the country, but the interview was conducted with 19 companies i.e. with their managers. The selection of companies for interview was made according the following criteria. First, the factor location of the companies doesn't play significant role since most of the companies with higher level of implementation of ICT and e-business solutions were located in the capital. Second, regarding the size of the companies (small, medium, large), small companies were excluded from the research since the level of e-business implementation is low in these companies in the country. Medium and large companies were selected for deeper analysis of the impact of BPR on e-business implementation. Third, regarding the industry type, several companies were selected from different industries previously indicated as leaders in e-business adoption in the country, like finance i.e. banking sector, telecommunications, ICT sector, manufacturing, and construction.

Regarding the profile of respondents, since the e-business implementation and BPR are concepts of strategic importance for companies and require support from the top management, respondents were mainly CEOs, IT managers, HR managers and marketing and sales managers in interviewed companies.

The questionnaire encompasses 4 parts. Part A was referring to business process orientation of companies. Part B was referring to the needs and reasons for business process change in companies. Part C was containing questions regarding BPR projects. Part D contains general questions about the company and the profile of respondent. At the end of the questionnaire, a part for comments of the respondents was also left, which helped us to better understand the problems that managers are facing when implementing e-business solutions and undertaking BPR projects.

Based on the analysis conducted on the results obtained by the interview, it can be concluded in general that managers of Macedonian companies understand the meaning and importance of business processes and they view their organization as a network, system of business processes. Though, they understand the benefits and advantages of horizontal organization of work, still more than 3/4 of respondents confirm that the management and

work in their organizations are still based on functions and not business processes. But, company can be process oriented without being formally horizontally organized. The interview shows that no company, yet, has process manager and process owner appointed although more than 20% of the respondents understand the necessity for appointing management staff based both on functions and processes.

The second part of the interview showed that 21% have made fundamental changes on their processes and business functions, 2/3 have automated their processes and functions, and 11% didn't conduct any changes in their business. Among the various reasons for conducting business process change specifically process automation; more than a half said that the change is needed for obtaining faster process and functioning. Only 2 respondents said that automation is needed for the reduction of the number of employees. The results also have shown that managers still don't think that the implementation of ICT and the Internet in the business is reason enough for business process change. Very surprising was the fact that 2 of the respondents are following the technological trends not because of the benefits that technology can provide for the organizational performance, but in order to "keep pace with the technology" which is not justified effort at all. Managers are investing in expensive software packages, but they are not using them in their full extent and for the right purpose. In order to avoid the negative effects of this not justified investment in technology, managers and employees should be trained for the benefits that technology can provide for improving overall organizational performance. Being aware of the right capacity and possibilities of e-business solutions companies can become more competitive, not only on domestic and regional, but on the world market as well. Managers in Macedonian companies still don't understand the strategic importance of ICT. Very often, they leave the decision for investing in ICT on lower level management, usually IT management.

The third part of the questionnaire referring to the BPR project showed that 4 companies are redesigning their business processes, 7 are planning to conduct BPR in the next 12 months, 5 in the next 2 years, and 3 don't plan to redesign their processes in order to implement e-business solutions.

Major motive for realization of BPR for managers is increased overall efficiency, increased customer satisfaction, competitiveness, as well as improving the information flow within the organizational units.

The implementation of ICT and e-business isn't recognized as important reason for conducting BPR. Regarding the financial returns of business process redesign effort, more than one half of respondents expect increased profit and 1/5 doesn't expect any financial result which indicates that managers don't understand the effects of realization of such a project when implementing ICT in the business.

The realization of BPR project mainly is initiated by the top management. Having in mind the fact that the most of interviewed companies are with dominance of foreign capital and the dominance of foreign partners in the managerial boards, it can be concluded that the initiative for change derives from foreign partners.

For realization of BPR project, more than a half of the respondents will use consultants help, and they think that the management needs extensive training in the field, which indicates that there is a lack of expertise in Macedonian companies on this topic.

Based on the initial data obtained by interviewing managers of Macedonian companies, it can be concluded that:

- 1) Managers of Macedonian companies understand the meaning and importance of the use of ICT and integrated e-business solutions in achieving competitiveness and increasing productivity;
- 2) They understand the meaning and importance of business processes although their companies and work are still organized based on functions;
- 3) They still don't recognize BPR as important factor when implementation ICT and ebusiness in companies;
- 4) They require intensive training and knowledge dissemination in the business process management domain.

Business process change/redesign and e-business are strategic decisions and require top management support, financial investment, time and commitment of all human resources in the company. The trip towards process focused organization is not a revolutionary but rather an evolutionary effort. This means that companies should join all of its resources and forces in order to gain the promised benefits from these projects. This counts for Macedonian companies as well.

#### V. CONCLUSION

Planning, designing and creation of e-business solutions for companies are one of the main projects of the contemporary management in the new millennium. These solutions, representing very important projects for company's survival in the global market place, require solid methodological approach in order to be completed successfully. E-business solutions can be considered as valuable source of competitive advantage for companies, and as such they should be implemented in companies with highest attention.

Regarding the level of e-business implementation in companies in the Republic of Macedonia, it can be concluded that although the necessity of using ICT and integrated e-business solutions is recognized from many managers in the country, there is still a considerable gap with the world.

Though the integration of ERP systems with CRM modules in companies is becoming a common practice worldwide, as well as the trend of the "extended enterprise", that is not yet a case for companies in the Republic of Macedonia.

Regarding the business process orientation, managers in Macedonian companies are aware of the importance of business processes, but their companies i.e. the work is still organized namely based on functions. But, as confirmed in the literature, companies should not be completely horizontally organized in order to be process oriented.

In order to take the advantage of the process orientation when implementing integrated ebusiness solutions, companies, i.e. their managers have to understand that it is very important to start thinking and acting in a process way, since customers are five times less satisfied from the business process than the unsatisfactory product or service.

Regarding the estimation of the business process maturity level in companies in the Republic of Macedonia, a more solid empirical base should be formed in order to systematically analyze the level of BPO. Knowing where we are in comparison to others (regional and global competition), can help Macedonian companies to become more competitive and aware that the highest levels of process maturity can increase the overall performance of companies.

Macedonian business sector need guidance on the business process management trip by the

educational institutions in the country.

Since the importance of this new management paradigm is recognized, the Faculty of Economics – Skopje, makes his pioneer steps in incorporating business process management topics in the faculties' curricula.

#### REFERENCES

- H. M. Levi, The business process (quiet) revolution: Transformation to process organization. Interfacing Technologies Corporation, 2002.
- [2] www.interfacing.com
- [3] K. P. McCormack, W. C. Johnson, Business process orientation Gaining the e-business competitive advantage. Florida: St. Lucie Press, 2001.
- [4] C. Lindfors, Process orientation: An approach for organizations to function effectively. 2003
- [5] http://cic.vtt.fi/lean/singapore/LindforsFinal.pdf
- [6] T. H. Davenport, Process innovation: Reengineering work through information technology. Boston: Harvard Business School Press, 1993.
- [7] K. P. McCormack, Business Process Maturity: Theory and Application, DRK Research, 2007.
- [8] H. W. Oden, Transforming the organization: A social-technical approach. Westport: Quorum books, 1999.
- [9] J. R. Galbraith, Designing organizations: An executive guide to strategy, structure, and process, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass. 2002.
- [10] R. S. Kaplan, D. P. Norton, Using the balanced scorecard as strategic management system. Harvard Business Review, 1/2, 1996, pp.75–85.
- [11] K.P. McCormack, Business process orientation, supply chain management, and the e-corporation. IIE Solut. 33(10), 2001, pp. 33-35
- [12] P. Harmon, Business process change: A manager's guide to improving, redesigning, and automating processes, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, Boston, 2003
- [13] S. L. Mansar, H. A. Reijers, Best practices in business process redesign: use and impact, Business Process Management Journal, vol.13, no.3, 2007, pp 193-213
- [14] A. Vaccaro, R. Parente, F. Velosoa, Knowledge Management Tools, Inter-Organizational Relationships, Innovation and Firm Performance, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, vol 77, iss.7, 2010, pp.1076-1089
- [15] http://www.stat.gov.mk

# Importance of the Social Media and their Integration in the Internet Marketing Strategies of the Companies

Tatjana Petkovska Mirchevska\*, Zoran Janevski\*, Monika Angeloska Dichovska\*\*

\* Ss. Cyril and Methodius University, Institute of Economics - Skopje, Skopje, Macedonia \*\* St. Kliment Ohridski University, Faculty of administration and information systems management, Bitola, Macedonia

**Abstract**— The Internet is becoming an indispensable tool for the individuals and business community. Modern life and contemporary work are heavily based on Internet. Consumer behavior and their expectations are changing. Knowledge of the consumer behavior represents an important element in building a successful marketing strategy. For a modern company today it is necessary to make analysis of their customer's behavior that will assist in developing strategies for their retention and attraction. Social networks play an increasingly important role in this. Nearly four out of five active Internet users today are active users of social networks. According to the Internet World Statistics data the number of social media's population continues to grow. Today, understanding of the influence of social media is becoming crucial for the business success. The purpose of this paper is to present the needs of companies for incorporating social media into their online marketing strategies.

Keywords-Consumers, Internet, Marketing strategy, Social media

## I. CONSUMERS OF INTERNET SOCIAL MEDIA

The social media represent an integral part of everyday modern life of almost every person today. The social media are becoming significant source of information used by consumers, especially during the search phase when they are trying to make a purchase decision. On the other hand, the increased usage of social networks enables the companies to take care of brands and to influence the purchase process.

The social media is a tool for communication, presentation and cooperation of the companies with their existing and potential consumers, where the information flow is bidirectional.

There are many kinds and ways of classification of social media.

The generic types of social networks are the following [1:715-716]:

- 1) General social networks place on the Internet for gathering and meeting friends, sharing content, schedules and interests (Facebook and MySpace e.g.).
- Exchanging experiences networks networks for professionals and practitioners, handicraft producers, software developers or musicians (LinkedIn for business and JustPlainFolks for music e.g.).
- 3) Networks created according to interests networks built according to interest for sport, music, finance, politics, life-styles, etc. (E-democracy for political discussions e.g.).
- 4) Sponsored networks networks created from commercial, governmental and nongovernmental organizations for different purposes.

In this paper we will make a review of the general social networks and experience

exchanging-networks (professional networking).

The social media not only connect individuals, but provide personalized way of communication of companies with their consumers, so that they become significant marketing tool for the companies. Researches show that consumers use social media as a source of information for products and services. The presence of the companies on these social networks enables them to increase the number of consumers and the opportunities for purchasing and informing.

Each company which wants to satisfy the consumers' needs should actively approach to the implementation of the social media into their business strategy. Ignoring this media means ignoring million existing and potential consumers who are presence on the social media every day.

Facebook, Twitter and LinkedIn are on the top of the list of social networks and they become the most popular between the consumers and companies. The number of consumers of these networks increases every day and therefore the company's plans and the performance of these networks change.

Facebook is the biggest and most popular social network where the friends, colleagues, relatives, companies, organizations etc. can connect each other and can communicate and share information, links, contents, photos etc. Facebook offers great opportunities for business and it is a social network that changes the view of the world and people's life and attracts several thousands of new users every day. On this network, there is an opportunity to create profile, group or page. While the individuals mostly create Facebook profiles sharing their photo and other basic information for business, brands, products and services is more convenient to create a page or "Facebook page". With selecting the "Facebook for Business" option, the companies have the opportunity to see all the functions and features that Facebook offers for the business users.

According to data for year 2011, Europe is at the first place with 223.4 million Facebook users (out of 900 million Facebook users registered today); second is Asia with 183.9 million and third is North America with 174,600,000 users [2].



Fig. 1. Facebook users in the world by geographical regions - 2011

According to the rate of Facebook penetration, Europe is on the third place, or 27.4 percent of total population in Europe uses Facebook. The first place has North America with 50.3%. In

Republic of Macedonia out of 1,069.32 Internet users (by the end of 31 December 2011), 879,540 use Facebook or 42.3 percent from the total population of the country is present on the Facebook social network [3].

LinkedIn is a social media designed to connect professionals and businesses, enabling them to share information, get replies and promote themselves and their businesses. LinkedIn is network which provides networking and making business contacts. At this network the users can create profile with photo and short review of information for professionals and/or business careers and achievements. The profile is a base for connecting with other LinkedIn members. The text contained in the profile is searchable through the network (and popular search engines, Google e.g.) and enables connecting with appropriate companies or professionals.

Twitter is a network which enables the registered users to send or receive short messages known as "tweets". This network has about 300 million users, students, professionals, organizations. The companies use Twitter as a communication tool for realization of their marketing goals. Also, companies can share information about products and services, follow the competition; inform for everyday events and answer questions to the consumers. This network offers great opportunities for the companies, but also requires active participation, so that asked questions and negative comments can be answered on time.

There is no doubt that social networks are integral part of each individual and gradually change people's life and behavior. Not joining these networks reduces the opportunity for easier communication, access to huge volume of data, fast information, learning etc. At the same time social media networks change the companies' environment and the way of creating business strategies and operations.

#### **II.** INTERNET MARKETING STRATEGIES FOR ESTABLISHING CONTACT WITH THE CONSUMERS

Internet technology provides better opportunities for companies to establish recognized strategic positioning in relation to previous generations of information technology. It makes strategy more necessary than ever before. Internet companies can be top winners - if they understand the compromise between Internet and traditional approaches and if they are able to create really distinctive strategies. Internet architecture, together with the other improvements in the software architecture and development tools, has turned internet technology in more powerful strategic tool [4].

The development of the Internet and web technologies provides appearance of new marketing and internet marketing strategies. Attracting consumers is the first step in creating successful business, but after that another significant step follows – maintaining and managing consumers. Significant Internet marketing strategies for establishing connection with consumers are: affiliate marketing, viral marketing, permission marketing, search engine marketing, advertising networks etc.

*Affiliate marketing* is a type of agreement between groups of associates, from one side are publishers (also known as 'the affiliates'), that display advertising on the Internet, and on the other side are the marketers whose aim is to attract consumers and to increase their online sale. The most common tool for affiliate marketing is the "banner"<sup>1</sup> from the online marketer that is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Banner is a common form of advertising on the Internet. The banner is an advertisement of 460x68 pixels, usually placed at the top of the page and is intended to attract traffic to a website by linking to the website of the advertiser.

placed on the publisher's website (owner of the website) for specified compensation (based on visitor's click, sales or leads). By clicking on the banner, the consumers are redirect to the marketer's website. The affiliate marketing relies purely on the financial motivation to drive sales, and that is the main difference with the referral marketing where the main motivation relies on trust and personal relationship. Amazon.com for example has strong affiliate program and its logo can be seen by around 1 million affiliate sites. Smaller online companies and individuals with significant traffic on their websites use affiliate marketing through joining to third-party services provided by intermediaries to track traffic or sales that are referred from affiliates.

*Viral marketing* refers to an internet marketing strategy that encourages consumers to communicate the marketing message to others (friends, colleagues, relatives etc.) with the opportunity to spread the message and its influence exponentially. This strategy enables the message to be spread quickly to large number of users, such as the case like viruses. Viral marketing can be used by email, group messages, forums, Chat rooms, social networks etc.

To make the viral campaign effective, Justin Kirby, a viral marketing specialist (www.dmc.co.uk) suggest three unnecessary points [5:401]:

- 1) Creative material "viral agent". This includes creative offer or message and how can it be spread (text, photo, video)
- 2) Plating. Identifying to which websites, blogs or people the email should be sent to, so they can begin spreading the virus.
- 3) Following. To follow the effect, to evaluate cost recovery from development of viral agent and plating.

*Permission marketing* or known as "opt-in e-mail" presents internet marketing strategy used by companies, so that they ask the consumers for accordance to send them commercials and other marketing materials. Most often companies on their website give an option for registration with email in order to get news, catalogues and other information from the company owner of the website. With every received message on email, the consumer has an option to logout from the page if he doesn't want to get commercial materials from the company any more. An opposite of this technique is spam usage that means sending unwanted message via email to the consumers. The usage of mailing list for sending information about company and its products and services is popular way of advertising, also known as *email marketing*. Email messages can be combined with specified photos, videos which promote the preferred consumers cheap and fast. Forming email lists is powerful tool for targeting consumers.

*Search engine marketing* is internet strategy that enables promotion on company's website at the web search. A lot of engines enable the companies free submitting of their Internet addresses, called URL so that their URL can be searched electronically.

Ad networks provide advertising opportunities for companies who want to promote their products and services to internet consumers. These sites are usually called web publishers. Ad networks share the revenue with the publisher. This networks developed software that follows consumer's movements among the network members (Amazon, Google, Yahoo, eBay e.g.). At each visit the software for network advertising decides which banner ads, videos and other advertisements will show the consumer the different sites in the network. One of the most popular networks for advertising is Doubleclick.com [1:388-389].

Commonly known consumer retention strategies are: personalization, customization or user adjustment etc.

The internet marketing strategy facilitates the communication of the companies and their consumers using blogs, online games, internet radio, internet TV other and social media tools.

### **III. SOCIAL MEDIA INTEGRAL ELEMENT OF INTERNET MARKETING STRATEGIES**

With the revolution of social media consumers worldwide become very most powerful. They forced companies to think about how to become more transparent and responsible. Social media enabled companies in times of economic crisis to learn how to do more with less money - to receive messages from consumers, to spend less money on classic media. People want to share and feel connected to others, brands, organizations and even governmental institutions that they love and trust. Facebook Like button, introduced in April 2010, has already been added to more than two million different web pages. This button enables more than 900 million users with one click to express approval of the company, organization, product or idea. Social media look like the world's largest cocktail party where everyone can hear what others say and join the conversation with someone else on any topic of their choice. But there is a difference between the real and online entertainment. What is significant in the first, there is a conversation with many people in one night, but online and via social networks there are numerous conversations with thousands or millions of people at once. And in the both parties will be found pleasant and unpleasant people [6:4-6].

Some reports [7] confirmed that consumers who log on to Facebook once a month and buy least quarterly, 62 percent of those buyers read comments from their friends related to the products. These comments help consumers to learn about products, and to 48 percent of them social sharing helps find information about products.

For the companies, research shows that their presence on social platforms and strategic involvement in discussions of social networks is aimed at supporting business goals, fostering favor of consumers to the brand and creating additional value. At the 64 percent of the companies, structure and roles within the marketing department, human resources and public relations have changed significantly as a consequence of social work, while most companies today (80 percent) regularly carry out some form of measuring the success of their activities at the social media, but also face challenges in measuring the scope of the external public. In seeking ways to measure the return on investment in social media, 84 percent of companies are focused on information from the target public engagements on social networks, 69 percent follow the number of messages, 53 percent analyze the attention that they have achieved, and 51 percent assess the tonality of the message and the feedback from the target audience [8].

Marketing on the social networks is moving with quick steps. Companies seriously incorporate it into marketing strategies and very carefully follow and communicate with many customers present at these media. Even for 42 percent of the companies today, Facebook is critical or important to their business [9]. Strategy performance of companies on the social media should include several important elements: they will promote (which products and services and on which target group), their registration on social media (social media selection and registration), finding appropriate manager of social media such as Ping.fm and Hoot Suite, prepared plan for updating, with whose realization will provide valuable information about the company's work, a way of finding friends and followers, active involvement of friends and followers and plan for continuous active performance [10].

A lot of companies adhere to many rules when it comes to social media marketing. Companies preparing plans for publication, monitor comments, use tool for managing announcements, doing promotions and recruiting fans and have separate teams responsible for social networks. One such example is a "Bozinovski - Watches and Jewelry" company that integrates social media into their marketing strategy. This company uses the tools of hootsite.com monitor the comments and posts on social media. Tools of wildfireapp.com are also used to create interactive promotions on social media [11]. The fact that this company has over ten thousand Facebook fans shows the effective approach to social media.

eMarketer [12] predicts that for advertising on social networks 7.72 billion dollars will be spend in 2012, including paid advertising on social networks, social games and applications. Growth in 2012 will be faster than in 2011, although in 2013 and 2014, eMarketer expects growth rates to fall, but still remain with double-digit figure. By 2014, eMarketer expects nearly 12 billion dollars going to advertise on social networks worldwide. Nearly half of that money has come from the U.S. and little changes in the predicted period are expected. In 2012, the U.S. for advertising on social networks will spend 3.63 billion dollars compared to 2.54 billion dollars in 2011, and continue to climb to 5.59 billion dollars by 2014.



Fig. 2. Social Network Ad Revenues Worldwide, 2011-2014 (billions and % change)

There is no doubt that social media become a major business media, which should be integrated into the online business strategy to be enable to reply to the new consumer environment and increase their number.

### **IV. CONCLUSION**

In the new Internet environment the companies have to be consumer-oriented to be competitive on the market. Consumers represent the most important part for the company. The company can provide long-term competitive power only through solid long-term relationships with consumers. Internet sites for social networking and blogs on the internet have bigger impact on consumer behavior. The company's presence on social media gives them the opportunity to reach a wide range of people, to present their products and/or services, to communicate with existing or potential customers, answer their questions, to adapt and to analyze the needs of consumers. The consumer, however, who will visit the social profile of the company, will receive more information about products and services of the company. Hence, the companies that will integrate elements of social media marketing strategy have a greater ability to influence the consumer's decision to purchase.

#### REFERENCES

- Laudon, C, Traver, C.G., "E-Commerce: business, technology, society", Ars Lamina DOO, Skopje, Macedonia, 2010.
- [2] http://www.internetworldstats.com/facebook.htm, (Accessed on 03.03.2012).
- [3] http://www.internetworldstats.com/europa2.htm#mk, (Accessed on 03.03.2012).
- [4] Porter, M.E., "On Competition", Datapons Dooel, Skopje, Macedonia, 2009.
- [5] Chaffey, D., Ellis-Chadwick, F., Mayer, R., and Johnston, K., "Internet Marketing Strategy, Implementation and Practice", Third Edition, Pearson Education Limited, 2006.
- [6] Kerpen, D., "Likeable social media", McGraw-Hill Companies, 2011.
- [7] Stambor, Z., "Social sharing helps consumers find products", (Available at: http://www.internetretailer.com/2012/03/28/social-sharing-helps-consumers-find-products. Accessed on 31.03.2012)
- [8] "Leading Brands and the Modern Social Media Landscape", The 2010 FedEx/Ketchum Social Media Benchmark Study, (Available at: http://www.2010socialmediastudy.com/PDF/FedExSocialMediaStudy\_FindingsReport\_FINAL.pdf. Accessed on 13.09.2012)
- [9] "2012 State of Inbound Marketing Report", HubSpot, (Available at: http://www.hubspot.com/state-of-inboundmarketing/. Accessed on 13.09.2012)
- [10] McNicholas Kym: "How to use social media to promote your small business", (Available at: http://www.forbes.com/sites/kymmcnicholas/2011/09/19/how-to-use-social-media-to-promote-your-smallbusiness/. Accessed on 27.02 2012).
- [11] "Social media for business purposes", Training at the Business start up centre, Bitola 11-12 march 2011.
- [12] eMarketer.com, Articles: "Total Worldwide Social Network Ad Revenues Continue Strong Growth", (Available at: http://www.emarketer.com/Article.aspx?R=1008862. Accessed on 27.02.2012).

# Managing critical infrastructure for sustainable development in the telecommunications sector in the Republic of Serbia

Nataša Gospić\*, Goran Murić\*, Dragan Bogojević\*\* \* University of Belgrade, Faculty of Traffic and Transport Engineering, Belgrade, Serbia \*\* ICT-INFO, Belgrade, Serbia

**Abstract** - In last decades countries worldwide persisted in their efforts to foster competition in telecommunication/ICT markets. All regulatory focuses were directed to ensure competition and to regulation of the ICT market. More recently, electronic content, cyber security, data protection, privacy and environmental issues have entered into the scope of regulatory activities. In parallel on the global and national level discussion on Critical Telecom Network Infrastructure - CTI resulted in Strategies for CTI. This paper deals with basics of critical infrastructure, addressing definitions and standards with a highlight on the telecom sector. In the paper some situations in the region and Serbia and potential future steps are presented in order to initiate discussion on the need for regulation of Critical Telecom Network Infrastructure - CTI in Serbia.

Keywords-critical infrastructure, serbian CTI, teelcommunication infrastructure,

### I. INTRODUCTION

In last decades countries worldwide persisted in their efforts to foster competition in telecommunication/ICT markets. All regulatory focuses were directed to ensure competition and to regulation of the ICT market. More recently, electronic content, cyber security, data protection, privacy and environmental issues have entered into the scope of regulatory activities.

Analyzing ICT sector, the data from 2011 have shown that the ICT sector continued to grow rapidly, with the exception of fixed telephony, where penetration rates have been on the decline since 2005. Many predictions are available giving the answers on what is the next in sector development. Venture Partners in their prediction made 2009-2010, shown in Fig. 1, presented their view on four dimensions of ICT development till 2025, e.g. Networks, Wireless, Content/Applications and Devices.

As Fig. 1 illustrates the increased use of online applications and services to communicate and do business (such as social media, cloud services, e-payment and other m-banking services) bring a host of new regulatory issues to the fore, for all ICT stakeholders. Many papers deal with security and privacy of data [1] and many problems in this respect are solved out by service providers. Therefore, these issues, in spite that are closely related to Critical Telecommunication Network Infrastructure - CTI are not in the scope of this paper and the paper discusses infrastructural problems.



@2009-2010 Venture Partners - All Rights Reserved

Fig. 1 The 21<sup>st</sup> century Ecosystem

Worldwide, telecommunication networks are considered as an inseparable part of social interaction and protecting these networks from malicious attacks and natural disasters that could lead to the unavailability or loss of integrity and confidentiality of network services is thus an important aspect that cannot be ignored. It should be highlighted that e-infrastructures, composed of e-communication networks, distributed computing, middleware, software and applications, play an essential role in the advancement of knowledge and technology. Due to their ability to assemble a "critical mass" of people and investment, they contribute to all levels of society' and economy's development. They are therefore important assets which should be protected at any side and should be considered as a part of national critical infrastructure. In this paper we try to open questions on is it necessary to regulate CTI and if yes in what extend it should be regulated. For this reason, we started from definition of critical infrastructure and relationship between different critical infrastructures. In brief we list the general standards for critical infrastructure and specific standards for critical telecom infrastructure.

#### II. WHAT IS CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE?

There are many definitions of the Critical Infrastructure - CI, but all of them in principle refer to assets which are essential to the economy and society. Some of these definitions for different region and countries (USA, Australia) are listed below.

USA: "Critical infrastructure and key resources (CIKR) refer to a broad array of assets which are essential to the everyday functionality of social, economic, political and cultural systems in the United States. The interruption of CIKR poses significant threats to the continuity of these systems and can result in property damage, human casualties and significant economic losses. In recent years, efforts to both identify and mitigate systemic vulnerabilities through federal, state, local and private infrastructure protection plans have improved the readiness of the United States for disruptive events and terrorist threats. However, strategies that focus on worst-case vulnerability reduction, while potentially effective, do not necessarily

ensure the best allocation of protective resources. This vulnerability conundrum presents a significant challenge to advanced disaster planning efforts. The purpose of this paper is to highlight the conundrum in the context of CIKR" [2]".

Australia: "Critical Infrastructure are those physical facilities, supply chains, information technology and communication networks, which, if destroyed or rendered unavailable for an extended period, would significantly impact on the social or economic well-being of the nation, or affect Australia's ability to conduct national defense and ensure national security"[3].

The CI is a subject within EU regulation. In the EU Council directive 2008/114/EC following terminology is used:

(a)"Critical infrastructure means an asset, system or part thereof located in the Member States which is essential for the maintenance of vital societal functions, health, safety, security, economic or social well-being of people, and the disruption or destruction of which would have significant impact in a Member State as a result of the failure to maintain those functions".

(b) 'European critical infrastructure' or 'ECI' means critical infrastructure located in the Member States the disruption or destruction of which would have a significant impact on at least two Member States. The significance of the impact shall be assessed in terms of cross-cutting criteria. This includes effects resulting from cross-sector dependencies on other types of infrastructure. [11]; List of European CI is given in Annex I of [11] and shown in Table I.

| Sector       | Subsector   |   |
|--------------|---|---|
| I Energy     | 1. Electricity  | Infrastructures and facilities for generation and transmission of electricity |
|              | 2. Oil  | Oil production, refining, treatment   |
|              | 3. Gas  | Gas production, refining, treatment   |
| II Transport | <ol> <li>Road transport</li> <li>Rail transport</li> <li>Air transport</li> <li>Inland waterways tr</li> <li>Ocean and short-sea</li> </ol> | ansport<br>a shipping and ports   |

TABLE I EU CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE SECTORS

This Directive constitutes a first step in a step-by-step approach to identify and designate ECIs and assess the need to improve their protection. As such, this Directive concentrates on the energy and transport sectors and should be reviewed with a view to assessing its impact and the need to include other sectors within its scope, inter alia, the information and communication technology ('ICT') sector.

Member States identification of critical infrastructures which may be designated as ECIs is undertaken pursuant to Article 3. Therefore the list of ECI sectors in itself does not generate a generic obligation to designate an ECI in each sector. According to the Article 3 of DIRECTIVE 2008/114/EC, under the point 3, priority to be included in the ECI is given to the ICT sector: A review of this Directive started on 12 January 2012.

Based on literature review, the main elements of national CI could be identified as:

• Information & Communications (telecom, networks, Internet)

- Electric Power (conventional, nuclear)
- Transportation
- Oil & Gas (supply, transport, refining, distribution)
- Banking and Finance
- Water & Emergency Services
- Government (+military).

The critical infrastructures within the county are a complex "system of systems." Interdependencies are generally not well understood and disruptions in one infrastructure can propagate into other infrastructures. Between those CIs interdependencies is very strong. Critical infrastructures interact at different levels, and failure in one infrastructure may impact the functionality of other infrastructures. The significant importance of these infrastructures over the society and their interferences means that sufficient safety and security measures should be identified to reduce the risks of failure [4]. The Fig. 2 illustrates the interdependency between some CI.



Fig. 2 Interdependency between different sectors [5]

It is clear from the Fig. 2 that there is a great deal of interdependency between the Telecommunication Sector and a number of the functionaries within the utility community. Almost all of the utilities have critical requirements for communications of any form. Alternatively, the communications community has a number of instances where they are dependent on the utilities, what leads to the conclusion that communications is a key infrastructure, central to all others, so that understanding and modeling the risk due to communications disruptions is a high priority in order to enhance public safety and

infrastructure resiliency [6].

Within the ITU's family, Critical national telecommunication infrastructure has not been explicitly defined. However, many references to the protection of critical national infrastructure exist especially in the context of security of telecommunications/ICT networks and services (PP-10 Res. 130, PP-10 Res. 174, ITU CS/Art.38, ITU CS/Art.34, ITU CS/Art.35) and several workshops on this issue were held.

Using above mentioned definitions we can say, in general, that CTI is very often dependent on the context in which it is used and on the overall country approach to the CI. A CTI can be identified as a public or private network that carries information relevant to national security and safety or information of high financial value. CTI can also be defined physically as the whole network or a part of the network that exchanges information of high significance. The clear strategy for management of CTI would help operators and society and economy identifying critical infrastructures and critical resources and the impact of the failure to other sectors and their CI.

Many of the country's broadband policies and plans focus on building nationwide broadband infrastructure, stimulating demand through the adoption of online services and applications, and extending connectivity to provide universal access and this infrastructure could be considered as CTNI. From the other hand, some authors refer that if the objective of the network itself is to exchange confidential information among nations, the whole network itself can be defined as a CTI [7].

### III. IMPACT OF THE FAILURE OF COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR SYSTEMS

The impact of the failure of the Communication sector is subject of many studies, in which assessment of the overall risk is evaluated.



Fig. 3 Risk profile for potential disruption in communication sector [8]

For risk management different methodologies could be used. One of the ways for risk assessment is illustrated in Fig. 3, which plots the risk profiles for potential disruptions in the telecom sector.

When the risk is low (lower left corner), the event is unlikely to happen, and if it does, the consequence of the event is relatively low. Therefore, the most appropriate course may be to simply accept the risk, and live with the consequences. However, when risk is high (upper right corner), we should act immediately to reduce that risk as much as we are able to. When risk is in the broad middle area, then it is especially important to analyze and prioritize before

decisions can be made. All of these analyses should be used to identify critical resources and critical telecom network infrastructure. Furthermore, risk-informed decisions are needed, not only for network protection, but to help identify investment strategies and other options that best reduce overall risk.

As an example of dependencies among telecom and other infrastructures, we can observe communications, power, and emergency services and the potential cascading effects among them as shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4 Example cascading of impacts across industries: power, telecom, and emergency services [8]

In general, cascading across infrastructures can occur in almost any order, but telecommunications have been always a central component surrounding the disruption and is especially important in mitigating the disruptive effects.

## IV. STANDARDIZATION FRAMEWROK ON CRITICAL INFRASTRUCTURE

Critical infrastructure management is directly dependent on risk management processes. Which infrastructural element will be considered an element of national critical infrastructure depends on decisions of the risk management team. Accordingly, discoursing of critical infrastructure models is an inseparable process from setting up risk management steps related to infrastructure.

### Global standardization framework

Global standardization framework on risk management is defined in the ISO 3100 Standard[9].

Elements of risk management process are defined using family of standards relating to risk management codified by the International Organization for Standardization, ISO 31000. They are divided into several groups: Establish the context, Identify risk, Analyze risk, Evaluate the risk, Treat risk, and two groups of processes that are conducting simultaneously with the prior: Monitor & Review and Communicate & Consult. Starting from international standard ISO 31000, methodologies for risk management could be derived.

Within USA Homeland Security document which represents an annex to the National Infrastructure Protection Plan, framework for risk management in the telecom sector is developed (Schaffer, et al., 2010). Elements of this plan are extracted so they completely correspond to protection of telecommunication infrastructure problem. They are actually adjusted elements, derived from International Standard ISO 31000.

# CTI related standards

As we have said previously, specific standard for CTI has not been explicitly defined, However, there are numerous security standards and specifications designed for telecom operators by international standard organizations (ISO/IEC, 3GPP, 3GPP2, ITU-T), see Table II, which could be used in defining strategies for CTI.

|                | SECURI                                 | TY STANDARDS FOR TELECOM OPERATORS [4]   |
|----------------|--|--|
| Org.           | Standard/Specificati<br>ons            | Description  |
| ISO/IEC        | 27001:2005<br>27002:2005<br>27011:2008 | Specifies requirements for an Information Security Management System,<br>a code of practice for information security management and a standard<br>applicable to telecommunications organizations |
| 3GPP,<br>3GPP2 | 33-Series, S.S0086 and others          | Provides specifications for security standards for GSM, W-CDMA and LTE   |
| 3GPP2          | S.S0086 and others                     | Provides specifications for security standards for GSM (including GPRS and EDGE), W-CDMA and LTE (including advanced L TE) mobile systems  |
| ITU- T         | E.408-409<br>X.805, X.1051             | Security requirements, threat identification frameworks and guidelines<br>for risk mitigation, Incident organization, Security architecture for<br>systems providing end-to-end communications   |

| TABLE II                                |     |
|---|-----|
| ECURITY STANDARDS FOR TELECOM OPERATORS | [4] |

### V. SITUATION IN THE REGION AND SERBIA

Many countries worldwide has identified their CTI and related bodies responsible for CTI (USA, Canada, Germany, Sweden, Norway). Several countries have started projects on CTI (Brazil). Considering the situation in our region, we can say that CTI issues are not very often discussed [10].

Recessionary conditions in the region contribute to this situation. If CTI is mentioned then it is within general regulation on CI.

In *Slovenia*, regulation of CTI is within the Directive on European critical infrastructure [11].

As far as, in *Republic of Croatia* for critical infrastructure no legal framework is in place, but ministries in charges has established the special interdepartmental working group. The basis for their work is the Council Directive 2008/114/EC. Within Hrvatska elektroprivreda (Croatian Power Utility Company) the project on CI is prepared.

In *Bosnia & Herzegovina* Computer Emergency Response/Readiness Team-CERT is established in order to prevent, support and react on computer's attacks on information and automated systems, which are critical infrastructure. In this sense critical infrastructure comprises all systems affecting functioning and quality of society such as railroad signalization systems, power distribution, government systems and telecommunications and information systems.

In *Montenegro*, also, National Computer incident response team-CIRT is established to be the focal point for coordination and data exchange, protection against cyber attacks and recovery after cyber attacks. All governmental bodies and national critical infrastructure are its users.

In Serbia, National Strategy for an Information Society in Serbia 2020, deals with the

protection of critical infrastructure in chapter 6.2 in relation to information security, attacks using ICT and ways of protection [12]. In this document the need for defining criteria for identification of critical infrastructure is required. National strategy for protection and rescue in emergency situations and Law on Emergency Situations [13] has not referred to CTI. Within the Project" Managing critical infrastructure for sustainable development in the postal, railway and communications sector in the Republic of Serbia" (Project No. 036 022) CI for three mentioned sectors is discussed. The main Project's objective is to identify critical infrastructure systems, whose efficiency and effectiveness is essential for the smooth growth and development of economy and society. The part of the Project is dealing with CTI and is carried out by the project team from Transport and Traffic Engineering Faculty team and Telecom Serbia. Having in mind all factors that can attack telecom infrastructure (natural disasters, targeted attacks, some unintentional disturbance) and different ownership on telecom infrastructures (public and private), the issues about CTI become regulatory issues [14]. The National backbone network is under discussion and CTI, its regulation and operator's obligations should not be neglected in those discussions.

EU Council Directive 2008/114/EC is a basis for the next steps in defining criteria for CI. In its Annex III procedure which shall be implemented by each Member State goes through the following series of consecutive steps [11]:

Step 1 - Each Member State shall apply the sectoral criteria in order to make a first selection of critical infrastructures within a sector;

Step 2 - Each Member State shall apply the definition of critical infrastructure pursuant to Article 2(a) to the potential ECI identified under step 1. For infrastructure providing an essential service, the availability of alternatives, and the duration of disruption/recovery will be taken into account;

Step 3 - Each Member State shall apply the transboundary element of the definition of ECI pursuant to Article 2(b) to the potential ECI that has passed the first two steps of this procedure. A potential ECI which does satisfy the definition will follow the next step of the procedure. For infrastructure providing an essential service, the availability of alternatives, and the duration of disruption/recovery will be taken into account; Step 4 - Each Member State shall apply the cross-cutting criteria to the remaining potential ECIs. The cross-cutting criteria shall take into account: the severity of impact; and, for infrastructure providing an essential service, the availability of alternatives; and the duration of disruption/recovery.

For detailed definition of CTI and critical resources within telecom infrastructure, and for application of fundamental network security features it is necessary to: identify the critical points of telecom infrastructure ; to propose recommendations intended to prevent security incidents and to guarantee service and business continuity if they happen; to elaborate strategies and policies to protect telecom infrastructure; and to analyze interdependence among different infrastructures; to propose recommendations intended to prevent security incidents and to guarantee service and business continuity if they happen; to elaborate strategies and policies to protect telecom infrastructure.

## **VI.** CONCLUSION

One of the fundamental condition in regard to CTI is development of a systematic legal approach which ensure that country's CTIs is a part of international CTI. It requires harmonization with the provision of the international institutional organization's framework.

Also, awareness-raising regarding the necessity of CTI security is an important part of CTI policy. It should define the obligations of CI organizations in the country to disseminate public information in order to raise awareness of its importance. For Europe, the legal frame for critical infrastructure has been made in EU Council Directive 2008/114/EC. Regarding critical telecommunications infrastructure one initiative of this kind is undertaken by the European Union, which intends to carry out "best practice" promotional campaigns and to encourage members to exchange data with one another. This approach could be applied in the SEE region too.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This research activity is a part of the Project "Management of Critical Infrastructure for Sustainable Development in the Postal, Communications and Railway sectors of the Republic of Serbia" supported by Ministry of Education and Science within the framework of scientific research projects 2011-2014 and by Telekom Srbija, Pošta Srbije and Železnica Srbije.

#### REFERENCES

- M. Nikolić "Praktični aspekti zaštite privatnosti korisnika i bezbednosti elektronskih komunikacionih mreža i usluga u Srbiji» Telekomunikacije, vol. 5, no. 1, 2010.
- [2] A.T. Murray, T.H. Grubesic, Critical infrastructure protection: The vulnerability conundrum Journal Telematics and Informatics, Vol. 29, Issue 1, February 2012
- [3] "Critical Infrastructure Emergency Risk Management and Assurance," Emergency Management Australia, A Division of the Attorney-General's Department, 2003.
- [4] C. Rajmohan, G. Subramanya and N. Sharma, "Telecommunication Networks: Security Management," Tata Consultancy Services Limited, 2012.
- [5] B. Lane, "Federal Communications Commission," [Online]. Available: http://transition.fcc.gov/pshs/techtopics/techtopics19.html. [Accessed 09 09 2012].
- [6] S. M. Rinaldi, "Modeling and Simulating Critical Infrastructures and Their Interdependencies," 2004.
- [7] Kijoon Chae, "Introduction to Critical Network Infrastructure", Background paper for ITU Workshop on Creating the Trust in Critical Network Infrastructure, 2002, Seoul, South Korea
- [8] S. H. Conrad, R. J. LeClaire, G. P. O'Reilly and H. Uzunalioglu, "Critical National Infrastructure Reliability Modeling and Analysis," Lucent Technologies Inc, 2006.
- [9] J. Shortreed, "Enterprise risk management and ISO 31000," The Journal of Policy Engagement, vol. 2, no. 3, p. 9, 2010.
- [10] Z. Kljaić, S. Mandžuka, P. Škorput «Primjena ICT-a u upravljanju kriticnom infrastrukturom u tranzicijskim zemljama» TELFOR 2010, Beograd <u>www.telfor.org</u>
- [11] Council Directive 2008/114/EC of 8 December 2008 on the identification and designation of European critical infrastructures and the assessment of the need to improve their protection, Official Journal of the European Union L 345/75, 23.12.2008.
- [12] "Strategija razvoja informacionog društva u Republici Srbiji do 2020," 2010. Službeni glasnik Republike Srbije, vol. 111, 2009.
- [13] Zakon o vanrednim situacijama, Službeni glasnik Republike Srbije, vol. 111, 2009.
- [14] Nacionalna strategija zaštite i spasavanja u vanrednim situacijama, Službeni glasnik Republike Srbije, vol. 111, 2009.

# Development of Multiplatform CMS System with Zend Framework

S. Vuković\*, M. Löberbauer\*\*, Z. Čović\*, M. Ivković\*\*\* \* Subotica Tech – College of Applied Sciences/Department of Informatics, Subotica, Serbia \*\* Institute for System Software, Johannes Kepler University, Linz, Austria \*\*\* University of Novi Sad, Technical Faculty "Mihajlo Pupin"/Department of Informatics, Zrenjanin, Serbia

**Abstract** – This paper presents the use of the Zend framework in the realization of a CMS system that can generate multiplatform web content in a responsive web design approach.Use of a framework can help developers tocreate better web applications, which are easier to maintain, faster to build, multifunctional and multiplatform based. The Zend framework provides an implementation of the MVC pattern.

Keywords- responsive design, zend framework, mvc, multiplatform.

# I. INTRODUCTION

The emergence of the Internet has led to changes in many aspects of human activity. The biggest impact the Internet has, is the development of the global business environment. The second impact is happing right now, and that is the emergence of smart phones. Today, increasing numbers of people access the Internet via their mobile device instead of a PC. The number of mobile devices in use has already surpassed the number of personal computers. It is estimated that the difference between these two numbers will only increase in the years to come [1]. When programmers are building web applications they have to think not only about user experience on desktop computers but also have to think about user experience on tablet and mobile devices. Because of the great penetration of smart handheld devices it is necessary to build multiplatform and multifunctional web applications.

## **II. FRAMEWORK**

Using frameworks in the world of software development has long been known. However, in the world of web development it is new. A software framework is a set of libraries, and an execution environment that allows programmers to develop web applications faster and more organized. The main idea of the framework is observed after the use of frequently used functions and basic structures upon which programmers can develop their applications. Most experienced developers have their own libraries, which are used on a project basis for faster growth. However, the development of web applications based on open-source frameworks has its apparent advantages. In addition, an open-source framework is more reliable, because it is tested and used by many programmers. The biggest advantage of using frameworks is that all developers in a team working on a project should follow the same rules and conventions when developing web applications. This allows easy integration of new developers to work on the project if they are familiar with the rules and conventions of the used framework.

#### A. Zend Framework

Zend Framework is an open source framework for the development of web applications and it is based on the PHP programming language. It contains a group of tools for design and implementation. Each tool contains built-in functions for input and validation of data, caching, security and so forth. Unlike other frameworks, Zend uses a so-called "Looselycoupled" architecture. This means that although the framework includes a number of components, these components are the most independent of each other and have a minimum interconnection.

Zend Framework also provides a complete implementation of the Model-View-Controller (MVC) pattern. Zend framework also supports modules which helps us increase our dynamism in developing web application. Using modules with MVC is referred as HMVC (Hierarchical Model View Controller) pattern. MVC is a widely recognized design pattern that separates our database and business logic from the presentation layer (in this case, the (X)HTML). Separation of presentation and logic aids in maintainability, by producing clean and understandable code. Furthermore, it means that the developer can update the layout and design of a site without having to worry about wading through PHP script tags. The Zend controller is an implementation of the MVC design pattern (Fig. 1). When the browser sends a request, the dispatcher searches the according controller to handle the request.

Software design patterns are a standard solution to common problems. This means that although implementations and solutions are different, the concept of problem solving is the same.



Fig. 1 Design of theMVC pattern in Zend, which shows the three main parts of a web application

#### B. Models

Almost every application has its own database, regardless of whether it is something as simple as a username and password or as complex as an online shop. In MVC, the data are layered and presented with one or more models. The models provide tools to download, read, delete, and in general manipulate data. This layer is completely ignorant of how data are displayed to the user. It provides an independent logical interface for the manipulation of application data.

# C. View

The view is the logical display of an application. For web applications it is mainly HTML code that makes a web application, but other types of code can be included, for example XML, which is used for RSS feeds. Also, if the site allows data export to CSV format, the generation of such a file would be the job of the browser. Viewers are also known as the templates because they allow displaying the data generated in the model. It is also common that the more complex templates transfer in the so-called *ViewHelper*. They help for better exploitation of code.

# D. Controller

The controller is the code that makes the rest of the application. For web applications, the controller is the one who decides what will be executed based on the user's current request. For Zend applications, the controller is based on a design pattern known as Front Controller that uses a handler called Zend\_Controller\_Frontas a command for action (Zend\_Controller\_Action) working in tandem. The front controller accepts all server requests and runs the appropriate action. This process is known as the routing and dispatching.

## E. Modules

One of the greatest think about Zend framework is unlike others frameworks it supports modules. Using modules gives us great dynamism when working in a team, because we can look at modules as they are small separate applications inside our big application. In our example, we have module for blog section, module for gallery and so on. Blog section and gallery have nothing in common, this way we can have one developer concentrating on developing a blog section while other developer can concentrate on developing gallery and so on.



Fig. 2 Hierarchical Model View Controller Pattern

## **III. RESPONSIVE DESIGN**

Most often we have seen that there is no optimization and adaptation of existing sites or new sites for mobile users. The web content might be too wide to fit the screen of mobile device – user equipment. Often, web pages that have been initially designed for desktop computers are too encumbered with content so they are practically unsuitable for users accessing them via mobile devices [1].

A solution for this problem is to use some kind of detection and adaptation. In the development of this CMS system a responsive design approach is used. Responsive web design is the approach that suggests that design and development should respond to the user's behavior and environment based on screen size, platform and orientation. The practice consists of a mix of flexible grids and layouts, images and an intelligent use of CSS media queries. As a user switches from his laptop to his iPad, the website should automatically switch to accommodate for resolution, image size and scripting abilities. In other words, the website should have the technology to automatically *respond* to the user's preferences [2]. This approach could be used if developers are confident that the access devices fully support the filtering of media and when a mobile website is dedicated to a specific group of users who have devices with the possibility of filtering media [1].

#### A. Responsive design in action

The idea is to first code the *Default layout* (width of 992px), and then use CSS3 media queries to code several child layouts: 768px, 480px and 320px width. The *Default layout* will be served to any browsers that do not support media queries, whereas the child layouts will be served, as appropriate, to browsers that do. They will also inherit all styles given to the *Default layout*, so coding them is very fast. To break it down, recent versions of Firefox, Chrome, Safari, Opera, Nokia Webkit, WebOS, Blackberry OS, as well as Internet Explorer 9, Android Webkit, and Mobile Safari (all iPhones, iPads, and iPod Touches) will use the layout most appropriate to them. Internet Explorer 6–8 and most old mobile devices will only use the *Default layout*.

The goal is to make building websites with multiple layouts efficient, and to make the layouts feel consistent. Since every layout is based on the same grid, elements used in one layout can often be reused in the others without changing them. For example, simply adjusting the width or font-size of an element in one layout is often enough to make it work in another. And even if more changes are re-quired, the common baseline grid and type presets will make the element fit in. Fig. 2 shows the main page of the CMS implementation, which uses this approach.



Fig. 3 Main page shown on mobile device

# **IV. IMPLEMENTATION OF CMS SYSTEM**

The reason why PHP is growing so rapidly as a server-side scripting language is that it is easy to learn. Many functions are included without needing any sort of namespace importing, and programmers don't even have to write object oriented code if they don't want to. Variables are weakly typed and the syntax is fairly familiar. But PHP's ease of use is also its downfall. Because there are fewer restrictions on the structure of the written code, it's much easier to write bad code.

PHP frameworks like CakePHP, CodeIgniter and the Zend Framework provide a solid structure for code whilst also offering some extra functionality that would be much harder to replicate on its own. It's important to note that the frameworks mentioned follow the MVC pattern. Making multiplatform based sites in this way is easier.

In the realization of thisCMS system the following technologies are used: HTML5, CSS3, JavaScript, AJAX, jQuery, PHP and MySQL database.

This CMS system is divided into front-end development (public) and back-end development (administration). The public part is more focused on interactivity, design and optimization for mobile devices. The public part consists of a*main page*, *ablog section*, *agallery*, and *pages*. The main page or index page is the place where we want to segregate important information or parts of our site. The blog section consists of articles, which can be filtered by categories or tags. A single selected article contains headline, date created, category that belongs to, body text, social widgets, tags, related posts and facebook comment. The gallery consists of albums. While pages are used for creating independent pages like 'about us', 'contact' etc.



Fig. 4 Index page in public section

The administration part is protected and only two types of users can access it – administrators and writers. Depending on the role some parts of the administrative area are not accessible. This panel consists of *dashboard*, *users*, *categories*, *posts*, *pages*, *menu section*, *gallery*, and *settings panel*.

For creating a post we first have to create a category. Ordering categories is eased by *drag'n'drop* support.

| Tutorials             | E 🧐 |
|-----------------------|-----|
| Development<br>jQuery |     |
| Web Design            | E 🧐 |

Fig. 5 Drag and drop support for ordering categories

A blog post consists of a headline, a slug (friendly URL), a category list, a headline image, the body text, and tags. Pages are similar to blog post, except they don't need a headline image and tags.

| Select category<br>Tutorials V<br>Set thumbhail<br>Choose File No file chosen<br>B I U the X <sub>2</sub> X <sup>2</sup> O G II II (5 1% 1% 1% E E II   |   |
|--|---|
| Tutorials ♥<br>Set thumbhail<br>Choose File No file chosen<br>B I U ever X <sub>2</sub> X <sup>2</sup> Ø Q III II (% (% ) E E E III (% (% ) P O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O O  |   |
| Set thumbnail<br>Choose File No file chosen<br>B I U +++ X <sub>2</sub> X <sup>2</sup> Ø Q 注 ⊟ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤ (≤  |   |
| Choose File       No file chosen         B       I |   |
| B I U → X <sub>2</sub> X <sup>2</sup> Ø Q } ∃ ∃ (% 4% ) → W ≥ ± ± ≡ ∞ 1 ↔ @ ∩ ⊠ Ø □ ≡ Ø Ω 4∃ ●<br>Styles ♥ Format ♥ Fort ♥ Sze♥ A <sub>2</sub> ★ Q ⊕ Source  |   |
| B I U ↔ X <sub>2</sub> X <sup>2</sup> Ø G ≟ Ξ i ≤ 4% I 99 % ≥ Ξ Ξ M N Ø Ø O ⊡ Ø O Ω ₩ Φ<br>Styles ♥ Format ♥ Font ♥ Size ♥ A <sub>1</sub> • A • S ≥ Source   |   |
| Styles Format Font Size At At Source   |   |
|  | - |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
| body   | 1 |
|  |   |
| add a tag  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |
|  |   |

Submit

Fig. 6 Section for adding posts

Menu management gives dynamism to our system. With this, we can easily maintain our main menu.

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

| Cust                                       | om Links  | Menu       |                           |     |
|--|---|------------|---------------------------|-----|
| URL  | http://   | Home       | http://dip/               | No. |
| Label                                      | Menu Item   | Tutorials  | /blog/category/tutorials  | 0   |
|  | Add Link  | Web Design | /blog/category/web-design | 9   |
| Dogo                                       |   | Pages      | #                         | 0   |
| Fage                                       | 5   | About Us   | /pages/about-us           | Q   |
| About U<br>Marketir                        | Js<br>na  | Marketing  | /pages/marketing          | Q   |
| Contact                                    | t   | Contact    | /pages/contact            | 0   |
| Select all                                 | Deselect all Add Pages                            |            |                           |     |
| Tutorials Develop jQuery Web De Select all | s<br>smment<br>esign<br>Deselect all Add Category |            |                           |     |

Fig. 7 Menu management section

The gallery section consists of albums and images. Uploading multiple images is done with the *Uploadify* script, which uses a combination of flash and javascript to upload images, once an image is uploaded it is passed to PHP to do the rest.

| Edit Album info         | Upload images |                                       |                |
|-------------------------|---------------|---------------------------------------|----------------|
| Name                    |               | 8                                     |                |
| Ubuntu Communtiy Wallp  |               | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 |                |
| Slug                    |               |                                       |                |
| ubuntu-communtiy-wallpa |               | and the second second                 |                |
| Description             |               | and the second second                 | a second to be |
| Ubuntu Communtiy Wallp  |               | 2.9                                   | ~              |
| Submit                  | Delete        | Delete                                | Delete         |
|                         |               |                                       | Ĩ              |
|                         | Delete        | Delete                                | Delete         |

Fig. 8 Uploaded images in selected album

## **V. CONCLUSION**

Developing web applications with frameworks reduces development time and increases maintainability. Using responsive design increases the support for multiplatform with a minimum effort and with only a single design. The main disadvantage of optimization based on CSS media queries is that only a small number of old devices support it.
E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

## REFERENCES

- [1] Čović, Z., Ivković, M., Radulović, B., "Mobile Detection Algorithm in Mobile Device Detection and Content Adaptation", Acta Polytechnica Hungarica (2012). Volume 9, Number 2, ISSN: 1785-8860,pp. 95-113
- [2] http://coding.smashingmagazine.com/2011/01/12/guidelines-for-responsive-web-design/
- [3] Vikram, V. "Zend framework: a beginner's guide", 2010.

# Extraction of a Thesaurus and a Project Structure from Open-source Software GIT Repository

A.Y. Sokolov, E.A. Cherkashin

Institute of System Dynamics and Control Theory SB RAS, Irkutsk, Russia alexanderysokoloff@gmail.com, eugeneai@icc.ru

**Abstract** – The paper deals with the problem of automatic extraction of a project structure and its ontology from revision control system's commit network. The problem is solved on the base of logical analysis of project branching structure and grouping the branches according to the ontology. The aim of the research is to investigate a possibility to describe the project structure in ontology terms of the project domain.

Keywords- Data Mining, Ontology, Open-source Software, Thesaurus.

#### **I. INTRODUCTION**

The evolution of instrumental software is aimed at shifting the programmer's creative activity to the higher level of abstraction. The programming technologies like UML, CASE, MDA (Model Driven Architecture) allow programmer to consider (to model) the software systems under development on the higher level of abstraction as compared to the source code of subsystems; all of them usually generate parts of the source code from their abstract models. Ontological models are abstract models which basically denote the terminological basis and special entity sets of project domain and the developed software. The ontological models reflect a set of terms used by programmers to describe software artifacts, various technical documentation and other texts related to the software. We consider a problem of ontology models construction and use them in development automation within the software life cycle.

The ontology model (hereafter "ontology") can be extracted from the texts as thesaurus [1] and be further developed in the life cycle of the software. From other hand side the ontology modification sometimes implies also the software modifications, thus, the ontology affects in some degree the software development process. To support the statement we try to construct a thesaurus used in various text messages related to open-source software project, accounting branching structure of the project. The branching structure is extracted from GIT commit network (repository) of the project source code. Hierarchical structure of ontology could in some extend correlate with project structure. Under *project structure* we consider tree-like representation of the project branching structure; the tree reflects hierarchical division of the project to inferior subprojects.



Fig. 1 An example diagram of a GIT-network

The source information for the investigation is a network graph structure representing all development, branching, and merging modes of the project sources stored in its GIT repository (see Fig. 1). The network reflects a time line of the project development process. Each new branching node can be interpreted as starting or continuation point of a subproject, but many of the branches are devoted to fixing errors. Merge points can be interpreted as finishing or committing points of a subproject. So the analysis of the commit network is, in general, a pattern recognition problem under control of heuristics. In our case the heuristics are defined as mutual relevance of branches.

#### **II. PROCEDURE FOR PAPER SUBMISSION**

In order to compare the thesaurus and the project structure, a tree of project structure should be extracted from GIT-network of open-source project source code. GIT is a distributed version control system developed by Linus Torvalds pecially to manage the development of the Linux kernel as very complex project [2]. GIT supports rapid split and merge versions of the source code, includes tools for visualization and navigation. GIT also supports each developer a local copy of the entire history of the development. The changes that made locally can be propagated from one repository to another by various ways. In addition, this system allows representing the history of the changes (the network) graphically.

Nodes of GIT network are versions of the source code and are identified by the SHA1hashed strings and accompanied with commit messages. Every commit is a fixation of changes made in a working copy of the main repository of the project, as well as a description of the changes. In the graph representation the nodes are connected to each other, each combination of the connections form either linear intervals of the development either splitting (branching) subprojects or merging of the subprojects or their results in a superior subproject.

The branching and merging in GIT can appear as results of two different kind of programmer's activity. The first activity is cloning a repository, e.g., creating local copy of the main project repository and incorporating the changes made in the main repository. The second case, which is of our interest, is the project development itself. In this case according to developer recommendation of GIT programmer should create a lightweight branch of the repository, develop the feature or correct an error, and then merge results to a superior branch,

in particular in the main branch. The simplified graphical representation of the software development served by GIT is given in Fig. 1. In the essence the merged results cloning and modifications are the usual case of branch formation.

Besides branching and merging nodes the development timeline contains linear intervals. Linear intervals reflect most probably a logical sequence of the development events related to the same subproject. The same is true for a sequence of merging events coming from an auxiliary subproject branch. Branching most frequently denote creation of a subproject.

To recognize branches in GIT-network an analytical program is being developed in the programming environment XSB [3]. XSB is chosen due to its powerful ability to index dynamic facts on their arguments. The idea is to develop a set of Prolog rules which will recognize template subgraphs and construct markup structure denoting for each node its role and inclusion. The source data for the analysis is a set of Prolog facts about GIT-network obtained by means of translation of the network structure.

### A. Recognition of basic structures

The translation subsystem is developed using the programming language Python, as well as its libraries GitPython. GitPython is a Python library used to interact with GIT repositories at various levels of abstraction. GitPython provides object model access to a GIT repository. It allows traverse the repository to find parent commits, trees, source code objects, binary blobs, etc. It provides abstractions of GIT objects for easy access of repository data.

The translation subsystem transforms the structure of the project represented in a GIT repository into a text format, which can be loaded by XSB predicates consult/1 or load\_dyn/2, i.e., into a collection of facts (Fig. 2). The facts in this case are the SHA1-hashed commits identifiers. The facts establish parent-child relationship between nodes. The versions in a GIT repository can be marked with tags, which are labels assigned to a specific commit of the source code. The tag label as a compound string value can express a symbolic name for a group of committed files, and a common version of each file in the group in some general versioning principle. This property of tags gives us a possibility to consider the inheritance of the individual parts of the project, and different versions of the project as well.



Fig. 2 Extraction node information from GIT repository

The following prolog sentences are examples of a GIT-network translation: node('df145gt6984tgh1254fr'). node('4684dsf457fesae4452').

These phreses are basic structure recognition rules.

```
branch(Z,X,Y):-
    parent(Z, X), parent(Z, Y), X\=Z.
merge(X,Y,Z):-
    parent(X, Z), parent(Y, Z), X\=Z.
tag('v3.3-rc2', '4564dfgert84tgdre4gs').
recent('v3.3-rc2', 'v3.3-rc1').
tagged(T,R):-tag(T,R),!.
tagged(T,R):-parent(P,R), tagged(T,P).
```

The facts of the structure node/1 denote existence of the nodes in the GIT network. Facts parent/2 denote inheritance relation between existing nodes. Facts tag/2 associates a tag value with a node, and recent/2 defines a versioning order between tags. Rules branch/3 and merge/3 are base rules for recognition of branching and merging; rule tagged/2 reveals whether a node belongs to a tagged set of commits. In order to extract the project structure it is necessary to run all recognition rules and write down all combinations of variable values obtained as a result of Prolog's logical inference.

The following prolog rules recognize linear development intervals of nodes.

```
merged(X,Y):-
      merge(X, ,Y),!.
nbr(X):-
      branch( , ,X), !, fail.
nbr(X):-
      merge(_,_,X), !, fail.
nbr().
strict(X,X, K, K, 1):-
       nbr(X).
strict(X,Y, K, [Z|T], N):-
      nbr(X),
      parent(Z,X),
       strict(Z,Y, K, T, M),
      N is M+1.
/*
           Recognition of chains.*/
/*
           -//- between branch & merge.*/
chain(X,Y, [X,Z|T], N):-
      branch(Z, ,X),
```

```
\pm foundchain(Z, _, _, _),
       strict(Z,R,[Y],T, N),
       merge(R, ,Y),
       cache (foundchain (Z, X, Y, N)).
chain(X,Y, [X,Y], 0):-
       branch(Y, ,X),
       \pm foundchain(Y, _, _, _),
       merge(X, ,Y),
       cache(foundchain(Y, X, Y, 0)).
/*
           -//- between merge & branch.*/
chain(X,Y, [X,Z|T], N):-
       merge(Z, , X),
       \pm foundchain(Z, _, _, _),
       strict(Z,R,[Y],T, N),
       branch(R, ,Y),
       cache (foundchain (Z, X, Y, N)).
chain(X, Y, [X, Y], 0):-
       merge(Y, ,X),
       \pm foundchain(Y, _,_, _),
       branch(X, ,Y),
       cache(foundchain(Y,X,Y,0)).
```

Predicate chain/4 defines relation between a starting node, an ending node, a path and the length of the path. A path is, e.g., a linear piece of GIT network, which starts from branching, ends at merging, has no branching and merging inside. Predicate nbr/1 denotes the argument is neither branching, nor merging node; strict/5 recognizes linear subpath inside branch under recognition. Predicate (dynamic fact) foundchain/4 stores the result of the recognition. Its arguments are start node, end node, path identifier, and path length. The path identifier is a node inside path, which distinct the path between various paths having common branching and merging nodes and the same length. Length is used to debug algorithms: we filter program output with command line grep utility and calculate statistics by number of processed branches according to their lengths. Auxiliary predicate cache/1 stores dynamic fact foundchain/4 in working memory and shows the progress of recognition.

## **III. THESAURUS EXTRACTION**

After branching structure has been deduced from GIT network, the nodes of the structure should be labeled by terms. The labeling denotes names of subprojects and their purposes, as well as project-subproject relationships (fig 3.). The labeling terms are obtained from texts associated with commit messages of GIT network nodes. In this section we consider an approach, which used to construct a thesaurus and labeling from commit messages. The thesaurus extraction approach is based on technique described in [4].



Fig. 3 Extraction node information from GIT repository

Thesaurus is a way of formalizing object domains of software under development, it is kind of ontology. Ontology is an object domain model consisting of a set of concepts and a set of assertions about these concepts, based on which classes, relations, functions and individuals can be described. Ontologies are intuitively used by programmers to refer objects and their relationships to be implemented. Hypothetically, using of ontologies allows automating the development some parts of information models.

## A. A general scheme of thesaurus construction

On the first step a set of independent texts are prepared. The texts are stored in fast access database. After that full text index of the stemmed words (hereafter terms) of the texts is produced. The index should contain forth and back references between terms and texts.

On the second step the terminological basis construction algorithm looks through the texts and tries to join adjacent terms found in texts in a compound term. The full text index frequency for the compound term is figured out. The join succeeds if the frequency of the term decreases not more than in 0.7 times (the coefficient is arbitrary and subject of experiments). If an original single term is used at lest once as first word of a compound term, then it is removed from the terminological basis.

On the next step full text index is transformed into terminological index, where the terms are mapped into their frequencies of appearances in the texts. Now the texts are represented as points in property space, where each of the property is a term of the terminological basis. If term appearances frequencies are similar for two texts then the texts are similar and located near to each other in the property space. The set of texts are processed by some hierarchical clustering algorithm, which induced the hierarchy of classes of semantically similar texts. We use agglomerative clustering methods as it has lower computation complexity with comparison to divisive methods.

On the last step in each join node of cluster the terminological index is recalculated for the texts belonging to the node. The most frequent term is selected among the terms appeared in the texts. This term denotes the semantic of the node. Also among most frequent terms a set of terms can be chosen, the set will also describe the semantic of the texts. The resulting hierarchy clustering also denotes class-subclass (term-subterm) relationship between terms as required by thesaurus.

## B. Implementation of the scheme

The set of independent texts are constructed from joined together commit messages from one recognized branch. It is supposed that all programmer's work in a branch devoted to one problem.

The joined commits stored in a MySQL MySAM table. The stemmed word index is generated by means of slightly modified Sphinx search engine (http://www.sphinxsearch.com). Sphinx is an open source full text search tool, designed from the ground up with performance, relevance (i.e., search quality), and integration simplicity in mind. It lets programmer index and search data stored in an SQL database or in other storages. Sphinx also supports database server interface and a MySQL embedded mode. Our modifications allow relating engine's CRC32-coding of the stemmed words with the original worlds; originally the engine does not store this relation. Also we made some API modifications to unload the index in a Python language dictionary-like structure.

A terminological basis is induced by a Python script according to the above described scheme using a library hcluster for the hierarchical cluster construction. The main role of the Python program is to calculate indexes for the subsets and convert data structures before and after processing with the external library modules.

### **IV. CONCLUSION**

In this paper we considered software for a project structure analysis of a software project revision control system commit network. An open-source project and its GIT-network are used as testing ground. The GIT-network is essentially represented as 2-D structure, where the first dimension is a structural location of a subproject, the second dimension is a time moments of the commits of each of subproject. Logic recognition procedures have been developed and implemented as Prolog program to recognize the space coordinate of each commit. Procedures for ontology extraction and labeling the project tree from the commit messages have been implemented.

In the essence we are interested in investigation of the possibility to describe the software development process in terms of ontological model and source code representation, i.e., some kind of functional relations between structures. From other hand side the source code change commit messages describe the ontology change (Fig. 4): some messages can be interpreted in constructive fashion by means of description of the source code changes.



Fig. 4 Ontology terms are the semantic basis of commit messages

Test investigations of the developed software were conducted on three independent opensource projects taken from github.com. The structures of these projects have been converted to the lists of facts in Prolog, and, using the recognition rules, we separated the linear section of the development process of each project. Unfortunately, we were unable to label branches with terms extracted from developers' commit messages. The obtained terms were irrelevant to programming terms at all. Experiments with filtering terms by frequencies have also failed. At first glance it seems that the problem occurs because the messages contain mostly references (links) to external messages on development boards (forums, bug lists, tickets, etc.), and the rest of texts was only action made by programmers (e.g. "Fixed bug #2343"). To solve this problem we need to analyze messages that are referenced by the commits. In addition, it would be of purpose to extract programmers' slang vocabulary firstly from the terminological basis.

In the same time by means of the hierarchy clustering we managed to recognize adjacent branches dealing with a common problem, most of them are located near by the time line. This inspires us to proceed with the experiments further. The structure recognition and thesaurus construction can be improved if some tagging information of the messages, such as fields 'FIX:', 'TODO:' is used and analyzed.

The results of the investigations supposed to be used as an advisory or a project planning subsystem in a new generation of designers' instrumental software. For example, having modified a formalized ontology, the instrumental software could suggest a modification of an UML Class Diagram or advice designers to implement new software function on the base of the new feature textual description analysis [5].

#### REFERENCES

- "Ontologies and Thesauruses Institute of Distance Education INTUIT", http://www.intuit.ru/department/expert/ontoth (in Russian)
- [2] "Git (software) Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia", URL:http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Git\_(software) (access date 09.02.2012)
- [3] D.S.Warren, "Programming in Tabled Prolog (very) DRAFT" Stony Brook, NY 11794-4400, U.S.A. (unpublished) URL: http://www.cs.sunysb.edu/~warren/xsbbook/ (access date – 29.08.2012)
- [4] I.V. Zakharova, A.V. Melnikov, J.A. Vokhmitsev "An approach to automated ontology building in text analysis problems". Workshop on computer Science and Information Technologies CSIT'2006, Karlsruhe, Germany, 2006. P.177-178.
- [5] E.A.Cherkashin, V.V.Paramonov, et al, "Model Driven Architecture is a Complex System", E-Society Journal Research and Applications. Volume 2, Number 2, 2011, pp. 15-23.

# A Case Study from Iskratel: Improving the User Experience in a Telecommunications Company

Emilija Stojmenova\*, Jože Guna\*\*, Dejan Dinevski\*\*\*, Matevž Pogačnik\*\* \* Iskratel, Ltd., Kranj, Slovenia \*\* University of Ljubljana/Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Ljubljana, Slovenia \*\*\* University of Maribor/Faculty of Medicine, Maribor, Slovenia stojmenova@iskratel.si

**Abstract**—This paper presents a case study from the international telecommunications company Iskratel. As a result of increased competition on world markets the company started to look for ways to be more successful than its competitors. Since it was impossible to lower prices, the company decided to improve the user experience of its products, which could be the factor that gives a competitive advantage over the other products on the market. The activities at Iskratel over the past three years introduced to improve the overall user experience of company's products and services are presented.

Keywords-User experience, User-centered design, Iskratel, User Evaluation.

## I. INTRODUCTION

The business success of a company is, apart from the complexity of its technology, also measured by how well the products and services of the company serve their customers. The world is highly competitive, with a wide choice of technically reliable products, services and solutions with numerous functionalities. In such a world, products and services with a better user experience have a competitive advantage over the other products on the market.

In this paper we present a case study from the international telecommunications company Iskratel, a Slovenian company with more than 50 years of experience in the world of telecommunications. The company develops telecommunications solutions for rural and suburban areas and designs comprehensive solutions for the communication needs of the information society [1]. In the past, when competition was not a problem, the company was mainly concerned with improving its technology. However, as competition on the market increased, the company started to look for ways to be more successful than its competitors. It was soon realized that price was not the only factor that gives a company a competitive advantage. For this reason Iskratel decided to make user experience a factor that makes its products more attractive to its customers than competing products on the market.

Until fairly recently, the user experience of products and services in the company was only evaluated in the development phases, i.e., in the phases of designing and implementing the products. The users were not involved in any assessment of product quality from the standpoint of usability and user experience and in building these findings into the requirements for new versions of an existing or new product [2]. That is why the users' opinions, needs, wants, expectations and practices were not satisfactorily integrated into the product requirements.

At Iskratel the improvement of processes is a continuous task. Based on analyses of the product's weaknesses, improvements were needed to increase the users' satisfaction. The company recognized that close cooperation with users may contribute to a better user satisfaction and user experience. That is why Iskratel began a close cooperation with its users

from the specification of the product requirements to the testing of the new technology at the users' premises and the assurance of high-quality support [3]. The activities at Iskratel over the past three years designed to improve the overall user experience of the company's products and services are presented in this paper.

## **II. USER EXPERIENCE**

## A. Definition

Before we continue with the presentation of the activities, we would like to clarify what the term user experience means. According to ISO 9241-210 user experience is defined as "a person's perceptions and responses that result from the use or anticipated use of a product, system or service" [4]. User experience includes all the users' emotions, beliefs, preferences, perceptions, physical and psychological responses, behaviors and accomplishments that occur before, during and after use.

A product with optimal user experience is primarily usable; however, it provides much more than pure usability. If usability is understood as a form of rationality (e.g., effective in achieving a particular goal), the user experience is happening at the level of emotions. Parts of the user experience are, for example, professional design, which is confidence-inspiring, and a clear and concise text that provokes an irrepressible desire to use. A product with optimal user experience invites and engages the user, leaving a positive memory. As a result, the user returns to the product and is happy to use the product again and again.

## B. User-Experience Guidelines

Preparing user-experience guidelines is usually the first (unfortunately, in many cases also the only) step towards the process of improving the overall user experience in a company. So, when Iskratel decided to improve the user experience of its products, the first task assigned to the user-experience team was to prepare a user-experience guidelines document. A set of bestcase experiences, user-experience guidelines and information were collected in a document, which is constantly being updated. An example of a best-case and worst-case scenario from the document is shown in Fig. 1. The aim of the document is to ensure that user-experience design is even more closely integrated into the development process for future products [5].

|  |  | ABC                    | X Pha I    |                                  |                                      |  | (a)               | H-                  | TP.        | 100%                | <b>.</b> @ | S           |             |    |
|--|--|------------------------|------------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|-------------------|---------------------|------------|---------------------|------------|-------------|-------------|----|
| Arial Black                                  |  | 45                     | B          |                                  | ( - AB                               | : 🔊 🛓  | -                 |                     | "<br>E :   | 1 II                | ‡≣ •       | 绿           | 律           | >> |
|  |  | ala f                  |            |                                  |                                      |  |                   |                     |            |                     |            | -           |             |    |
|  |  |                        | 1110 10 1  | DOORI                            | ucor in                              | tortace  | dec               | ign g               | and        | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | - did n    | 10 to 10 10 | 0.0014r     |    |
| ire 5: Bad prac                              | tice exam  | ipie - L               | Jue to p   | 00011                            | user in                              | terrace  | ues               | ign, n              | 1051       | user                | suiun      | OUKI        | 10001       | no |
| ire 5: Bad prac                              | tice exam  | ipie - L               | Jue to j   | use s                            | styles i                             | n Word   | ues               | 1811, II            | 1051       | user                | suiun      | OUKI        | 10101       | no |
| re 5: Bad prac                               | •  | ipie - L               | Jue to j   | USE S                            | styles i                             | n Word   | des               | ign, n              | 1051       | usen                | suun       |             |             | no |
| Home Inse                                    | €<br>rt Page Lay   | yout F                 | References | USE S<br>Docum<br>Nail           | ent1 - Min                           | n Word<br>crosoft Wor                              | d View            | ign, n              | 1051       | usen                | s did fi   |             |             | )  |
| Home Inse                                    | *<br>rt Pagelay<br>ady) *  | yout F                 | References | USE S<br>Docum<br>Mail           | ent1 - Min<br>ings                   | n Word   | d View            | ign, n              | 1031       | - DL C              |            |             | - C         |    |
| Home Inse                                    | ÷<br>rt Pagelay<br>odyj ÷<br>⊒ • ske x, :  | yout F                 | References | Use s                            | ent1 - Min<br>ings<br>if if if       | n Word<br>crosoft Word<br>Review                   | d<br>View<br>Dc   | aBbCcD              | < A        | aBbCo               |            |             | ana e       |    |
| Home Inse<br>Acalibri (Boc<br>Baste V 22 - A | <pre>     trice exam     trice     trice exam     trice     trice exam     trice     trice exam     trice     trice</pre> | yout F<br>11 -<br>X' - | References | USE S<br>Docum<br>Mail<br>- Nor- | ent1 - Min<br>ings<br>if if if<br>if | n Word<br>crosoft Wor<br>Review<br>Aa5bO<br>T Norm | d<br>View<br>Dc 4 | aBbCcD<br>No Spaci. | к <b>А</b> | aBbC                | - A        | nge Er      | A<br>diting |    |

Figure 6: Good practice example – Due to the good user interface design, users intuitively know how to use styles in the new MS Word



However, a user-guidelines document is not enough to achieve a great user experience. Users have to be involved continuously throughout the development process – from the product conceptualization phases till the very end, i.e., testing the new products and technology with the users. The approach where extensive attention is given to the users is known as user-centered design (UCD) [6].

## **III. USER-CENTERED DESIGN**

# A. Definitions

The term user-centered design/development (UCD) has its origins in the mid-1980s [6]. UCD represents a design philosophy and a process in which the needs, wants, and limitations of the end-user of a product or application are given extensive attention at each stage of the design and development process. UCD is the key to designing for good user experiences. Users' needs and values must be understood first, before designing and evaluating the products and solutions [7]. Understanding who the users are and what they need is the single most critical activity to developing a quality product and/or solution. Understanding the users usually begins by developing a user profile [8].

# B. User Profiles

User profiles are detailed descriptions of the users' attributes, such as age, gender, level of education, occupation, experience, key tasks, etc. These characteristics usually reflect a range that the target users fall within, for example, ages 25-50. User profiles help the project team understand who they are developing the product for, and help the user researchers when recruiting users for further study activities.

There are several user characteristics that should be considered when developing a thorough user profile. In their book, Courage and Baxter provided an ideal list of user characteristics that should be taken into account when creating a user profile [8]. However, researchers usually do not have access to all of the information necessary to create an ideal list of user characteristics. Additionally, some of the user characteristics are more important than others, depending on the product, the context of use and the situation. That is why the user characteristics should be prioritized and only key characteristics should be considered. For example, for Iskratel users, the key user characteristics considered are:

- Demographic characteristics age and gender.
- Education degree, courses taken.
- Occupation experience current job position, and responsibilities, previous jobs and responsibilities, years of experience.
- Computer experience computer skills, years of experience.
- Specific product experience experience with competitors' products or other domainspecific products, usage trends.
- Domain knowledge the users' understanding of the product area.
- Task primary, secondary tasks.
- Technology available computer hardware, software, other tools that are often used.
- Attitudes and values product preferences, fear of technology.
- Criticality of errors in general, the possible consequences of a user's error.

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

The key user characteristics were used for creating a user profile for the typical Iskratel user, as shown in **TABLE I**.

## TABLE I

## USER CHARACTERISTICS FOR TYPICAL ISKRATEL USERS

|                       | KEY US              | ER CHARACTERISTICS  |
|-----------------------|---------------------|---|
| Demographic           | Age                 | 25-55   |
| characteristics       | Gender              | 80% male<br>20% female  |
|                       | Degree              | High school to bachelor's degree (usually college)  |
| Education             | Courses taken       | Computer science, telecommunications, electronics, electrical engineering   |
|                       | Job position        | Telecom operators   |
| Occupation            | Responsibilities    | Monitor and/or operate equipment related to telecommunications sector   |
| Computer              | Skills              | Basic computer skills   |
| experience            | Experience          | Expert users  |
| Tasks                 | Primary tasks       | Responding or transferring calls as per the requirement.<br>Answering servicerelated questions of common types.<br>Sending messages to people or notification lists regarding<br>extraordinary events and alarms.<br>If any complaint is received regarding the functioning of the<br>systems, maintenance technicians are informed by the<br>telecommunications operator.<br>Taking note of the identification numbers of callers for future<br>reference. |
|                       | Secondary tasks     | Setting up conference calls along with monitoring where the<br>information system is located.<br>Managing all the related documents in such a way that<br>accurate records and data are always available as per the<br>requirement.<br>Managing all the related documents in such a way that<br>accurate records and data are always available as per the<br>requirement.   |
| Technology            | Hardware            | Desktop computer, operator terminal, stationary or mobile phone.  |
|                       | Software            | Applications specifically developed for telecom systems.  |
| Attitudes and values  | Product preferences | Easy to handle and operate.   |
| Criticality of errors | Consequences        | From mild to severe consequences.   |

## C. Personas

User profiles provide data for developing *personas*. A persona is a fictional individual created to describe a real end-user. Personas are designed to give real users life and help team members feel connected to them. One of the most important advantages of personas is that they help all team members to think about the same persona, instead of each team member working towards his or her own vision of who the end-user is.

At Iskratel, three personas were developed for each user profile. Altogether, there were eighteen personas developed for the company's target users. Developing multiple personas for a single user profile helps to cover the range of characteristics for the selected user profile. One of the personas we developed for the user profile presented above is shown in Fig. 2.

| Name:                  | Janez Novak   | ALC: NO                                 |
|------------------------|---|---|
| Age:                   | 32  | Care and a second                       |
| Family:                | Married, with two children.   | 10000                                   |
| Location:              | With his family, Janez lives in a<br>small flat in the center of a city.                                | - Coordin                               |
| Education:<br>Hobbies: | Telecommunications college<br>Janez playes basketball with his<br>colleagues once a week.               |   |
|                        | He loves to watch science-fiction<br>movies in the cinema.  |   |
|                        | He spends the holidays with his   |   |
| Jop:                   | family camping near the sea.<br>Janez likes being an operator most<br>of the time. He is very talkative |   |
|                        | and kind to the customers. However<br>work, as he believes he is able to do                             | r, sometimes Janez is bored at<br>more. |

Fig. 2 Persona for a typical Iskratel user.

## D. Use-Case Scenarios

Use-case scenarios provide examples of usage and specify how users carry out their tasks in a specified context. Such scenarios can be used as an input to design and provide a basis for subsequent usability testing.

Use-case scenarios are most useful when they are created early in the product-development cycle as specific, realistic and detailed examples of what a target user would do, but without making any reference what user-interface features would be used.

An example for a use-case scenario is shown in Fig. 3.

A few minutes before the end of the workday, Janez receives a call from a customer. The customer complains she wasn't able to call her sister. Janez uses the application for network management and finds a red alarm. He immediately informs the technical service about the problem. Janez thanks the customer for her call and assures her the problem will be solved in a convenient time.

| 0    | •    | 0    | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        | 0        |
|------|------|------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| MSAN | MSAN | MSAN | FE Fiber |

Fig. 3 Use-case scenario for Iskratel

# **IV. USER EVALUATIONS**

User evaluations are really important for improving the overall user experience in a company. User evaluations are used to assess five product aspects: efficiency, affection, helpfulness, control and learnability. User evaluations take place in different phases of the product development. For example, in the early stages of the product development user evaluations are applied to predict the usability and usefulness of future products, to verify whether the developers understand the user requirements and for a quick and informal testing of ideas. User evaluations at a later stage of the product development focus on the identification of difficulties users have when using the product and on product improvements. Even though user evaluations take place throughout the product-development life cycle, it is important to have as much of them in the early stages, because correcting errors in the early stages costs less than correcting errors in the later stages.

When conducting a user evaluation it is necessary to select the proper user-evaluation methods for evaluating the product in a given environment, to determine the appropriate number of expert evaluators and end-user participants, and to determine the types of activities that users will accomplish using the product.

There are many different methods for testing the usability and the user experience of a product. Which method should be used depends on several criteria, such as [9]:

- The aim and objectives of the evaluation
- The availability of human resources (expert evaluators, end-users, developers)
- The profile of the evaluation participants (end-users and/or expert evaluators)
- The number of participants in the evaluation
- The location where the evaluation takes place (user's environment or a laboratory)
- The technical equipment required
- The level of development of the evaluated product
- The expected level of product reliability
- The expected level of detail of the evaluation results.

For a successful user evaluation of a product, it is not necessary to use only one method. Different methods perform differently in different situations in assessing and finding different difficulties. Therefore, it is reasonable to use multiple methods to improve the overall usability and user experience of a certain product.

To evaluate the overall usability and user experience of the company's products, services and solutions, Iskratel normally uses the following methods:

- Heuristic evaluation, which is an informal and relatively inexpensive evaluation method. In this method, expert evaluators decide whether the elements of the user interface are in accordance with certain principles of user-interface design [10].
- System Usability Scale (SUS), which is a simple, flexible, and affordable questionnaire. SUS can be used to assess a wide range of products and services. SUS is a simple, ten-item attitude Likert scale giving a global view of subjective assessments of usability [11].
- Task analysis, which analyses what a user is required to do in terms of actions and/or cognitive processes to achieve a task. A detailed task analysis is conducted to

understand the current system and the information flows within it [12].

• AttrakDiff, which evaluates and compares the hedonic and pragmatic quality of interactive products. The evaluation data enables us to gauge how the attractiveness of the product is experienced, in terms of usability and appearance and whether optimization is necessary [13].

## **V. CONCLUSION**

This paper presents several activities at Iskratel from the past three years carried out in order to improve the overall user experience of the company's products and services. Iskratel is an international telecommunications company which decided that user experience could be the factor that gives Iskratel's products a competitive advantage over other products on the market.

Preparing a user-experience guidelines document was the first step towards the process of improving the overall user experience in Iskratel. However, since using only a user-guidelines document was not enough for achieving a great user experience, Iskratel introduced the UCD approach in its product-development processes. In order to understand its users, the company developed user profiles for its typical users. User profiles provided data for developing *personas*, which are fictional individuals created to describe real end-users. To understand the context of use of its products and services, Iskratel created several use-case scenarios, which provide examples of usage and specify how users carry out their tasks in a specified context. Finally, the company suggested several user-evaluation methods to assess and improve the usability and user experience of its products and services.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The operation that led to this paper is partially financed by the European Union, European Social Fund.

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Iskratel. About Us. www.iskratel.si. Accessed 1.10.2012.
- [2] E. Stojmenova, A. Robnik, I. Bojan. User experience: an important segment of the life cycle of products and development projects. In: proceedings of the 30th International Conference on Organizational Science Development. Kranj: Moderna organizacija, 2011, str. 1281-1286.
- [3] E. Stojmenova. S. Jovanovski. User experience team management. In: proceedings of the 31<sup>st</sup> International Conference on Organizational Science Development, March 21<sup>st</sup>-23<sup>rd</sup>, 2012, Portorož, Slovenia. Kranj: Moderna organizacija, 2012, str. 1118-1124.
- [4] IISO FDIS 9241-210:2009. Ergonomics of human system interaction Part 210: Human-centered design for interactive systems (formerly known as 13407). International Organization for Standardization (ISO). Switzerland.
- [5] E. Stojmenova. Navodila za oblikovanje produktov s pozitivno uporabniško izkušnjo. Iskratel, Kranj, 2012.
- [6] K. Vredenburg, J.Y Mao, W.P. Smith, T. Carey T. "A Survey of User-Centered Design Practice," in CHI'02. Minnesota, USA, 2002.
- [7] K. Väänänen-Vainio-Mattila, V. Roto, M. Hassenzahl. "Towards Practical User Experience Evaluation Methods", in Proceedings of the COST294-MAUSE Workshop on Meaningful Measures: Valid Useful User Experience Measurement (VUUM), 18th June, 2008, Reykjavik, Iceland.

- [8] C. Courage and K. Baxter. Understanding your users. A practical guide to user requirements. Methods, tools and techniques. Morgan Kaufmann Publishers, CA, 2005.
- [9] C. Karat. Comparison of user interface evaluation methods. In Nielsen, J., and Mack, R.L. (Eds.), Usability Inspection Methods, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 203-232, 1994.
- [10] J. Nielsen, J. Heuristic evaluation. In Nielsen, J., and Mack, R. L. (Eds.), Usability Inspection Methods, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 25-64, 1994.
- [11] J. Brooke. SUS: a "quick and dirty" usability scale. In P. W. Jordan, B. Thomas, B. A. Weerdmeester, & A. L. McClelland. Usability Evaluation in Industry. London: Taylor and Francis, 1996.
- [12] Task analysis. http://www.usabilitynet.org/tools/taskanalysis.htm. Accessed 1.10.2012.
- [13] What is AttrakDiff? http://www.attrakdiff.de/en/AttrakDiff/What-is-AttrakDiff/. Accessed 1.10.2012.

# Simulating e-Commerce Client-Server Interaction for Capacity Planning

Ilija S. Hristoski\*, Pece J. Mitrevski\*\*

\* "St. Clement of Ohrid" University, Faculty of Economics, Prilep, Macedonia \*\* "St. Clement of Ohrid" University, Faculty of Technical Sciences, Bitola, Macedonia

Abstract—Contemporary ways of doing business are heavily dependent on the e-Commerce/ e-Business paradigm. The highest priority of an e-Commerce Web site's management is to assure pertinent Quality-of-Service (QoS) levels of their Web services continually, in order to keep the potential e-Customers satisfied. Otherwise, it faces an immense possibility of losing both e-Customers and revenues, along with a big possibility of gaining bad reputation due to either poor performance or unavailability of the e-Commerce Web site. In order to avoid numerous unpleasant consequences, by designing and implementing e-Commerce Web sites that will always meet e-Customer's high expectations, a relevant performance models have to be utilized to obtain appropriate performance metrics. A continuous assessment of current performances and especially predicting future needs are the subjects of capacity planning methodologies. Within this paper, such a predictive model has been described and evaluated by using discrete-event simulation of both the client-side and server-side processes involved. In addition, the paper discusses the performance metrics obtained as a function of the intensity and quality of the workload parameters.

Keywords—capacity planning, client-server interaction, discrete-event simulation, e-Commerce.

## I. INTRODUCTION

Keeping e-Customers of a particular e-Commerce Web site satisfied has always been a task of a highest priority for its management. E-Customers' dissatisfaction can lead to company's bad reputation, loses of both current and potential e-Customers, and substantial financial loses. Besides other leading factors for e-Customers' dissatisfaction, poor Web site performance is ranked second, just behind high product prices and shipping costs [1]. Since most Internet users have broadband connections today, poor Web site performance, including even Web site crashes, have been considered the main generators of e-Customers' dissatisfaction. According to Hoxmeier & DiCesare, user satisfaction is inversely related to response time, which 'could be the single most important variable when it comes to user satisfaction' [2]. In the virtual world of Internet, where time is money, speed is the only one-dimensional criterion that matters, whilst the expression 'faster is better' is the simplest equation in the entire field of Internet strategy [3]. Regarding the response time, the famous '8-seconds rule' has already changed. Four seconds is now considered the maximum length of time the average online shopper will wait for a Web page to load in a browser, before potentially abandoning the retail site, with a tendency to be halved again in the forthcoming years [1]. In order to assure pertinent QoS levels of the vital performance metrics, including the response time, a capacity planning methodology, based on the usage of relevant predictive models, has to be applied continually, as a crucial part of the e-Commerce Web site deployment. The solely aim of the process of capacity planning is to provide an unambiguous answer to the following question: 'Is the existing hardware infrastructure of a particular e-Commerce Web site capable to assure and maintain relevant Quality of Service (QoS) levels continually, having on mind the

unpredictable and stochastic nature of e-Customer's online behavior?' In that context, Menascé & Almeida [4] define capacity planning as being '... the process of predicting when the future load levels will saturate the system and determining the most cost-effective way of delaying system saturation as much as possible', taking into account the natural evolution of the existing workload, the deployment of new applications and services, as well as the unpredictable and stochastic changes in e-Customer's behavior. Capacity planning requires appliance of predictive models, in order to make a prediction of the system's performance parameters, including: response times, throughput, network utilization, or resource queue lengths. All of these measures have to be estimated for a given set of known input parameters, including system parameters, resource parameters, and workload parameters. Contrary to trivial approach of applying non-regular, intuitive, *ad hoc* procedures that rely on arbitrary rules of thumb and personal experience, which usually lack proactive and continuous, scientifically based capacity planning methodology, a very systematic and thorough approach to addressing capacity planning issues, both on a system and component level, was developed by Menascé & Almeida [4] [5]. Their approach relies on utilization of the probability theory, the construction of a state transition graph, known as Customer Behavior Model Graph (CBMG) for a particular e-Commerce Web site, and the appliance of the theory of queues and queuing networks. The resulting predictive performance models, which consist of closed-form expressions for evaluating various performance metrics, offer analytical/numerical solution, and have been developed both on a system and component level. Yet another novel approach to capacity planning, based on modeling e-Customer's online behavior during e-Commerce shopping session, using the class of Deterministic and Stochastic Petri Nets (DSPNs), has been proposed by Mitrevski et al. [6]. It is suitable for obtaining various client-side related performance metrics, since it is also based on a CBMG of a particular e-Commerce Web site, and includes a stochastic temporal specification of the thinking times during e-Customer's stay in three main states: 'Browse', 'Search', and 'Checkout' (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 CBMG corresponding to the DSPN model of e-Customer's online shopping behavior (based on Mitrevski et al. [6])

The idea for utilizing the class of DSPN for modeling purposes is based on the fact that the underlying stochastic processes of both the e-Customer's online session and that one of the DSPN are, in fact, of the same type, i.e. Markov regenerative processes. This approach offers a possibility for obtaining both analytical and numerical solution, and the model can be also

efficiently solved by specialized software. For the purposes of this paper, the DSPN model proposed by Mitrevski *et al.* [6], and represented via its CBMG (Fig. 1) will be utilized only as a template for implementing the logic of an e-Customer's online behavior within the discrete-event simulation model.

## **II. DISCRETE-EVENT SIMULATION APPROACH TO CAPACITY PLANNING**

Discrete-event simulation (DES) is one of the most widely used techniques for evaluating stochastic models. DES utilizes a mathematical/logical model of a physical system that portrays state changes at precise points in simulation time. Both the nature of the state changes and the time at which the changes occur, require precise description. Within DES, time advances not at equal size time steps, but rather until the next event can occur, so that the duration of activities determines how much the clock advances. Rather than employing any DES software simulator, we have used the open-source SimPy/Python programming environment for capacity planning purposes. SimPy (an acronym from 'Simulation in Python') is an extensible, object-oriented, process-based, general-purpose discrete-event simulation programming language, based on standard Python [7] [8] [9]. Compared to software simulators, and especially to all types of analytical/numerical solution methods, the usage of simulation programming language offers the greatest flexibility in terms of modeling power, and the maximum ability to depict an arbitrary level of details. For instance, all of the following aspects of the e-Commerce paradigm have been successfully modeled in SimPy: the client-side (the e-Customer's online behavior); the server-side (the hardware configuration of a typical e-Commerce Web site, on a system level); various classes of e-Customers (the qualitative component of the workload specification); the workload intensity (the quantitative component of the workload specification); the HTTP requests generation, for the three main functions invoked by the e-Customer: 'Browse', 'Search', and 'Checkout'; the propagation delays of the HTTP requests being forwarded from clients' browser towards e-Commerce servers and the delays of the corresponding responses, via Internet; and evaluation of plethora of performance metrics for both client- and server-side. Our SimPy implementation internally consists of three processes (named Source, Customer, and Request), along with their corresponding Process Execution Methods (PEMs) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 A schematic representation of the internal structure of the SimPy simulation model

The *Source* process implements the generation of e-Customers according to the given arrival rate, and according to the probability distribution of their type. It also defines the parameters of the simulation runs. The *Customer* process implements the client-side, i.e. the e-Customer's online behavior during the online session, in accordance with the CBMG, depicted on Fig. 1. As stated previously, an e-Customer spends an arbitrary time, exponentially distributed, while being in three particular states, including 'Browse', 'Search', and 'Checkout'. The actual thinking times for those operations are being drawn from the same

exponential distributions based on the average thinking times, i.e. 1.0, 1.0, and 3.0 minutes, respectively, for all classes of e-Customers, since we assume that e-Customers are all moderately experienced and need approximately the same amount of time whenever they perform those operations. If the e-Customers' segmentation into classes was based, for instance, on their experience (e.g. non-experienced, moderately experienced, and highly experienced), instead on their shopping behavior, the average thinking times for the 'Browse', 'Search' and 'Checkout' operations would be class-dependent, i.e. the non-experienced e-Customers would be assigned considerably bigger thinking times than the highly experienced ones. Whenever an e-Customer visits those states, a corresponding HTTP request has been generated and directed towards the e-Commerce Web site. Finally, the *Request* process implements the server-side, i.e. the propagation of each particular HTTP request through the e-Commerce Web site's hardware infrastructure, being already specified. Each Web site's server has been modeled on a system level, rather than on a component level. Since HTTP requests are processed by a particular server in a FIFO (FCFS) manner, each of them has been modeled as a resource with an infinite queue length, for simplicity reasons.

## **III. WORKLOAD CHARACTERIZATION**

The performance of any distributed system, like an e-Commerce Web site, which incorporates many clients, servers, and networks, depends heavily on the characteristics of its workload. According to Menascé & Almeida, the workload of a system can be defined as a set of all inputs that the system receives from its environment during any given period of time [4]. We focus on the workload characterization of the client-side. One has to be aware of two fundamental facts: first, e-Customers are not mutually equal, having on mind their online behavior; second, e-Customers access the Web site and invoke specific e-Commerce functions in an unpredictable and stochastic manner. The first fact is related to the qualitative aspects of the workload characterization. Many studies, including [10], have shown that it is possible to distinguish among various classes of e-Customers, having minded their online behavior during shopping sessions. Due to simplicity reasons, we model three basic classes of e-Customers regarding the intensity of buying online, i.e. Rare Shoppers, Ordinary Shoppers, and Frequent Shoppers. The specifics of their online shopping behavior can be defined through specification of the probabilities within the CBMG (Fig. 1), as shown in Table I. A mixture of various classes of e-Customers can be specified by defining a discrete random variable along with its probability mass function (pmf). If there are k disjoint classes of e-Customers identified, e.g.  $(t_1, t_2, ..., t_k)$ , then each of them can be assigned a corresponding probability from the pmf vector  $(p_1, p_2, ..., p_k)$ , such that  $\sum_{i=1}^{k} p_i = 1$ , as a measure of its particular participation within the workload mixture. For our proposed classification:  $(t_1 = Rare Shopper, t_2 = Ordinary$ Shopper,  $t_3 = Frequent Shopper$ ), we are going to investigate the performance as a result of the service demand caused by three possible operating scenarios:  $S_1(p_1 = 10\%; p_2 = 30\%; p_3 =$ 60%),  $S_2(p_1 = 33\%; p_2 = 34\%, p_3 = 33\%)$ , and  $S_3(p_1 = 50\%; p_2 = 30\%; p_3 = 20\%)$ . It is also worthy to point out the flexibility of the model, i.e. the fact that by varying the values of the probabilities within the Table I, it is possible to model a wide range of different classes of e-Customers. For instance, for younger or novel e-Customers, the probability p(Browse) would be higher than the probability p(Search), due to their lack of experience. Similarly, the probability p(End2) of ending the online session without paying, after putting an item in the shopping basket, will be considerably higher with reluctant e-Customers.

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

| CBMG (DSPN model)<br>probabilities | Rare Shoppers | Ordinary Shoppers | Frequent Shoppers |
|------------------------------------|---------------|-------------------|-------------------|
| <i>p</i> (Browse)                  | 0.50          | 0.50              | 0.50              |
| <i>p</i> (Search)                  | 1 - p(Browse) | 1 - p(Browse)     | 1 - p(Browse)     |
| <i>p</i> (Found)                   | 0.10          | 0.50              | 0.90              |
| <i>p</i> (Not Found)               | 1 - p(Found)  | 1 - p(Found)      | 1 - p(Found)      |
| p(Add)                             | 0.10          | 0.50              | 0.90              |
| p(Not Add)                         | 1 - p(Add)    | 1 - p(Add)        | 1 - p(Add)        |
| <i>p</i> (Continue1)               | 0.10          | 0.33              | 0.50              |
| p(Checkout1)                       | 0.10          | 0.34              | 0.45              |
| p(End1)                            | 0.80          | 0.33              | 0.05              |
| <i>p</i> (Continue2)               | 0.10          | 0.33              | 0.50              |
| p(Checkout2)                       | 0.10          | 0.34              | 0.45              |
| p(End2)                            | 0.80          | 0.33              | 0.05              |
| <i>p</i> (Continue3)               | 0.10          | 0.33              | 0.50              |
| p(Checkout3)                       | 0.10          | 0.34              | 0.45              |
| <i>p</i> (End3)                    | 0.80          | 0.33              | 0.05              |

TABLE I DEFINING VARIOUS CLASSES OF E-CUSTOMERS USING DSPN MODEL (CBMG) PROBABILITIES

The second fact is related to the quantitative aspects of the workload characterization. The arrival process of e-Customers is a Poisson process [11], since: there is a zero probability of two arrivals at exactly the same instant of time; the number of arrivals in the future is independent of what have happened in the past; the number of arrivals in the future is independent and identically distributed (i.i.d.) random variable over time, i.e. the process is stationary.

The inter-arrival times of a Poisson process comprise an i.i.d. random variable with an exponential distribution. Therefore, since the memoryless property of the exponential distribution holds at any instant of time, the expected time until the next arrival is a constant and is given by  $1/\lambda$ , where  $\lambda$  is the arrival rate [e-Customers/s] [12]. If  $\lambda$  is the overall arrival rate for a given operating scenario ( $S_1$ ,  $S_2$ , or  $S_3$ ), each of them comprising of a mixture of e-Customer's types ( $t_1$ ,  $t_2$ , ...,  $t_k$ ), along with a corresponding probability mass function ( $p_1$ ,  $p_2$ , ...,  $p_k$ ), then the arrival rate of each e-Customer's type is given by the product  $\lambda \cdot p_i$  (i = 1, 2, ..., k) [12].

## **IV. MODELING THE SERVER-SIDE**

E-Commerce sites, especially those of the leading Internet retailers, have multi-tier hardware architecture, consisting of multiple servers, distributed throughout two or more LAN segments. In such a way, the site's architecture becomes more scalable, more flexible, more reliable and highly available [13]. We have modelled the e-Commerce server-side on a system level, not on a component level, as a set of resources, each having a queue with an infinite capacity. We keep in mind the simplest possible 2-tier hardware architecture of a medium-to-large scale e-Commerce system, consisting of a Front-End Server (FES), a Web Server (WS), a Database Server (DbS), an Application Server (ApS) and an Authentication Server (AuS), distributed into two high-speed LAN segments (Fig. 3). Each HTTP request may need several operations, i.e. types of processing by some of the back-end servers, before completing. Moreover, a request may have to be processed more than once in a particular back-end server. Fig. 4 depicts the typical Client-Server Interaction Diagram (CSID) for the 'Search' HTTP request [14]. Table II shows which sequence of servers is being activated for each request type [15].



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of e-Commerce server-side hardware architecture



Fig. 4 CSID for the 'Search' e-Commerce function (Source: Menascé & Almeida [14])

TABLE II A Sequence of Back-End Servers Addressed, for Each Specific HTTP Request's Type

| Type of request | Back-end servers addressed |
|-----------------|----------------------------|
| Search          | WS, ApS, DbS, ApS, WS      |
| Browse          | WS, DbS, WS                |
| Checkout        | WS, AuS, DbS, AuS, WS      |

Table III summarizes the different back-end servers [15], along with the mean processing time [ms] and supposed standard deviation ( $\sigma$ ). We assume that the processing time has a Normal distribution and can vary up to  $\pm 10\%$  ( $\pm 3\sigma$ ) of its mean. In addition, the propagation time (transmission delay) via Internet WANs has been modeled as a random variable with a Normal distribution and parameters N( $\mu = 0.5$  [s];  $\sigma = 0.133333$  [s]), which yields 99.73% of the values within the interval [0.1, ..., 0.9] [s]. At the server-side, the transmission delays between the servers have been neglected, due to the usage of high-speed LAN segments, as well as the propagation times in routers and firewalls.

TABLE III Servers' Stochastic Processing Time Parameters

| Server                      | Mean processing time<br>[ms] | Standard deviation<br>[ms] | Range of values<br>[ms] |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| Front-End Server (FES)      | 1.0                          | 3.33333E-05                | [0.9,, 1.1]             |
| Web Server (WS)             | 10.0                         | 3.33333E-04                | [9.0,, 11.0]            |
| Database Server (DbS)       | 5.0                          | 1.66666E-04                | [4.5,, 5.5]             |
| Application Server (ApS)    | 10.0                         | 3.33333E-04                | [9.0,, 11.0]            |
| Authentication Server (AuS) | 10.0                         | 3.33333E-04                | [9.0,, 11.0]            |

## **V. SIMULATION RESULTS**

For each of the specified scenarios, a series of simulation runs have been carried out in order to estimate the values of various performance metrics, as a function of the arrival rates of e-Customers, ranging within the interval [0.0, ..., 30.0] [s<sup>-1</sup>] with a step of 0.5. Each run took into account a time window of 7200 seconds, or 2 hours of simulated time, long enough to get steady-state values of the estimated parameters. The response time is one of the most known and frequently used server-side performance metrics, which is of a vital interest to e-Customers. The average response time as a function of the e-Customer's arrival rate is given on Fig. 5a, for the three operating scenarios. As expected, Fig. 5a shows that the operating scenario  $S_1$  generates a workload intensity that puts the biggest service demand on the Web site's infrastructure, since Frequent Shoppers are presented with 60%. Consequently, this means more repeated invocation of 'Add-to-Cart' and 'Checkout' functions, which pose greater number of HTTP requests to servers, especially to the Web server, queuing them to wait (Fig. 5b), thus resulting in bigger overall processing delays, decreased throughput (Fig. 5c) and decreased utilization (Fig. 5d). The estimated critical values of e-Customer's arrival rates for which the average response time reaches the 'psychological' threshold of 4.0 seconds for all three scenarios, have been obtained by using linear interpolation method, and they are, respectively,  $\lambda_{S1} = 14.78$ ;  $\lambda_{S2} = 19.81$ ; and  $\lambda_{S3} = 24.28$ . The Web site's management strive is to retain at least those values, or, in the best case, to try to push them towards bigger ones, i.e. towards the right end of the axis, although during burst periods, e.g. holiday seasons, one can expect even higher percentage of Frequent Shoppers and consequently, a decrease of the critical values of arrival rates. To achieve this goal, relevant horizontal/vertical/diagonal scaling techniques of e-Commerce Web hardware infrastructure have to be applied on systems' component(s) that represent a bottleneck in the whole system, especially the Web server (WS). Regarding the experienced response time (RT), e-Customers have been categorized into three disjoint groups, including those experiencing a RT less than 2.0 seconds, e-Customers experiencing a RT between 2.0 and 4.0 seconds, and e-Customers experiencing a RT more than 4.0 seconds. The percentage of 'unhappy' e-Customers, i.e. those experiencing a RT lasting for more than 4.0 seconds, is increasing with the e-Customers' arrival rate, for all three operating scenarios. For instance, for a fixed  $\lambda = 20$  [e-Customers/s], the percentage of unhappy e-Customers is 98.69% (Scenario  $S_1$ ), 67.66% (Scenario  $S_2$ ) and 0.00% (Scenario  $S_3$ ).



(a) Average response time vs. e-Customer's arrival rate



(b) The dynamics of Web server's queue length over time (Scenario  $S_1$ ;  $\lambda_{S1} = 14.78$ )



(c) Throughput of various server-side systems vs. e-Customers' arrival rate (Scenario  $S_1$ )





At client-side, besides numerous performance metrics that have been obtained, we first give those that can be also computed using the corresponding CBMG [4] [5] (Table IV):

- PM1: the average number of visits to each state, per session;
- PM2: steady-state probabilities of being in each state (except the 'Add-to-Cart' state);
- PM3: the percentage of customers that have left the site after having added at least one item into their shopping cart;
- PM4: the average session length [s];
- PM5: the 'Buy-to-Visit' ratio, showing how many sessions out of the total number have terminated with buying something.

We have also obtained the performance indicators, sublimed in Table V, including:

- PM6: the average sojourn time [s] spent in each state, per session;
- PM7: the percentage of sessions that have ended with an empty shopping cart;
- PM8: the average number of HTTP requests generated, per session;
- PM9: the percentage of e-Customers' sessions completed regularly;
- PM10/PM11: the average number of items being put in the shopping cart per session, both being paid for (PM10) and not being paid for (PM11). These performance measures can be used for estimating specific, business-oriented performance metrics, like *revenue throughput* [€/s] and *potential loss throughput* [€/s] [5].

## TABLE IV

CLIENT-SIDE PERFORMANCE METRICS THAT CAN BE ALSO DERIVED DIRECTLY FROM THE CBMG

|      | Performance metrics | Scenario #1 | Scenario #2 | Scenario #3 |
|------|---------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------|
|      | 'Browse'            | 0,84909     | 0,74141     | 0,68267     |
| DM 1 | 'Search'            | 0,84773     | 0,74106     | 0,68317     |
| PMI  | 'Add-to-Cart'       | 1,03331     | 0,62983     | 0,41752     |
|      | 'Checkout'          | 0,50874     | 0,30612     | 0,20076     |
|      | 'Browse'            | 0.26869     | 0.31117     | 0.35036     |
| PM2  | 'Search'            | 0.26897     | 0.31242     | 0.35155     |
|      | 'Checkout'          | 0.46234     | 0.37641     | 0.29809     |
| PM3  |                     | ≅ 10.75%    | ≅ 8.93%     | ≅ 7.27%     |
| PM4  |                     | 189.4 [s]   | 142.6 [s]   | 116.3 [s]   |
| PM5  |                     | ≅ 0.5       | ≅ 0.3       | ≅ 0.2       |

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012

|      | ADDITIONA          | L CLIENT-SIDE FERFOR | MANCE METRICS |             |
|------|--------------------|----------------------|---------------|-------------|
| Р    | erformance metrics | Scenario #1          | Scenario #2   | Scenario #3 |
|      | 'Browse'           | 50.94720             | 44.54833      | 40.88380    |
| PM6  | 'Search'           | 50.89374             | 44.37167      | 40.74863    |
|      | 'Checkout'         | 87.58523             | 53.67539      | 34.66748    |
| PM7  |                    | 19.62%               | 40.62%        | 53.82%      |
| PM8  |                    | 3.20799              | 2.41300       | 1.976329    |
| PM9  |                    | 98.59%               | 98.85%        | 99.02%      |
| PM10 |                    | 0.863179             | 0.507155      | 0.321171    |
| PM11 |                    | 0.157805             | 0.120595      | 0.093406    |

TABLE V Additional Client-Side Performance Metrics

## **VI.** CONCLUSION

Discrete-event simulation by means of SimPy/Python code programming has proven to be an extremely powerful and flexible approach in modeling stochastic systems and/or processes like those already present with the contemporary e-Commerce paradigm. It allows one not only to assess a huge number of performance parameters that can be utilized for capacity planning, but also to experiment with various scenarios and hardware infrastructure's modalities, both on a system and component level. Still, the main obstacle with this approach is that it is both complex to implement and time-consuming. Regarding the substance in focus, the results obtained comply with those already given by Menascé & Almeida [4], whilst the DSPN model proposed by Mitrevski et al. [6] has proven to be a solid platform for capturing various e-Shoppers' behaviors. At server-side, future work includes performing a series of simulations in order to investigate the effects of a horizontal/vertical/diagonal scaling of the Web server, consideration of the availability and reliability (dependability) issues, and cost issues, as well. At client-side, future work includes verification of the performance metrics already obtained, both analytically/numerically, and by usage of dedicated software tools (TimeNET or DSPNExpress), and enrichment of the existing simulation model by including other general e-Commerce specific functions, in order to obtain more credible results. The simulation model can be also enhanced by introducing new classes of e-Customers, new performability metrics, as well as several other characteristic operating scenarios.

#### REFERENCES

- G. Charlton, "Eight Second Rule for e-Commerce Websites Now Halved", Econsultancy: Digital Marketers United<sup>™</sup>, 2006, http://econsultancy.com/uk/blog/500-eight-second-rule-for-e-commerce-websites-now-halved
- [2] J. A. Hoxmeier and C. DiCesare, "System Response Time and User Satisfaction: An Experimental Study of Browser-based Applications", in Proc. of AMCIS 2000, Paper 347, 2000, http://aisel.aisnet.org/amcis2000/347
- [3] A. B. King, Speed Up Your Site: Web Site Optimization, New Riders Press, Indianapolis, USA, 2003, pp. 3–26.
- [4] D. A. Menascé and V. A. F. Almeida, Capacity Planning for Web Services: Metrics, Models, and Methods, Prentice Hall PTR, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 2002.
- [5] D. A. Menascé and V. A. F. Almeida, Scaling for E-Business: Technologies, Models, Performance and Capacity Planning, Prentice Hall PTR, Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA, 2000.
- [6] P. Mitrevski, G. Mančeski, and M. Gušev, "A Framework for Performance Analysis of e-Business Applications", in Proc. of the 3<sup>rd</sup> Conf. on Informatics and Information Technology, Bitola, Macedonia, 2002, pp. 107–114.

- [7] SimPy Simulation Package, 2012, http://simpy.sourceforge.net
- [8] K. Müller and T. Vignaux, "SimPy: Simulating Systems in Python", O'Reilly<sup>®</sup> ONLamp.com Python DevCenter, 2003, http://onlamp.com/pub/a/python/2003/02/27/simpy.html
- [9] N. Matloff, "Introduction to Discrete-Event Simulation and the SimPy Language", 2008, http://heather.cs.ucdavis.edu/~matloff/156/PLN/DESimIntro.pdf
- [10] K. Markellos, P. Markellou, M. Rigou, and S. Sirmakessis, "Modeling the Behaviour of e-Customers", in Proc. of the PCHCI 2001 Panhellenic Conf. in Human-Computer Interaction, Patras, Greece, 2001, pp. 333–338.
- [11] V. Paxson and S. Floyd, "Wide Area Traffic: The Failure of Poisson Modeling", in IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking, Volume 3, Number 3, 1995, pp. 226–244.
- [12] G. Bolch, S. Greiner, H. de Meer, and K. S. Trivedi, Queueing Networks and Markov Chains: Modeling and Performance Evaluation with Computer Science Applications, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2006.
- [13] T. Schroeder, S. Goddard, and B. Ramamurthy, "Scalable Web Server Clustering Technologies", in IEEE Network, 2000, pp. 38–45.
- [14] D. A. Menascé and V. A. F. Almeida, "Challenges in Scaling e-Business Sites", in Proceedings of the 26<sup>th</sup> International Computer Measurement Group (CMG) Conference, Orlando, FL, USA, 2000, pp. 329–336.
- [15] M. Kihl, N. Widell, and C. Nyberg, "Performance Modeling of Distributed E-commerce Sites" in N. Widell, Performance of Distributed Information Systems, Lund University, Lund, Sweden, 2002, pp. 65–77.

# Remote Visualization of Finite Element Calculation Results in Vascular Interventions Decision Making

Milan R. Blagojević\*, Aleksandar V. Nikolić\*, Miroslav M. Živković\*, Milorad N. Živković\*\*, Goran R. Stanković\*\*, \* University of Kragujevac, Faculty of Engineering, Kragujevac, Serbia \*\* Belgrade University, School of Medicine, Belgrade, Serbia

**Abstract** — Paper presents an overview of software platform used by cardiologist in remote visualization of finite element calculation results in order to study of blood flow in human carotid arteries. Finite element solver PAK-F is used for the calculation of viscous fluid flow. Thus, governing equations of fluid flow are presented. The geometry of carotid artery bifurcation is obtained through the reconstruction based on images from Multi Slice Computed Tomography (MSCT). Simulation of blood flow through the carotid artery bifurcation is conducted on a realistic three-dimensional patient-specific geometry. Developed software platform is tool which can give useful on site inputs to cardiologists. They determines if some cardiac intervention is required and in which moment of plaque development.

Keywords — Remote visualization, FEM, artery bifurcation, decision making.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is one of the most widespread diseases that affecting blood vessels in the human body. Artery bifurcations are among the most frequent site affected by atherosclerosis, being involved in up to 20% of percutaneous interventions. Several studies on the distribution of atherosclerotic plaques in human arterial systems have shown that atherosclerosis occurs predominantly at certain location of the vascular tree where the arteries have relatively complex geometry that result in disturbed blood flow behavior. In these regions, complex hemodynamic conditions dictate the localization and progression of atheroma.

The studies [1-4] show those very responsible flow-related hemodynamic factors affecting the distribution of atherosclerosis are low or reversed wall shear stress. Computational fluid dynamics (CFD) is an area of fluid dynamics that can be applied to study the hemodynamic factors in human body.

Over the years, mathematical modeling, has established as a complementary to experimental approach in investigating clinical problems as well as predicting the biomechanical behavior. The results of the finite element models may be trusted if they take into account all impacts, including the actual geometry of the domain. In other words, anthropometric variability of size and shape should not be neglected.

## **II. METHODS**

## A. Basic equations of incompressible viscous fluid flow

Differential equations that govern the blood flow [5-7] are the Navier-Stokes equation. Essentially, Navier-Stokes equation represents the second Newton's law applied to the mass of fluid in control volume. This set of equations is expanded with continuity equation of fluid flow.

Using Galerkin method, with appropriate interpolation functions and integration by volume of finite element, a matrix form of previous equations is obtained:

$$\mathbf{M}\,\mathbf{V} + \mathbf{K}_{\nu\nu}\mathbf{V} + \mathbf{K}_{\mu\rho}\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{F}_{\nu} \tag{1}$$

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{m}}^{T}\mathbf{V}=\mathbf{0}$$
(2)

Components of this matrix and vectors are:

$$\overline{\mathbf{M}}_{U} = \rho \int_{V} \mathbf{h}_{I} \mathbf{h}_{J} dV \tag{3}$$

$$\left(\overline{\mathbf{K}}_{vv}\right)_{U} = \int_{V} h_{i} v_{j} h_{j,j} dV + \int_{V} \mu h_{i,j} h_{j,j} dV$$
(4)

$$\left(\mathbf{K}_{vpi}\right)_{IJ} = -\int_{V} h_{I,i} \hat{h}_{J} dV$$
(5)

$$\left(\mathbf{F}_{vi}\right)_{I} = \int_{V} h_{I} f_{i}^{V} dV + \int_{S} h_{I} \left(-p \delta_{ij} + \mu v_{i,j}\right) n_{j} dS$$

$$\tag{6}$$

By grouping equations (1) and (2), system of differential equations is presented as:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{M} & \mathbf{0} \\ \mathbf{0} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix} \begin{vmatrix} \mathbf{\dot{V}} \\ \mathbf{\dot{P}} \end{vmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{K}_{vv} & \mathbf{K}_{vp} \\ \mathbf{K}_{vp}^{T} & \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{V} \\ \mathbf{P} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{F}_{v} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(7)

The system of equations (7) is a symmetrical system of nonlinear differential equations of first order by unknown values in nodes **V** and **P**. The matrix  $\mathbf{K}_{_{VV}}$  (4) is nonlinear, since it depends on velocity.

Wall shear stress is a hemodynamic factor which has great importance to study the problem of blood flow. Wall shear stress is calculated using equation:

$$\mathbf{\tau}_{w} = -\mu \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}_{t}}{\partial \mathbf{n}} \bigg|_{wall} \tag{8}$$

where  $\mathbf{\tau}_{w}$  is wall shear stress,  $\mathbf{u}_{r}$  is tangential velocity and  $\mathbf{n}$  is the direction of a unit vector normal to the wall at the moment.

#### B. In-house software PAK-F

The in-house software package PAK-F [8] is developed by Laboratory for Engineering Software (University of Kragujevac, Faculty of Engineering, Kragujevac). It consists of modules for steady and transient incompressible fluid flow with heat transfer and is based on finite element method and the fundamental equations of viscous fluid flow.

The main program loops per time steps. Within this loop there is loop per iterations. Solving nonlinear equations of fluid flow (7) is performed iteratively. The size of unbalanced loads is determined in current iteration and corresponds to the increments of speed and pressure. This procedure continues until convergence criteria are not satisfied or until corresponding increments of displacements and pressures are not become enough small.

Results obtained by PAK-F are written in \*. vtk file for post-process in software Paraview

# [9], as described in [10].

## C. Mesh generation

To apply the methodology of calculating the fluid flow hemodynamic parameters (blood) to the human's bifurcations, it is necessary to make a realistic patient-specific model. A schematic model of the carotid bifurcation is shown in Fig. 1. In order to create an analysis file for software PAK-F, it is necessary to create finite element model. Reconstruction of the geometry of blood vessels is conducted in the software Mimics, based on MSCT images of patient provided by Clinical Centre of Serbia (Belgrade). Multiblock approach is used in mesh generation [11]. Blocks are created by in-house software STL2BLOCK. Based on blocks, quadratic eight-node isoparametric elements are generated in IA-FEMesh [12] (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1 Schematic model of carotid artery bifurcation



Fig. 2 FEM model of carotid artery bifurcation

The calculation was performed in 30 steps (10 by 0.02s and 20 by 0.03s which gives in total 0.8s). The average flow velocity in the inlet is measured for each observed patient. Density of

blood and coefficient of dynamic viscosity are adopted according to [13-16].

## D. Remote Visualization with ParaView

ParaView is an open-source, multi-platform client-server data analysis and visualization application. ParaView is developed to analyze extremely large datasets using distributed memory computing resources. The ParaView client runs on office computer (Clinical Centre of Serbia, Belgrade) while the server runs at the remote computing site (Laboratory for Engineering Software, Kragujevac), Fig. 3. Running ParaView remotely in a client-server configuration may involves establishing an ssh tunnel to the login node, launching the ParaView server, connecting the server to the client over. The following text describes the steps to install ParaView on desktop and configure it to launch remote jobs within the ParaView GUI [9].



Fig. 3 Calculation data remote visualization in Paraview via Internet

The first step is to install ParaView. Version 3.14.1 is currently the recommended version [9]. The ParaView client is a serial application and is always run with the *paraview* command. The ParaView server is enabled with the *pvserver* command. For new server configuration ParaView will run an external command to start the server. The external command will be run using exec() (Posix systems) or CreateProcess() (Win32), so shell-specific functionality such as redirection or "&" cannot be used. A set of predefined and user-defined environment variables are used to communicate connection parameters.

To simplify the user experience, predefined ParaView server configurations for users from Clinical Center of Serbia is provided. This is performed with an external XML file. This page defines an XML schema for storing server configurations that is based on the existing functionality. Meaning of tags in xml file is given in the following text [9].

The <Servers> tag is the root element of the document, which contains zero-to-many <Server> tags. Each <Server> tag represents a configured server:

- a) The "name" attribute uniquely identifies the server configuration, and is displayed in the user interface.
- b) The "resource" attribute specifies the type of server connection, server host(s) and optional port(s) for making a connection. Value is **cs://ccs\_server** for client-pvserver configurations with forward connection i.e. client connects to the server.

The <CommandStartup> tag is used to run an external command to start a server. An optional <Options> tag can be used to prompt the user for options required at startup. Each <Option> tag represents an option that the user will be prompted to modify before startup.

- a) The "name" attribute defines the name of the option, which will become its variable name when used as a run-time environment variable, and for purposes of string-substitution in <Argument> tags.
- a) The "label" attribute defines a human-readable label for the option, which will be used in the user interface.
- b) The optional "readonly" attribute can be used to designate options which are uservisible, but cannot be modified.
- c) The optional "save" attribute can be used to indicate that the value choosen by the user for this option will be saved in the registry so that it's preserved across ParaView sessions.
- d) A <Range> tag designates a numeric option that is only valid over a range of values. The "type" attribute controls the type of number controlled. Valid values are "int" for integers and "double" for floating-point numbers, respectively. The "min" and "max" attributes specify the minimum and maximum allowable values for the option (inclusive). The "step" attribute specifies the preferred amount to increment / decrement values in the user interface. The "default" attribute specifies the initial value of the option. As a special-case for integer ranges, a default value of "random" will generate a random number as the default each time the user is prompted for a value.
- e) A <String> tag designates an option that accepts freeform text as its value. The "default" attribute specifies the initial value of the option.
- f) A <File> tag designates an option that accepts freeform text along with a file browse button to assist in choosing a filepath. The "default" attribute specifies the initial value of the option.
- g) A <Boolean> tag designates an option that is either on/off or true/false. The "true" attribute specifies what the option value will be if enabled by the user. The "false" attribute specifies what the option value will be if disabled by the user. The "default" attribute specifies the initial value of the option, either "true" or "false".
- h) An <Enumeration> tag designates an option that can be one of a finite set of values. The "default" attribute specifies the initial value of the option, which must be one of its enumerated values. Each <Entry> tag describes one allowed value. The "name" tag specifies the value for that choice. The "label" tag provides human-readable text that will be displayed in the user interface for that choice.
- A <Command> tag is used to specify the external command and its startup arguments.
- a) The "exec" attribute specifies the filename of the command to be run. The system PATH will be used to search for the command, unless an absolute path is specified. If the value for this attribute is specified as \$STRING\$, then it will be replaced with the value of a predefined or user-defined (through <Option/>) variable.
- b) The "timeout" attribute specifies the maximum amount of time (in seconds) that the client will wait for the server to start.
- c) The "delay" attribute specifies a delay (in seconds) between the time the startup command completes and the time that the client attempts a connection to the server.

d) <Argument> tags are command-line arguments that will be passed to the startup command. String substitution is performed on each argument, replacing each \$STRING\$ with the value of a predefined or user-defined variable. Arguments whose value is an empty string are not passed to the startup command.

The <ManualStartup> tag indicates that the user will manually start the given server prior to connecting. An optional <Options> tag can be used to prompt the user for options required at startup. PV\_SERVER\_PORT, PV\_DATA\_SERVER\_PORT, PV\_RENDER\_SREVER\_PORT, and PV\_CONNECT\_ID are the variables that make sense in this context.

Configuration file is saved on location depending on operating system. Configuration interface for connecting with server is shown in Fig. 4.

| Choose Server Configuration |      |                 |           | ? ×   |
|-----------------------------|------|-----------------|-----------|-------|
| Configuration               |      |                 | Server    |       |
| ClinicalCenterOfSerbia      |      | cs://ccs_server |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
|                             |      |                 |           |       |
| Add Server                  | Edit | Server          | Delete Se | rver  |
| Load Servers                | Save | Servers         | Fetch Ser | vers  |
|                             |      |                 | Connect   | Close |

Fig. 4 Configuration interface for connecting with server

## III. RESULTS

Graphical user interface of Paraview in remote visualization of calculation data example is shown in Fig. 5. With ParaView cardiologists can quickly build visualizations to analyze analyzing data using qualitative and quantitative techniques. The data exploration can be done interactively in 3D or programmatically using ParaView's batch processing capabilities. In this way, doctors can have the full advantage of using a shared remote high-performance rendering without leaving their offices.

Velocity field along a streamlines in steps 1, 3 and 5 are shown in Figures 6, 7 and 8, respectively [17-18]. Fluid velocity is changed depending on the region that is being observed on carotid artery bifurcation. On the internal carotid artery (ICA) there is a narrowing of blood vessels which leads to increased blood flow velocity.

Wall shear stress in the 5<sup>th</sup> step of cardiac cycle is shown in Fig. 9. There is maximum value

of wall shear stress at peak systolic flow. On the external carotid artery (ECA), where cross section is bigger and flow velocity is smaller, there are low values of wall shear stress. In areas where wall shear stress has small values, there is possibility for the occurrence of atherosclerosis.



Fig. 5 Paraview GIU in remote visualization of calculation data example



Fig. 6 Velocity field in 1<sup>st</sup> step



Fig. 9 Wall shear stress in 5th step

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Provided case study illustrates the application of PAK-F in the study of hemodynamic characteristics of patient-specific carotid artery bifurcation. Calculation results are displayed client side (medics) by client-server application.

The combination of PAK-F with certain programs for pre-processing and post-processing gets a powerful tool in decision making. The previous considerations indicate that developed platform is software tool which can give useful inputs to cardiologists. They have clear view about insight of the blood flow through carotid artery bifurcation, so they can suggest surgical intervention or not.

Constriction problems of blood vessel can be successfully solved by installing the stents in positions with a possibility of total congestion of blood vessels. After placing the stent, blood vessel lumen and cross section is increased. Due to the rapid creating the model, calculation, and the presentation to cardiologists, approximate analysis of the coarse models may be conducted at each physical of individual patient. In this way it is possible to monitor the patient and determine the optimal moment in time of plaque development for stenting.

The ongoing research is oriented to the upgrade of software that will give a platform for coronary arteries and heart malfunctioning simulation.

The large variety of hardware, operating systems, and MPI implementations makes installing precompiled binaries of parallel ParaView impossible. Thus, to use ParaView on a parallel server, user has to compile ParaView from source. The server is a parallel MPI program that must be launched as a parallel job. The most common way is to use the *mpirun* command.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The part of this research is supported by Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development, Republic of Serbia, Grants TR32036 and OI175082.

#### REFERENCES

- L. Goubergrits, K. Affeld, J. Fernandez-Brittoy, and L. Falcon, "Investigation of geometry and atherosclerosis in the human carotid bifurcations", Journal of Mechanics in Medicine and Biology, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 31-48, 2003
- [2] R. Reneman, T. Arts, and A. Hoeks, "Wall Shear Stress an Important Determinant of Endothelial Cell Function and Structure in the Arterial System in vivo", Journal of Vascular Research, Vol. 43, pp. 251–269, 2006
- [3] C. K. Zarins, D. P. Giddens, B. K. Bharadvaj, V. S. Sottiurai, R. F. Mabon, and S. Glagov, "Carotid bifurcation atherosclerosis. Quantitative correlation of plaque localization with flow velocity profiles and wall shear stress", Circulation Research, Vol. 53, pp. 502-514, 1983
- [4] K. Nguyen, C. Clarka, T. Chancellor, and D. Papavassiliou, "Carotid geometry effects on blood flow and on risk for vascular disease", Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 41, pp. 11–19, 2008
- [5] M. Kojić, M. Živković, R. Slavković, and N. Grujović, "Finite element method I Linear analysis (in Serbian)", Faculty of Mechanical Engineering of Kragujevac, Kragujevac, Serbia, 1998
- [6] K. J. Bathe, "Finite element procedures in engineering analysis", Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA, 1996
- [7] M. Kojić, N. Filipović, B. Stojanović, and N. Kojić, "Computer Modeling in Bioengineering", John Wiley & Sons Ltd, Chichester, England, 2008
- [8] M. Kojić, N. Filipović, M. Živković, R. Slavković, and N. Grujović, "PAK-F, Program for FE Analysis of Fluid Flow with Heat Transfer", User's Manual, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering of Kragujevac - Laboratory for Engineering Software, Kragujevac, Serbia, 1999
- [9] ParaView, http://paraview.org/
- [10] M. Blagojević, A. Nikolić, and M. Živković, "Visualization of field of fluid flow calculated by fem software PAK-F in post-processing software paraview", YU INFO 2012, Book of Abstracts, Kopaonik, Serbia, 2012
- [11] N. M. Grosland et al, "IA-FEMesh: An open-source, interactive, multiblock approach to musculoskeletal finite element model development", Computer Methods & Programs in Biomedicine, Vol. 94, No. 1, pp. 96-107, 2009
- [12] A. Shirsat, S. Gupta, and G. R. Shevare, "Generation of multi-block topology for discretization of threedimensional domains", Computers & Graphics, Vol. 23, pp. 45-57, 1999
- [13] K. Perktold, M. Resch, and O. Peter, "Three-dimensional numerical analysis of pulsatile flow and wall shear stress in the carotid artery bifurcation model", Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 24, pp. 409-420, 1991
- [14] K. Perktold, M. Resch, and H. Florian, "Pulsatile non-Newtonian flow characteristics in a tree-dimensional human carotid bifurcation model", Journal of Biomechanical Engineering, Vol. 113, pp. 464-475, 1991
- [15] S. Z. Zhao, B. Ariff, Q. Long, A. D. Hughes, S. A. Thom, A. V. Stanton, and X. Y. Xu, "Inter-individual variations in wall shear stress and mechanical stress distributions at the carotid artery bifurcation of healthy humans", Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 35, pp. 1367–1377, 2002
- [16] J. Soulis, T. Farmakis, G. Giannoglou, and G. Louridas, "Wall shear stress in normal left coronary artery tree", Journal of Biomechanics, Vol. 39, pp. 742–749, 2006
- [17] M. Blagojević, A. Nikolić, M. Živković, M. Živković, and G. Stanković, "Influence of blocks' topologies on endothelial shear stress observed in CFD analysis of artery bifurcation", Acta of Bioengineering and Biomechanics, Vol. 15, No 1, ISSN 1509-409X, 2013
- [18] M. Blagojević, A. Nikolić, M. Živković, M. Živković, and G. Stanković, "A Novel Framework for Fluid/Structure Interaction in Rapid Subject-specific Simulations of Blood Flow in Coronary Artery Bifurcations", Vojnosanitetski pregled, Accepted for publication, ISSN 0042-8450, 2013

# Use of information technology in hydrological analysis

M. Stojkovic, N. Milivojevic, Z. Stojanovic "Jaroslav Cerni" Institute for Development of Water Resources, Belgrade, Serbia

**Abstract** - Present paper demonstrates the use of information technology in hydrological analyses. A model of the catchment area of River Banjska was made using graph theory and digital terrain model. SQL query was used for searching data in tables, in order to perform hydrologic analysis of digital terrain models of River Banjska basin. The aim of this paper is to demonstrate the practical value of the developed model in future hydrological analyses.

Keywords— Hydroinformatic, digital terrain model, directed graph

### I. INTRODUCTION

Hydroinformatics is a scientific discipline that, in a narrow sense, covers and connects digital terrain models, computational geometry, relational databases, database browsing and graph theory. In a broader sense, hydroinformatics also covers hydrological models that use the physical representation of hydrologic processes.

Graph theory defines computer presentation of graphs, as well as the graph browsing algorithms. The directed graph presented in this paper has been constructed in order to represent River Banjska hydrographic network. This graph will further be used for the analysis of water management in this basin.

For this purpose has been used the digital terrain model of the basin of River Banjska, tributary to River Juzna Morava. Digital Elevation Model (DEM) has a regular structure of a 25 x 25 m square grid. It served as the basis for hydrological processing by ArcHydro software, developed by the Center for Research in Water Resources of the University of Texas. DEM analysis is a preprocessing procedure that involves elimination of all irregularities arising from imperfections of the digital elevation model creation. Processing procedure defines flow direction (Flow Direction method) on all DEM segments and water accumulation (Flow Accumulation method) based on flow direction on each of the grid squares (using Flow Direction method). Results have been used to obtain flow definition (Stream Definition method) and basin delineation at all points of connection of river network, as well as at the basin exit.

Hydraulic junctions (Hydro Junctions object) and river sections (Hydro Edges objects) have been defined in the later stages and they have been recorded in .mdb database tables, attributes of which include geometry data (shape: Point, shape: Line and shape: Polygon). This concept is called the Object Relational Database. Tables of this database are connected through key fields and external fields. Database browsing has been implemented by means of the standard query language – SQL.

#### **II. GRAPH THEORY**

A graph G=(V,E) is made of the collection of nodes V and the collection of edges E. Edges represent relations between the nodes and they correspond to pairs of nodes. Graph can be

directed, if the branches are organized pairs, or undirected, if the branches are not organized pairs [1]. Graph can be cyclic, or acyclic, representing nodes and links in hydrotechnics.

A simple graph is a graph with no parallel and cyclic junctions, where parallel junctions are the junctions with double connection to two same nodes, while cyclic junctions connect one node within a graph with itself. The edges in a simple graph are unique links, where E=(i,j)=(j,i) applies to all edges.

A complete graph is a simple graph with the maximum number of junctions [1]. The highest possible number of junctions is  $NC^2$ , where NC is the number of sets of nodes. If cyclic junctions (NC) are excluded and the remainder is divided by two (as  $NC^2$  is obtained by taking each junction twice), the total number of links of a complete graph is  $NC \cdot (NC-1)/2$ .

If graph nodes represent specific objects in space, then they belong to the Euclidean graph. Planar graph is the Euclidian graph whereby the edges represented in a plane have no intersections [5]. If a graph does not include rings (cyclic junctions) and provided that the number of edges in a graph equals the number of nodes minus one, if there is only one edge connecting two nodes and if any of the junctions of the graph is omitted, then the graph is called the Tree (branch network).

One of more significant problems in graph theory is the subject of the Minimum Spanning Tree. The minimum spanning tree is a subgraph that includes all graph nodes with the minimum sum length of edges [6]. Thus, the minimum spanning tree is a Tree, i.e. a graph with a branch network. If there is an undirected weight graph, the minimum spanning tree is the tree, the edges of which have the smallest sum of weights. Sum weight of edges is often called the cost of the tree, due to the application of this concept in industry. It is important to note that such trees need not to be unique to a certain graph, that is, there can be several minimum trees with the same "cost" of tree for the same graph.

The hydrographic network is graph directed in an acyclic way, where the edges are presented as the organized pairs of nodes and where the rule  $(i,j) \neq (j,i)$  applies. When each of the edges memorizes an attribute associated with the specific object (for example, the length of the river section), then this graph becomes a weight graph.

Acyclic directed graphs have a linear branched structure. If the direction of edges is known, the nodes can be used in order to arrive from one end of the graph to another. Unlike the acyclic ones, cyclic graphs define circular (cycled) arrangement of nodes and edges.

Topologic sorting of the directed acyclic graph G=(V, E) is a linear organization of all nodes, whereby if the graph G has branch (u, v), then the node u is located before node v in the resulting series of nodes [6]. If the graph is not acyclic, topologic sorting is not possible. Directed acyclic graph is frequently used to present the connections between events. Branch (u, v) means that the event *u* must end before the execution of the event *v* starts.

Topologic sorting may be used for identification of the shortest (or the only possible) routes from all nodes to the exit node. This is very important in hydroinformatics, as topologic sorting of hydronodes defines the direction of the graph, i.e. the direction of water movement along the hydrographic network.

A directed graph has been formed between the nodes and edges in River Banjska basin. The set of river network nodes has been defined by the entity *HydroJunction*, while the set of edges has been presented by the entity *HydroEdge*. The entity *HydroEdge* is the link between the river network nodes, and, thus, each edge possesses data on its start and end nodes. By this method were formed two organized sets of nodes and edges. The entity *HydroJunction* is made

of nodes representing sources and confluences and the exit node located at the most downstream end of the hydrographic network ("Vranjska Banja" HS). A directed graph has been formed only from the nodes which have the basin that mouths to them – *confluence nodes and exit node*. Fig. 1 shows the directed graph of River Banjska up to the "Vranjska Banja" HS.



Fig. 1 Directed graph of River Banjska up to the "Vranjska Banja" HS with the connectivity list

## III. DIGITAL TERRAIN MODEL

Digital Elevation Model (DTM) is used for the representation of terrain's surface. Historically, the DTM model was developed at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1950 [2]. One of the DTM definitions reads: DTM is a numerical and mathematical terrain representation created by application of respective height and position measurements, densityand distribution-wise compatible with the terrain. Hence, the height of all points on the analyzed terrain can be automatically generated by interpolation, with the corresponding accuracy.

There are several methods of representation of terrain's surface. They are as follows [4]: DHT (Digital Height Model), DGM (Digital Ground Model) and DTED (Digital Terrain Elevation Data).

DTM structure can be regular or irregular. Regular structure represents a grid of rectangles, while the irregular one represents an arbitrary grid of triangles created on the basis of known point coordinates (x, y, z). Two types of digital models are the most frequent: the Grid structure and the TIN structure.

The size of the grid structure is affected by many morphological parameters, such as slope, river network density and curviness of the watercourse. In addition, the quality of the DEM is affected by geodetic maps that limit grid resolution. To select the optimal resolution DEM for hydrologic analysis, a sensitivity study of river networks for two small basins in the western part of United States [8] was performed. On this occasion, the authors have used field size grid structures in the range from 2 m to 90 m and formed the river. It was concluded that the optimum size of the grid structure in the basin was 10 m.



Fig. 2 Digital elevation model characterized by a 25 x 25 m square

Digital elevation model (DEM) of River Banjska was made using scanned analog topographic map with the 1:25000 scale (Fig. 2). For digitizing of contour lines in order to form a vector model were used geodetic maps. Conversion to raster format, which consists of regular grid structures, was performed. Equidistance contour was equal to e = 10 m and, because of this, the accuracy of DEM was e/3 = 3.33 m [2]. A digital elevation model with a regular 25 x 25 m grid structure was created. The choice of the size of the fields was affected by the lack of satellite images, which resulted in the use of topographic maps that are less accurate.

Digital elevation model of the River Banjska basin terrain was used for the hydrologic processing of the terrain (Fig. 2). Terrain processing has been performed by the ArcHydro software operating in the ArcGIS environment. Preprocessing has been performed using the DEM tools developed by the University of Texas (Austin).

An important step in the DEM processing was the embedding of the previously defined river network. This procedure helps to avoid the problem of water transition to other basins, as a consequence of inevitable errors made in the creation of the digital terrain model.

DEM processing involves computation of flow direction, water accumulation, definition of river network, segmentation of river course and delineation of the basin area. Segmented river course and known flow directions provide for the identification of the basin area.

#### A. Preprocessing

An important step in DEM preprocessing was a formation of the previously defined river network, which is embedded into DEM [3]. This procedure involves entering of the river network (.dwg) in the vector form, redrawn from the topographic map, and its conversion into the raster form. This raster is embedded into DEM in such a manner that the lowest points are corrected. After the embedding has been completed, the lowest DEM points should correspond to the entered river network.

This procedure helps to avoid the problem of water transition to another basin, than can occur as a consequence of inevitable errors made in the process of terrain digitalization.

#### **B.** Processing

DEM processing includes determination of flow direction for each square of the DEM grid, accumulation of grid of squares, what is conducted by means of predefined flow directions,

river network formation, river course segmentation and, as the final task, basin surface delineation.

Water flow direction has a twofold definition. In hydrology, it is a direction with the biggest terrain slope. In hydroinformatics, the terrain is divided by the grid of squares so that each square is surrounded by another eight squares [7]. Height differences between the central square and the other eight squares can then be calculated. Diagonal directions have longer water routes than those that are perpendicular, and, thus, the calculation of the central distances of diagonal squares requires multiplication by  $\sqrt{2}$ . Central distances used to calculate head and water flow will correspond to the direction of the biggest head of the heads calculated for the eight directions. Fig. 3 shows grid distribution of unit width, while the numbers in the grid are an indication of elevation.



Fig. 3 Illustration of flow direction, diagonal (A) and central (B)

Flow direction determination involved the use of the model with eight potential head directions from one square of the grid, four along perpendicular directions and four along interdirections [1]. Such a model of head determination is called D8. There is also a simplified model D4 that involves only main directions (north, west, south and east). Direction determination under the digital model starts from the most upstream to the most downstream grid square. The goal of head direction determination from the square grid in one DEM is the formation of a raster containing data on the total water accumulation in the basin (Fig. 4). Each square grid will be assigned a number representing how many upstream squares mouth into the subject square. Data on water accumulation in each of the grid segments are crucial for stream definition and catchment grid delineation.



Fig. 4 Square height (A), water flow direction (Flow Direction) in a single segment (B) and the entire basin area (C)

## C. Flow Accumulation

Square heights and flow directions as defined by the maximum head in the D8 model (Fig. 5A, B) are presented for a wider area. This method has been used to compute the flow directions for the 25 x 25 m square grid (Flow Direction) of the River Banjska basin up to the "Vranjska Banja" hydrologic station (Fig. 5C) [7]. Flow directions have been identified by different colors.



Fig. 5 Square By flow direction (A) and flow accumulation (B and C)

Based on predefined water flow directions one can determine Flow Accumulation for each square in the grid of squares [1]. The value of flow accumulation is equal to zero in the fields without inflow, i.e. in the edge fields. This value is different from zero in all other fields. The number of accumulated squares is determined separately for each grid square. For example, the central field of one DEM part in Fig. 5A has 11 accumulated squares and this is a sum of all upstream squares converging to the central one.

The water accumulation problem is resolved by application of acyclic graph theory. The result of this operation is a sum of upstream squares gravitating to the subject square. The query of the graph, i.e. the layer of water flow direction (Flow Direction), according to the mentioned criterion, is shown in Fig. 5B. The results arising from data on water accumulation are of fundamental importance for the further analyses.

Fig. 6 shows flow accumulation for the entire River Banjska basin. White color corresponds to the points of agglomeration of accumulated squares, while the white groups provide the image of the future hydrographic network.



Fig. 6 Flow accumulation in the River Banjska basin up to the "Vranjska Banja" HS

This figure provides a conclusion that the lighter colors corresponds to the valleys on the terrain. These points are the points of abrupt water accumulation along the slopes and, thus, the

number of squares that the water drains from is the highest at the exit from the basin, i.e. at the profile of the "Vranjska Banja" HS (174 942 squares).

## D. Formation of river network - Stream Definition

In order to form river network (Stream Definition), it is necessary to determine the number of accumulated squares in the entire basin area.

This requirement is applicable to the entire basin area and it is applied from the most upstream parts of the basin area towards the downstream parts [1]. Actually, stream definition formation may be defined as a query (SQL query) along the raster layer of the accumulated grid squares, the value of which is either higher or equal to the assigned initial requirement of the stream definition formation.

Fig. 7A shows the accumulated squares in one segment of the DEM, as a result of the analysis from the previous chapter (3.2.2). If the preset criterion is to form the flow by the accumulation of 5 grid squares, then this criterion for a 25 square grid is met with 4 grid squares highlighted in red (Fig. 7A). Connection of the squares results in the river course shown in red in Fig. 7B.



Fig. 7 Accumulation of grid squares and stream definition in the subject basin segment

The conclusion is that the resulting grid is obtained in the raster form and that the reduction of the criterion on the number of accumulated squares leads to an increase in the number of the squares in the raster and vice versa.

The criterion for the formation of river network in the River Banjska basin was that the river flow should be formed upon the basis of 1000 accumulated squares on a DEM grid. The formation procedure is iterative and, according to the preset criterion, the grid is drawn on the 1:25 000 scale topographic map. If the raster layer fits well to the hydrographic network on the topographic map, then the criterion for stream definition is considered met. Fig. 8 shows the raster representing the river network of River Banjska starting from the "Vranjska Banja" HS.



Fig. 8 Formation of the river flow (Stream Definition) on River Banjska starting from the "Vranjska Banja" HS

#### E. Stream Segmentation and Catchment Grid Delineation

In order to start with the catchment grid delineation, all segments of stream definition should be defined separately, i.e. it is necessary to perform the segmentation of the stream definition raster layer (Stream Segmentation). Segments are formed between the edge parts of the grid and the parts whereon the river network branches. This segmentation is shown in Fig. 9.



Fig. 9 Segmentation of the river network in a single basin segment

Fig. 9 shows six segments of river network. Definition edges, where basin delineation is performed, have been highlighted. The layer with accumulated grid squares, with predefined delineation points, was also used. Delineation is performed from the starting points of the river segments along the basin watersheds. Watersheds run along the points where the value of accumulated squares is equal to zero, while the squares of water flow directions correspond to different basins.

Fig. 10A shows all river flow segments in different colors - there are total of 49 of them up to the "Vranjska Banja" HS. Flow accumulation and stream segmentation layers have been used for the catchment grid delineation in the raster form. Catchment grids (49 of them in total) have been formed at the points of river flow junctions (Fig. 10B).



Fig. 10 Formation of river sections (Stream links) (A) and Catchment Grid Delineation (B)

Hydrologic analyses create a need for basin area merging because catchment grid delineation is usually performed at the points of hydrologic stations and water management objects. The raster that has defined the stream segmentation will have to be modified. Fig. 11 shows grouping of the river network into a single segment, while Fig. 9 shows one part of the river course with six segments.



Fig. 11 Stream segments merging into one part of the basin

Results of segment merging allow for catchment grid delineation to be performed only in the most downstream part of the segment.

#### F. Drainage Points and Lines

Delineation means the drawing of the catchments areas at the points of stream junctions and the points of water measurement stations and water management objects. Raster layer shown in Fig. 10B is used for the formation of catchment vector form, i.e. for raster vectorization. Catchments in the raster layer are the same as in the vector layer. The vector layer of the catchment contains data on the size and scope of the catchment, as well as the minimum and maximum elevation taken from the DEM.

Flow accumulation and stream links raster layers are used to generate the vector form of drainage line. This is the method used to form vector layer for each river network segment, attributes of which contain the data on the downstream drainage point.

Flow accumulation and catchment grid delineation layers are used to generate catchment drainage points. This is the method used to form one drainage point for each catchment exit, attributes of which contain data on the associated catchment. Fig. 12 shows the vector forms of catchment, drainage points and drainage lines of the catchment.



Fig. 12 Vector form of the catchment, drainage lines and drainage points of the catchment

Catchments, drainage points and drainage lines of the catchment are the spatial databases of complex structure – grids. Drainage points are the connection between the drainage lines and the catchment. Geometric data are recorded in the .mdb database supported by the MS Access software package. Basic geometric data are given in the attributes of the entities such as points, lines and polygons.

Each entity has attributes providing for its unambiguous identification. Such set of attributes is called the primary key. In order to form a link between the entities it is necessary to define external keys. The primary key of an entity is used to define the link to the external key of another entity. Entities may be assigned several primary and external keys. Each entity has attributes providing for its unambiguous identification. Such set of attributes is called the primary key. In order to form a link between the entities it is necessary to define external keys. The primary key of an entity is used to define the link to the external keys. The primary key of an entity is used to define the link to the external key of another entity. Entities may be assigned several primary and external keys.

Drainage points have the following attributes:

- 1) GridID primary key used to create a link between Catchment and Drainage Point entities and
- 2) DrainID external key used to make a link to a Drainage Line entity.

Drainage Line has the following attributes:

- 1) DrainID primary key and
- 2) Shape\_Length drainage line length (m).

## Catchments have the following attributes:

- 1) HydroID primary key,
- 2) GridID external key used to make a link to a Drainage Point entity,
- 3) Min\_Elev the minimum elevation in the catchment (m a.s.l.),
- 4) Max\_Elev the maximum elevation in the catchment (m a.s.l.),
- 5) Shape\_Length catchment perimeter (m) and
- 6) Shape\_Area catchment area  $(m^2)$ .

## **G. Hydronodes and Stream Segments**

Hydronodes and stream segments are formed on the basis of Drainage Line, Drainage Point and Catchment entities. The processing of the aforementioned entities results in two new entities - Hydro Edge and Hydro Junction. By means of the external key, tables are connected to the layers they have been formed from.

As opposed to Drainage Point entity, Hydro Junction layer is located at the point of flow origination, at the confluences and catchment exits. In this case, catchment exit is the "Vranjska Banja" hydrologic station. Drainage Point entities occur at the confluences as individual drainage points of each of the catchments, while Hydro Junction represents a unique exit from both catchments located immediately after their confluence.

Hydro Edge represents a polyline connecting two nodes (Hydro Junction) in the stream. This layer is in geometric terms identical to the Drainage Line layer and their difference is reflected in the points they connect and, as such, their attributes differ.

The set of Hydro Edge connections (attributes FROM\_JUNC and TO\_JUNC) and Hydro Junction points (attributes HydroID) is actually a definition of the directed acyclic graph, G=(E, V). Hydro Junction is a set of nodes organized through HydroID attributes, while Hydro Edge is the set of edges that are actually connected by the Hydro Junction set of nodes. Attributes of the connection with nodes are FROM\_JUNC and TO\_JUNC. Fig. 13 shows the connections of DrainPoint, DrainLine, Catchment, HydroEdge and HydroJunction entities.



Fig. 13 Connections of DrainPoint, DrainLine, Catchment, HydroEdge and HydroJunction entities

#### **IV. CONCLUSION**

Present paper explains the basic forms of digital terrain models, as well as the advantages and disadvantages of each of the forms. Two types of regular structures have been defined, the Grid structure and QuadTree structure. Irregular triangulated grid of the terrain model has been also explained, as well as the methods and rules of its formation. The presented example has used the 25 m x 25 m regular quadratic structure of grid distribution of the River Banjska basin.

Hydrologic processing has been performed by means of the ArcHydro software operating in the ArcGIS environment. Preprocessing of DEM has been also performed and all irregularities created in digital terrain model formation have been eliminated. This has been the method to perform hydrographic network embedding in the DEM. In subsequent stages, flow directions and flow accumulations have been defined in DEM and the river network has been defined and stream segmentation has been performed. Based on stream segmentation, catchment delineation at the end of segments has been executed.

River network nodes and sections have been created and the key fields have been used to connect them to associated catchment. Catchment drainage points and drainage lines have been also formed. All are located in a relational .mdb database that provides for SQL queries.

#### REFERENCES

- M. Stanić, Lectures within the Master Curriculum on the subject of Hydroinformatics: "Databases, Spatial data, SQL, Computational geometry", Faculty of Civil Engineering, Belgrade, 2011.
- [2] D. Prodanović, Presentation: "LIDAR and SAR Digital Terrain Models", Faculty of Civil Engineering, Belgrade, 2009.
- [3] S. Neitsch, J. Arnold, J. Kiniry, J. Williams,"SWAT: Solar and water assistment tool 2009 Theoretical Documentation". Texas water resource Institute Technical report No. 406. Texas, 2011.
- [4] A. A. Rahman, "Digital Terrain Model Data Structures", Buletin UkUr, Jld. 5, No. 1, 1994.
- [5] M. Deliblašić, Graduation Thesis: "Analysis and Implementation of Graph-Related Algorithms", Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Belgrade, 2007.
- [6] I. Stanković, "Data Structures and Databases: Non-linear structures", Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, Niš, 2007.
- [7] D. Prodanović, M. Stanić, V. Milivojević, Z. Simić, M. Arsić, "DEM-Based GIS Algorithms for Automatic Creation of Hydrological Models Data", *Journal of the Serbian Society for Computational Mechanics*, JSSCM, Vol. 3, Number 1, Kragujevac, 2009.
- [8] J. Garbrecht, L. W. Martz, "Digital Elevation Model Issues In Water Resources Modeling", *Esri International user conference*, 1999.

# Energy-Efficiency Study of Power-Aware Software Applications

## M. Marcu

"Politehnica" University of Timisoara/Computer Science and Engineering Department, Timisoara, Romania

**Abstract** – Smartphone and tablet devices will blow past PC sales in a few years. Therefore in the near future most of today complex PC software solutions will switch to mobile implementations. However, the energy requirements of these software solutions surpass by far the energy storage capacities available with today battery technologies. Furthermore, modern power management mechanisms implemented by low power devices and mobile operating systems cannot support energy requirements of highly computational or communication intensive applications. Therefore, energy saving mechanisms implemented at the higher layers of the system are considered the next important step in the implementation of highly energy-efficient mobile solutions. The study presented by this paper discusses the options available to involve mobile applications in a so called holistic energy management solution.

Keywords-energy management, mobile applications, software, power-aware

## I. INTRODUCTION

In 2011 something profound has been observed on the ITC market, the smartphone sales overtook PC sales [1]. Following the current trends, the smartphone sales will soon dwarf PC sales (Fig. 1). On the other hand, tablets are still in the early penetration phase. But following the same trends presented by Business Insider (Fig. 1), they will soon reach the number of PC sold. In this context, the future of ITC is certainly going mobile, changing thus the way we interact each other, we are doing business or we entertain ourselves.



Fig. 1 Global units sold of PCs, smartphones and tablets [1]

Multiple factors contributed to the fast development of mobile devices and applications switch toward mobility:

- The increasing performance of the low power processing units and increasing their number and type within a single mobile device (multicore CPU, GPU).
- The increasing communication bandwidths and higher transfer rates of the wireless infrastructure together with a diversity of communication interfaces (WiFi, UMTS).
- The increasing capacity and speed of memory and storage.
- The increasing number of sensors and interfaces (GPS, NFC, accelerometer).



Fig. 2 Today power management efforts

These previous factors contributed also to development of various types of new mobile applications like: mobile games, mobile augmented reality, location and context aware services, etc. The new features built in mobile devices and their applications come with an increase of resources usage and energy consumption. The cost that devices have to pay for running such applications is the reduction of the battery lifetime and consequently the devices' autonomy. Therefore, prolonging the battery lifetime of mobile devices was one of the main research topics in mobile computing during the last decade.

Modern power management mechanisms implemented by mobile devices and operating systems cannot support energy requirements of today highly computational or communication intensive applications. Therefore, energy saving mechanisms involving the higher layers of mobile systems is considered the next important step in the implementation of highly energy-efficient mobile solutions. The study presented by this paper discusses the limitations of today power management strategies and the options available to involve mobile applications in a so called holistic energy management solution.

## **II. LIMITS OF LOW-LEVEL POWER MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES**

Various power management strategies have been proposed and implemented during the last years in order to reduce the power consumption of the battery powered devices. Power management strategies refer to the set of hardware mechanisms and software algorithms implemented by a computing system to control their power use. These strategies can be implemented at different abstraction layers of a computing system: physical and hardware level, operating system level, application level and user level (Fig. 2). Most of the nowadays efforts are directed to lower layers power saving strategies and higher layers are left behind (Fig. 2).

Power management is a multidisciplinary field that involves many aspects (i.e., energy, temperature, reliability, software), each of which is complex enough to merit a survey of its own. Unfortunately, despite considerable effort to prolong the battery lifetimes of mobile devices, there is no standard efficient solution established for all mobile applications and their hosting devices. This is mainly because the lower layer power management implementations faced their limitation on high-end smart mobile and tablet devices.

These limits are further described for the lower layers power management strategies (Fig. 2):

- Physical layer at this level we consider the efforts directed toward low power circuits design and new transistor technologies investigated to support low power circuits. In this category we include the transistor level power consumption reduction research effort.
- Hardware layer at this layer we consider the efforts directed to gate level, register transfer logic and system architecture level power consumption reduction. In this category we include power management mechanism like: DPM (Dynamic Power Management), DVFS (Dynamic Voltage and Frequency Scaling), Clock gating, Power gating, etc.
- Operating system layer at this layer we consider the efforts directed to operating system and device drivers power management. In this category we include the power management algorithms implemented by OS and device drivers.

The scaling process has been the main factor that drove the development of both highperformance and low-power integrated circuits. By reducing the transistor sizes either increasing performance at the same power consumption or the same performance at the lower power consumption can be achieved. But the limits for the processing frequency are already reached, demonstrated by the current development of multi- and many-cores CPUs. However, continuous technology scaling raises design challenges and concerns due to excessive power consumption [2]. Although switching energy per gate decreases with scaling, the power consumption of the whole device continue to increase due to the leakage current increase and larger number of switching elements [2]. Furthermore, power consumption of mobile devices must be kept under 3W due to the thermal dissipation problems, thus making power management efficiency even more compelling.

Dynamic power management (DPM) techniques have been proposed and implemented in order to mitigate power consumption increase of the computing systems. The DPM algorithms minimize power consumption by selectively placing the system's unused components in their specific low-power consuming states. The most used DPM algorithms are those based on a time-out strategy. Their disadvantage consists in unnecessary power consumption states during the wait time before entering a low-power consumption state. A second class of DPM algorithms is based on a prediction of system or component behavior for a future time period. In this case, a component will be placed in a low-power consumption state if it is not currently used and the module predicts another longer inactivity period. A false prediction will lead to an increased consumption and also will cause a performance drop. A third class of algorithms is that of random algorithms, which is based on distributions that reflect the component request activation time. These distributions are based on simulations or event monitoring in a system during a given period of time. The main challenge for DPM algorithms is to select the timing and power states for each component of the system. Higher-level applications can provide important knowledge to these algorithms in order to improve their overall efficiency. The knowledge on how available energy has to be used by the system and allocated by DPM algorithms increases from lower layers to upper layers of the system (Fig. 2). For example, a user application is the most able to say how long its tasks or threads will last and thus it can provide valuable information to DPM algorithms implemented by OS. Another example presented in [3] proposes to achieve wireless communication power saving through selectively choosing short periods of time to suspend communication, directly by user applications.

Dynamic Voltage-Frequency Scaling (DVFS), implemented by most available processors, is the most used method for energy consumption reduction while executing tasks with various performance requirements. DVFS saves energy by shifting between several levels of processor voltages and frequencies to execute tasks with the required or expected performance [4]. But, the existing power management mechanisms based on DVFS have several major limitations. The first one is that most of them still focus on the scheduler and rarely explore other opportunities for slack reclamation [4]. The second limitation is that they only use one frequency, from a discrete set of frequencies, to perform each task [4]. The third limitation is the variety of implementations on multi-core platforms: scaling every core, group of cores of the whole processor. And the last one is the hardware interconnection problems between blocks or cores running at different voltages and frequencies levels. The interconnection implies voltage shifters that introduce latencies and signal degradation. The knowledge available at the higher layers of the system is valuable to increase the efficiency of slack reclamation techniques of processors through efficient use of the generated tasks' slack times by an independent scheduler.



Fig. 3 Future trends of power management efforts

## III. STATE OF THE ART OF HIGH-LEVEL POWER MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

Considering the limitations of lower-level power management strategies, application-level energy efficiency mechanisms are considered the next important step in the evolution of highly power-efficient mobile systems. The final user is also an important element to be introduced within the energy efficiency and management cycle (Fig. 3). However the normal user lacks the basic understanding of the low-level power management mechanisms, even though he is the most able to choose how to consume the remaining energy within the battery. Therefore power management techniques should propagate to higher levels of the system, more specifically to the user applications level (Fig. 3).

Power management mechanisms implemented by today mobile devices provide poor API and services to higher layers of the system (Fig.2). OS usually provide APIs for battery status

access and power management. The first API provides user applications with the access to the energy level available in the battery. The second API provides a very limited set of functions and events for user applications to slightly control the power management features of the OS (e.g. prevent display standby activation). Future research directions on application-level power management include measurement and estimation models for energy consumption of software applications and development of energy-aware software applications. Energy consumption models estimate how much energy each application consumes apart from the total energy consumption of the device. The roles of the power-aware application models are first to make the applications aware of their own power consumption and to adapt themselves to reduce consumed power and second to promote and translate system's power management states and actions to the user in a user friendly way. This feature allows higher-level applications to make the users aware of application specific energy consumption aspects and allow users to actively interact with power management mechanisms in a much more effective and informed way.

Furthermore, the accelerated development of the smart devices failed to integrate the user in the decision process concerning the device's power management according to his/hers needs. We believe that it is important for future power management techniques to integrate the user preferences as part of the process. But the user has no capacity to understand and to comprise all aspects and elements of power management as implemented in today operating systems. Therefore power management techniques should propagate to higher levels of the system, more specifically to the user applications level in a user friendly manner.

During the last years several application-level power management solutions were proposed [5-9]. In [5] an energy-aware framework for dynamic software management of mobile systems was proposed. The authors have designed a user space module, separated of the operating system, which permits the QoS (Quality of Services) based adaptation implemented at the application level. The energy consumption of the mobile applications is computed using predefined software macro-models which are hard to be implemented in practice for different types of applications. Unlike the solution adopted in [5] we estimate online the power consumption of the applications by measuring the battery and system's components parameters. The framework proposed in [5] was validated using three applications: video player, speech recognizer, and voice-over-IP.

In [6] an energy optimization framework for software tasks is proposed. The work is focused on the optimization algorithm based on Markov decision process. The authors propose efficient techniques to solve the optimization problem based on dynamic programming and illustrate how it can be used in the context of realistic applications such as WiFi radio power optimization and email synchronization. Unlike the framework presented in [6] we consider monitoring and providing power consumption feedback to mobile applications.

In [7] a cross-layer framework for power management of mobile devices is presented. The proposed framework involves different layers of a mobile system, from device drivers to user applications. The main goal of the framework is to aggregate the QoS levels of applications and select the optimum component specific power management policies according with the power requirements of the running applications.

In [8] a user-centered energy-aware mobile operating system is presented. The proposed OS manages the hardware resources proactively allowing opportunistic access to external resources nearby. The work presented in [8] follow another approach, using an opportunistic access to computing resources available in nearby devices using local wireless interfaces and information about users' social networks.

E-society Journal: research and applications, Vol. 3, No. 2, December 2012



Fig. 4 Power reduction of video player adaption

The authors of [9] proposed and implemented a design framework called GreenRT, for developing power-aware soft real-time applications. They considered that the task in soft real-time applications must run quickly enough to meet the deadlines, but there is no extra benefit from running them faster than that so that the task finishes earlier. The energy could be saved if tasks are executed with a lower frequency clock in order to meet exactly their deadline, but not earlier than then their deadline. The framework [9] allows an application to monitor its progress and adjusts the processor frequency dynamically to finish its jobs in time. The framework is using the concept of DVFS. However the framework proposed by Chen et al. is not generic, it is highly dependent on the managed application.

### **IV. ENERGY-AWARE VIDEO PLAYER**

The energy-aware test application we implemented based on model proposed in [10] is a video rendering system for a mobile device, which was tested on Pocket PC LOOX T380 Fujitsu Siemens. The proposed application adapts itself dynamically to the energy consumption of the mobile device modifying some parameters, which change some characteristics of the video rendering, to ensure a power usage reduction.

The application was created in three stages: in the first stage the video rendering system was created, in the second stage the influence of some parameters of the system on the device's battery power level was studied and finally in the last stage the obtained results in the energy-aware video player application were applied. The energy adaptation algorithm obtained during the evaluation and calibration tests is further presented. The parameters of the system that were taken into account were: the frame rate, the dimensions of the rendering window and the rendering frequency. For each parameter we selected three adaption levels (Level 1 to Level 3). Each level has specific meaning for the three adaption parameters.

```
WHILE not exit condition
    READ battery status from framework
    IF (battery status <= 60%) AND (battery status > 50%)
        SET windows size to 0.66 of its original size
    ELSE IF (battery status <= 50%) AND (battery status > 40%)
        SET frame drop rate to 1/3
    ELSE IF (battery status <= 40%)
        SET frame display rate to 3
    END IF
END WHILE</pre>
```

When the device's battery level reaches the level of 60% from the total energy available when the battery is fully charged the parameter rendering window will be applied and the rendering window will be reduced by 1.5 from its initial dimensions. When the device's battery level reaches 50% the rendering window will be changed back to the initial dimensions and the frame rate will be multiplied by 3. After the device's battery level reaches 40% the parameter that ensures the best energy reduction will be applied, that is the rendering frequency. The frame rate will be established at the initial frame rate of the movie and the rendering frequency will be 3, indicating that only the frames from 3 to 3 seconds will be rendered. The parameter that ensures the best energy reduction is used last because when the battery's energy reaches a low level a better energy reduction is needed to ensure that the device will function a longer time. Power saving results only for software adaption are presented in Fig. 4.

## **V. CONCLUSION**

Modern power management mechanisms implemented by mobile devices and operating systems cannot support energy requirements of today highly computational or communication intensive applications. Therefore, energy saving mechanisms involving the higher layers of mobile systems is considered the next important step in the implementation of highly energy-efficient mobile solutions. The study presented by this paper discusses the limitations of today power management strategies and the options available to involve mobile applications in a so called holistic energy management solution.

#### REFERENCES

- H. Blodget, "State Of The Internet: 2012", Business Insider Market Report, http://www.businessinsider.com/state-of-internet-slides-2012-10?op=1, Oct. 2012.
- [2] S.C. Lin and K. Banerjee, "Cool Chips: Opportunities and Implications for Power and Thermal Management", IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 55, no. 1, Jan. 2008, pp. 245–255.
- [3] R. Kravets and P. Krishnan, "Application-driven power management for mobile communication", Wireless Networks Journal, Vol. 6, No. 4, 2000, pp. 263-273.
- [4] N. B. Rizvandia, J. Taheria, and A. Y. Zomayaa, "Some observations on optimal frequency selection in DVFSbased energy consumption minimization", Journal of Parallel and Distributed Computing, Vol. 71, No. 8, Aug. 2011, pp. 1154-1164.
- [5] Y. Fei, L. Zhong, and N. K. Jha, "An Energy-Aware Framework for Dynamic Software Management in Mobile Computing Systems", ACM Transactions on Embedded Computing Systems Journal, Vol. 7, Iss. 3, April 2008, pp. 27-58.
- [6] T. L. Cheung, K. Okamoto, F. Maker, X. Liu, and V. Akella, "Markov Decision Process Framework for Optimizing Software on Mobile Phones", Proceedings of the 7th ACM international conference on Embedded software (EMSOFT), 2009, New York, USA.
- [7] P. Bellasi, S. Bosisio, M. Carnevali, W. Fornaciari, and D. Siorpaes, "Constrained Power Management: Application to a Multimedia Mobile Platform", Proceedings of the Conference on Design, Automation and Test in Europe (DATE), 2010, Leuven, Belgium.
- [8] Narseo Vallina-Rodriguez and Jon Crowcroft, "ErdOS: Achieving Energy Savings in Mobile OS", Proceedings of the 6th ACM International Workshop on Mobility in the Evolving Internet Architecture (MobiArch), Jun. 2011, Bethesda, Maryland, USA.

- [9] B. Chen, W. P. Tu Ma, Y. Tan, A. Fedorova, G. Mori "GreenRT: A Framework for the Design of Power-Aware Soft Real-Time Applications", Workshop on the Interaction between Operating Systems and Computer Architecture (WIOSCA), 2008, Beijing, China.
- [10] M. Marcu and D. Tudor, "Execution Framework Model for Power-Aware Applications", 17th International Workshop on Thermal Investigations of Cs and Systems (THERMINIC), Nov. 2011, Paris, France